

UvA-DARE (Digital Academic Repository)

Polyomaviruses in blood donors

Detection, prevalence and blood safety

Kamminga, S.

Publication date 2022 Document Version Final published version

Link to publication

Citation for published version (APA):

Kamminga, S. (2022). *Polyomaviruses in blood donors: Detection, prevalence and blood safety*. [Thesis, externally prepared, Universiteit van Amsterdam].

General rights

It is not permitted to download or to forward/distribute the text or part of it without the consent of the author(s) and/or copyright holder(s), other than for strictly personal, individual use, unless the work is under an open content license (like Creative Commons).

Disclaimer/Complaints regulations

If you believe that digital publication of certain material infringes any of your rights or (privacy) interests, please let the Library know, stating your reasons. In case of a legitimate complaint, the Library will make the material inaccessible and/or remove it from the website. Please Ask the Library: https://uba.uva.nl/en/contact, or a letter to: Library of the University of Amsterdam, Secretariat, Singel 425, 1012 WP Amsterdam, The Netherlands. You will be contacted as soon as possible.

Polyomaviruses in blood donors

Detection, prevalence and blood safety



Polyomaviruses in blood donors

Detection, prevalence and blood safety

Sergio Kamminga

ISBN: 978-90-824257-3-4 Cover design: Linda T. Kamminga-Muijs Print & Layout: Ralph Boer

The research described in this thesis was conducted at the department Blood-borne infections of Sanquin Research, and at the department Medical Microbiology of the Leiden University Medical Center. The research in this thesis was funded by Sanquin Blood Supply Foundation, a not-for-profit organization. Printing of this thesis was financially supported by the Netherlands Society of Medical Microbiology (NVMM) and the Royal Netherlands Society for Microbiology (KNVM), the Leiden University Medical Center and Sanquin Research.

© All rights reserved. No part of this publication may be reproduced, in any form or by any means, without prior written permission from the author.

Polyomaviruses in blood donors Detection, prevalence and blood safety

ACADEMISCH PROEFSCHRIFT

ter verkrijging van de graad van doctor aan de Universiteit van Amsterdam op gezag van de Rector Magnificus prof. dr. ir. K.I.J. Maex ten overstaan van een door het College voor Promoties ingestelde commissie, in het openbaar te verdedigen in de Agnietenkapel op vrijdag 1 april 2022, te 16.00 uur

> door Sergio Kamminga geboren te Zoetermeer

Promotiecommissie

| Promotor: | prof. dr. H.L. Zaaijer | AMC-UvA |
|----------------|--|--|
| Copromotor: | dr. M.C.W. Feltkamp | Universiteit Leiden |
| Overige leden: | dr. J.L.A.N. Murk prof. dr. F.J. Bemelman prof. dr. C.A. Russell prof. dr. R.A.W. van Lier prof. dr. A.C.M. Kroes prof. dr. A.E. Gorbalenya | ETZ AMC-UvA AMC-UvA AMC-UvA Universiteit Leiden Universiteit Leiden |

Faculteit der Geneeskunde

Table of contents

| Chapter 1 | General introduction | 1 |
|-----------|---|-----|
| Chapter 2 | Development and evaluation of a broad bead-based multiplex immunoassay to measure IgG seroreactivity against human polyomaviruses | 15 |
| Chapter 3 | Seroprevalence of fourteen human polyomaviruses determined in blood donors | 33 |
| Chapter 4 | Prevalence of DNA of fourteen human polyomaviruses determined in blood donors | 47 |
| Chapter 5 | Translating genomic exploration of the family Polyomaviridae into confident polyomavirus detection | 63 |
| Chapter 6 | Transmission of JC and Human polyomavirus 9 after kidney transplantation: an exploratory serological cohort study | 89 |
| Chapter 7 | General discussion | 105 |
| Chapter 8 | Addendum | 111 |
| | Reference list | 113 |
| | List of co-authors / Author affiliations | 131 |
| | Summary | 133 |
| | Samenvatting | 136 |
| | Portfolio | 141 |
| | Curriculum vitae | 145 |
| | Dankwoord | 147 |



Chapter 1 General introduction

Blood safety

Many different blood safety measures are implemented in the Netherlands to prevent disease in recipients of blood products and components. These measures start with donor selection based on a physical check and risk assessment questionnaires, and ends with post-transfusion information, which means an infection is detected after a transfusion and triggers a lookback procedure to identify or prevent further infections. In between, there are many different steps to limit risks for a recipient, such as diversion bags against bacterial infection, serology and nucleic acid testing (NAT), leukodepletion and pathogen reduction (1).

The implementation of these methods (Figure 1) has led to a dramatic decrease in transfusion-transmitted infections (TTI). For example, the transfusion-associated hepatitis incidence, caused by hepatitis B virus (HBV) and hepatitis C virus (HCV), has dropped from 33% at the end of the 60's to virtually zero today (2). A similar trajectory was seen for human immunodeficiency virus (HIV), where identification of the virus and the availability of an anti-HIV test reduced the prevalence in blood donors from 0.04% to almost zero, with the exception of window period donations before the availability of NAT testing (2). Nevertheless, before HIV screening was available, approximately 90% of severe hemophiliacs, 74% of factor VIII deficient persons and 39% of factor IX deficient persons were anti-HIV positive, stressing the importance of adequate safeguards in the blood supply chain (2).

Currently all blood donors in the Netherlands are routinely screened using serologic tests for HBV, HCV, HIV1/2, and *Treponema Pallidum* and NAT for HBV, HCV, HIV1/2 and Hepatitis E virus (HEV)^(1,3). In addition, new donors are tested serologically for human T-lymphotropic virus 1/2. Furthermore, blood products and components tested for Parvovirus B19 are available for patients with a high risk for parvovirus related complications. On indication, additional tests are performed for cytomegalovirus, malaria or Q-fever (during an outbreak). Starting in May 2020, selected blood products (based on donor travel) will be screened with NAT for the presence of West-Nile virus (WNV). Between 2007 and 2017, application of these diagnostics in approximately 8.8 million blood donations identified 149 proven infections in repeat donors ⁽³⁾.

Immunocompromised recipients

The adequate screening of blood products and components is of special importance when these are transfused to immunocompromised recipients, such as solid organ transplant recipients and patients with neoplasms, including haemato-oncological diseases, which often occur in children (4). For example, platelets in the Netherlands are primarily administered to leukemia and lymphoma patients (5). These patients form a large part of the recipients of blood products and components (4,6) and are more susceptible for (fulminant) infection. In addition, the advent of monoclonal antibody therapy can lead to an acquired immunodeficiency and is accompanied by an increased susceptibility to infectious disease (7,8).

Special measures are currently in place to protect the immunocompromised patient population from complications due to transfusion transmitted infections. These opportunistic viruses can cause severe disease in the immunocompromised host. For example, Hepatitis E virus can cause severe hepatitis in immunocompromised patients (9) and cytomegalovirus disease is common among kidney transplant patients, even when using prophylactic treatments (10). NAT is used to detect Hepatitis E virus in blood donations and leukoreduction and/or serology tests are used to reduce chance of cytomegalovirus infection in immunocompromised recipients (11-13).



Figure 1. Screening tests routinely performed on blood donations in the Netherlands between 1970 until 2020.

Abbreviations: HBV: hepatitis B virus; HIV: human immunodeficiency virus; HCV: hepatitis C virus; HTLV: human T-cell lymphotropic virus; HEV: hepatitis E virus; WNV: West Nile virus; HBsAg: hepatitis B surface antigen; NAT: nucleic acid testing; anti-HBc: hepatitis B core-antigen antibody; TPHA: *Treponema pallidum* haemagglutination; anti-HIV: HIV antibody; anti-HCV: HCV antibody; anti-HTLV: HTLV antibody.

* HTLV testing switched from testing all donations to only donations from new donors in 2013.





A. Ludwik Gross was the first to discover a filterable agent capable of inducing parotid gland tumours in mice. **B.** One of the mice of Gross with parotid gland tumours. **C.** Sarah Stewart and **D.** Bernice Eddy who coined the term polyomavirus. Images reprinted with permission (15-17,20)

Similar to cytomegalovirus, human polyomaviruses can cause disease in immunocompromised patients. In the past 15 years, due to advancement of nucleic acid detection techniques, many new human polyomaviruses have been discovered (14). To what extent human polyomaviruses are present in Dutch blood donors and whether polyomaviruses are transfused through the blood supply chain is currently unknown. Because many recipients of blood products and components are immunocompromised, it is important to gain further understanding of these opportunistic pathogens in the blood supply chain.

A short history of polyomaviruses

The first polyomavirus was discovered in 1953 by Ludwik Gross (**Figure 2**) when he discovered that a preparation of filtered murine leukemia virus (MLV) was capable of not only inducing leukemia, but also parotid gland tumours (15), suggesting presence of a virus beside MLV. These findings would later be confirmed and expanded by Sarah Stewart and Bernice Eddy (**Figure 2**), who named the virus Stewart-Eddy(SE) polyomavirus, for its ability to induce many (poly-) tumours (-oma) and is an important milestone for the then fledgling field of oncogenic viruses (16,17). Bernice Eddy suggested that a similar virus could be found in monkey kidney cells, which were then used to produce polio vaccines (18). Her suspicion proved right, but between 1955 to 1963 tens of millions of Americans were already administered a poliovirus vaccine contaminated with Simian Virus 40 (SV40) polyomavirus (19) and caused serious public health concerns, since SV40 polyomavirus can induce tumours in rodents. Many cohort studies looked into a relationship between SV40 contaminated polio vaccine and cancer, but no association was ever found (19).

The first two polyomaviruses with humans as natural hosts were discovered simultaneously and independently in 1971 (21,22), called BK polyomavirus and JC polyomavirus, after the initials of the patients these were discovered in. BK polyomavirus was discovered in a kidney transplant patient with ureteric obstruction and JC polyomavirus in a Hodgkin's disease patient with progressive multifocal leuko-encephalopathy (PML). For decades, these were the only known HPyVs, however due to the advance of molecular biological techniques, many more have been found since 2007(14). This started with Karolinska Institute polyomavirus (KIPyV) and Washington University polyomavirus (WUPyV), both found in respiratory samples (23,24). In 2008, the Merkel Cell polyomavirus (MCPyV) was found out to be the cause of the Merkel Cell Carcinoma (MCC) and integrated in the host genome, proving polyomavirus related oncogenesis in humans (25). HPyV6 and -7 were found in healthy human skin

and are considered part of the skin microbiome ⁽²⁶⁾. The Trichodysplasia Spinulosa polyomavirus (TSPyV) was discovered in a heart transplant patient in 2010 ⁽²⁷⁾. Since then, HPyV9, Malawi polyomavirus (MWPyV), Saint Louis polyomavirus (STLPyV), HPyV12, New Jersey polyomavirus (NJPyV), Lyon IARC polyomavirus (LIPyV) and recently Quebec polyomavirus (QPyV) were discovered in samples acquired from humans ⁽²⁸⁻³⁴⁾. For HPyV12, NJPyV and LIPyV the natural host is probably not human, based on serology and metagenome analysis ^(34,35). HPyV12 may rather be a shrew polyomavirus ⁽³⁶⁾ and LIPyV a feline polyomavirus ⁽³⁷⁾.



Figure 3. Phylogenetic tree of polyomaviruses.

Unrooted phylogenetic tree for the family *Polyomaviridae*, based on the LT protein amino acid sequences, according to ICTV classification⁽⁴¹⁾. Unassigned species are shown in italics and human polyomaviruses are shown in bold. Figure adapted with permission ⁽³⁸⁾.

Taxonomy and genome organization

The *Polyomaviridae* can infect a broad spectrum of hosts, including many birds and fishes, but also arthropods (38-40). The family currently contains close to 100 different species, which are assigned to 4 genera called the *Alpha-, Beta-, Gamma and Deltapolyomavirus* (41) (Figure 3). The *Alpha-* and *Beta- and Deltapolyomavirus* genus contain polyomaviruses from a variety of hosts, whereas the *Gammapolyomavirus* genus contains only avian polyomaviruses. The human polyomaviruses are present in *Alpha-, Beta-* as well as *Deltapolyomaviruses*. Distinction between species is made based on the nucleotide sequence of the LT antigen coding sequences. Either at least 15% genetic distance in the LT antigen coding sequence is required for a new species, or less than 15% genetic distance and a critical biological difference, such as disease association or host specificity (41).

The Polyomaviridae family consists of small, non-enveloped viruses with dsDNA genomes around 5000 base pairs (bps) in size, with an icosahedral capsid between 40-45 nm in diameter (42). The genome is generally around 5000 bps and is separated in three functional regions (43), called the early region, the late region and the non-coding control region (NCCR) (Figure 4). The early region, which is expressed early in the infection stage through alternative splicing, encodes for non-structural proteins called the large T (LT) and small T (ST) antigens. LT is the major regulatory protein and is essential to drive the host cell into S-phase to support viral replication, by binding tumor suppressor proteins such as p53 and pRB (44). In addition, LT functions as a helicase and facilitates the switch from early transcription to replication and late transcription, via the NCCR^(43,44). The ST antigen is involved in large T-stabilization and cellular transformation, but is not essential for viral replication (43,45). The late region is transcribed after the start of viral DNA replication and encodes the structural proteins called Viral Protein (VP) 1, VP2, VP3 and sometimes VP4. VP1 is the major capsid protein and the virion consist of 360 VP1 proteins arranged in 72 pentamers, that are connected by the C-terminal arm of VP1. The virion is further stabilized by calcium ions and disulfide bond between the pentamers⁽⁴³⁾. Next to virion structure, VP1 plays a major role in both the antigenicity as well as receptor specificity of polyomaviruses (46). The role of VP2 and VP3 is less clear, but these are expressed on the inside of the viral particle on each pentamer (47). In addition, some polyomaviruses can express VP4, which is not part of the virion, but can act as a viroporin⁽⁴⁸⁾. Altogether, the viral particle is very stable and relatively resistant to heat inactivation and lipid solvents (49,50).



Figure 4. Schematic representation of a human polyomavirus genome.

A circular, double-stranded DNA genome of a human polyomavirus. Regions that code for proteins are indicated by colored arrows. Agno protein is not present in every HPyV genome. Ori: origin of replication; NCCR: non-coding control region; VP: viral protein. Figure adapted with permission (14).

Polyomavirus-related diseases

BKPyV and JCPyV were both discovered and associated with disease simultaneously in 1971 (21,22). BKPyV was determined as the cause of ureteric obstruction in a kidney transplant recipient (**Table 1**). Afterwards, BKPyV would prove to be an opportunistic pathogen in immunocompromised patients and is now the known cause of BKPyV associated nephropathy (BKPyVAN) (51), hemorrhagic cystitis (52) and ureteric obstruction (21,53) and has been implicated in many other diseases, such as bladder cancer (46,54). JCPyV causes a severe brain disease called PML (**Figure 5**), which occurred primarily with lymphoproliferative disease and in HIV patients. Since the advent of antiretroviral therapy, the PML burden shifted away from HIV patients, towards patients with drug-induced PML, such as multiple sclerosis patients taking natalizumab (55,56). The risk of PML has led to increased vigilance for MS patients on natalizumab and these patients are now screened and risk-stratified based on JCPyV serology (57). The first polyomavirus proven to cause tumour development in humans is the MCPyV, which causes MCC (25). MCC is an aggressive, neuroendocrinal skin cancer that often presents already with loco-regional metastases (Figure 5), and as such has a high case-fatality rate (58). This disease is not only found in immunocompromised populations, but also in the elderly. The incidence may be increasing, but is about 50-fold lower than melanoma (58). MCC is difficult to treat, but in recent vears therapy has improved due to immune checkpoint inhibitors (58). HPyV6, -7 and TSPyV also cause skin diseases. HPyV6 and -7 can both cause pruritic and dyskeratotic dermatosis in immunocompromised patients (59). Recently, HPyV6 has also been implicated as the cause (or contributing factor) of Kimura disease and angiolymphoid hyperplasia with eosinophilia (60). TSPyV is the cause of Trichodysplasia Spinulosa, a benign but disfiguring skin disease in immunocompromised patients (Figure 5), characterized by follicular papules and keratin spines (27). NJPyV has been shown to cause retinal blindness, necrotic plaques of skin and weakness in a pancreatic transplant patient, who had to flee through floodwater during superstorm Sandy (32). Since the initial report, no new cases have been described. The other HPyVs currently have no clear disease association.

| Species | Virus (abbreviation) | Disease association(s) | Seroprevalence % (31,35,46,61-68) | Sample identified | Year identified |
|---------|---|---|--------------------------------------|-------------------|-----------------------|
| HPyV1 | BK polyomavirus (BKPyV) | Polyomavirus-associated nephropathy Hemorrhagic cystitis (se) Ureterio: storais (70) Progressive mutrifocal leukoencephalopathy Bladder cancer (54) | 80-100 | Urine | 1971 (21) |
| HPyV2 | JC polyomavirus (JCPyV) | Progressive multificeal leukoencephalopathy (71,72) Polyomavirus-associated nephropathy (71,72) Granule cell neuronopathy (71,72) (Meningo-)Encephaltits (71,72) | 40-80 | Brain | 1971 (22) |
| НРуИЗ | Karolinska Institutet polyomavirus (KIPyV) | Respiratory disease (73) | 60-90 | Nasopharynx | 2007 (23) |
| HPyV4 | Washington University polyomavirus (WUPyV) | Respiratory disease (74) | 40-100 | Nasopharynx | 2007 (24) |
| HPyV5 | Merkel cell polyomavirus (MCPyV) | Merkel cell carcinoma (25) | 40-80 | Skin | 2008 (25) |
| HPyV6 | Human polyomavirus 6 (HPyV6) | Pruritic and dyskeratotic dermatoses (99) Keratoacanthoma (75,7 8) Kimura disease (90,75) Angiolymphoid Hyperplasia with Eosinophilia (90,75) | 70-85 | Skin | 2010 (26) |
| HPyV7 | Human polyomavirus 7 (HPyV7) | Prunitic and dyskeratotic dermatoses (99) | 35-65 | Skin | 2010 (26) |
| НРуVВ | Trichodysplasia spinulosa polyomavirus (TSPyV) | Trichodysplasia Spinulosa (27,77) | 70-85 | Skin | 2010 (27) |
| НРуV9 | Human polyomavirus 9 (HPyV9) | None | 20-50 | Serum | 2011 (78,79) |
| HPyV10 | Malawi polyomavirus (MWPyV) | None | 40-100 | Stool | 2012 (28,29) |
| HPyV11 | Saint Louis polyomavirus (STL PyV) | None | 65-95 | Stool | 2012 (30) |
| HPyV12 | Human polyomavirus 12* (HPy V12) | None | 5-20 | Liver | 2013 (31) |
| HPyV13 | New Jersey polyomavirus (NJPyV) | Retinal blindness, necrotic plaques, vasculitic myopathy (32) | 5 | Muscle | 2014 (32) |
| HPyV14 | Lyon IARC polyomavirus (LIPyV) | None | 5 | Skin | 2017 (33) |

Table 1. Nomenclature and origin of HPyVs.

^{*}Human polyomavirus 12 is now designated as a shrew polyomavirus by ICTV



Figure 5. Examples of polyomavirus disease.

A. Axial MRI image of the brain of a patient with PML. **B.** Merkel cell carcinoma on the finger of an elderly patient **C.** Nose of a heart transplant with trichodysplasia spinulosa with numerous papules and spicules. Images reprinted with permission ^(27,80), PML case courtesy of Assoc Prof Frank Gaillard, Radiopaedia.org, rID: 22071 Merkel cell case reproduced with permission from ⁽⁸¹⁾, Copyright Massachusetts Medical Society.

DNA- and seroprevalence

Polyomavirus infections are ubiquitous in the general population and usually infect healthy humans without causing disease. Primary infection with many polyomaviruses occurs early in childhood and is followed by a persistent infection. HPyVs are detected in many different tissues, such as skin (²⁶), urine (⁸²), respiratory samples (⁸³) and tonsillar tissue, (⁸⁴) using NAT. Despite detection in many different types of tissue, the genuine host cell of polyomaviruses remains unclear (⁴⁶). After primary infection, a humoral immune response will develop, leading to the development of IgM and IgG antibodies directed against the major capsid protein VP1. The IgG response will remain over time and is generally used for the assessment of seroprevalence in populations of interest. The seroprevalence can be measured with several methods, generally using the VP1 major capsid protein either expressed as a glutathione-S-transferase (GST) fusion protein or by creation of a virus-like particle (VLP). These are then subsequently bound to either polystyrene beads or ELISA plates (35,61-63,67,68,85,86). Both the VP1 and the VLP method yield very similar seroprevalence results, as was shown for instance for BKPyV (87,88).

Since HPyVs cause a persistent infection, seropositivity for any of these suggests that a seropositive individual is a carrier of that HPyV. A carrier of HPyVs is capable of shedding these viruses, as is demonstrated by detection of BKPyV and JCPyV in urine of healthy individuals (63). The exact route of transmission for HPyVs is often unclear, but for kidney transplant patients it is clear that the donor kidney can function as a vehicle for the virus (88-90). This is evidenced by an increased risk for BKPyV viremia after kidney transplantation from a donor with a high BKPyV IgG seroreactivity (91). Since blood components are often administered to immunocompromised patients, it is important to determine whether these HPyVs are potentially transmitted through blood components.

Scope of thesis

The purpose of the research described in this thesis was to determine the (sero-) prevalence of human polyomaviruses in the Dutch blood donor population, in order to obtain more insight into the risk of blood-transmitted polyomavirus infections. To meet this goal, laboratory tools were developed and adapted to detect these viruses through molecular and serological means. We applied these tools to determine the (sero-)prevalence in a representative cohort of blood donors. Furthermore, we provide a method to monitor these molecular tools over time, in order to identify when an adjustment is necessary.

In **Chapter Two** the development of a tool to measure antibodies specifically for each human polyomavirus is described

In **Chapter Three** the seroprevalence of fourteen human polyomaviruses in a representative cohort of blood donors is determined

In **Chapter Four** quantitative polymerase chain reactions (qPCRs) to detect DNA of fourteen human polyomaviruses are described and the prevalence is determined in the same blood donor cohort

In **Chapter Five** a novel method to monitor these qPCRs in time is described and applied for these qPCRs as well as qPCRs acquired from literature

In **Chapter Six** we provide evidence that JCPyV is transplanted together with the kidney allograft in kidney transplant recipients

In the **General discussion** the implications for blood safety are discussed as well as suggestions for future research





Chapter 2 Development and evaluation of a broad bead-based multiplex immunoassay to measure IgG seroreactivity against human polyomaviruses

Sergio Kamminga^{1,2}#, Els van der Meijden¹, Herman F. Wunderink^{1*}, Antoine Touzé³, Hans L. Zaaijer^{2**} and Mariet C.W. Feltkamp^{1**}#

Author affiliations:

- ¹ Department of Medical Microbiology, Leiden University Medical Center, Leiden, The Netherlands (Sergio Kamminga; Els van der Meijden; Herman Wunderink; Mariet Feltkamp).
- ² Department of Blood-borne Infections, Sanquin Research, Amsterdam, the Netherlands (Sergio Kamminga; Hans Zaaijer).
- ³ UMR 1282, Université François Rabelais/INRA, Tours, France (Antoine Touzé).
- * Present address: Department of Medical Microbiology, University Medical Center Utrecht, Utrecht, The Netherlands
- ** These authors contributed equally to this paper

Abstract

Introduction The family of polyomaviruses, which cause severe disease in immunocompromised hosts, has expanded substantially in recent years. To accommodate measurement of IgG seroresponses against all currently known human polyomavirus (HPyV), including the Lyon IARC polyomavirus (LIPyV), we extended our custom multiplex bead-based HPyV immunoassay and evaluated the performance of this pan-HPyV immunoassay.

Methods VP1 protein of fifteen HPyVs belonging to 13 polyomavirus species were expressed as recombinant glutathione S-transferase (GST) fusion proteins and coupled to fluorescent Luminex beads. Sera from healthy blood donors and immuno-compromised kidney transplant recipients were used to analyse seroreactivity against the different HPyVs. For BK polyomavirus (BKPyV) the GST-VP1 fusion protein-directed seroresponses were compared to those obtained against BKPyV VP1 virus-like particles (VLP).

Results Seroreactivity against most HPyVs was common and generally high in both test populations. Low seroreactivity was observed against HPyV9, HPyV12, New Jersey PyV and LIPyV. The assay was reproducible (Pearson's r^2 > 0.84, P<0.001) and specific. Weak but consistent cross-reactivity was observed between related HPyV6 and HPyV7. Seroresponses measured by the GST-VP1-based immunoassay and the VP1 VLP-based ELISA were highly correlated (Spearman's ρ =0.823, P<0.001).

Conclusions The bead-based pan-HPyV multiplex immunoassay is a reliable tool to determine HPyV-specific seroresponses with high reproducibility and specificity and is suitable for seroepidemiological studies.

Introduction

The *Polyomaviridae* family is a group of double-stranded DNA viruses that infect a broad spectrum of hosts, including humans. The number of identified human polyomaviruses (HPyVs) has substantially increased over the recent years, and currently includes thirteen *polyomavirus species* that are listed in **Table 1**, including full virus names and abbreviations (92). A novel polyomavirus recently identified in human skin samples named Lyon IARC polyomavirus (LIPyV), has not been assigned to a polyomavirus species yet (33).

Several HPyVs are associated with severe disease, such as BK polyomavirus (BKPyV) with nephropathy and haemorrhagic cystitis; JC Polyomavirus (JCPyV) with progressive multifocal leukoencephalopathy (PML); TS polyomavirus (TSPyV) with a dysplastic hair follicle disorder called *trichodysplasia spinulosa;* and MC polyomavirus (MCPyV) with Merkel cell carcinoma (25,51,93,94). An association between HPyV6 and HPyV7 and pruritic and dyskeratotic dermatosis has recently been proposed (95). In addition, HPyV7 might be involved in thymomagenesis (96,97). New Jersey polyomavirus (NJPyV) likely can cause vasculitis, myositis and retinal blindness (32).

The seroprevalence of well-studied polyomaviruses, for instance BKPyV and JCPyV, is generally high and comparable among geographically different populations (61,62,65,67,68,98). Primary HPyV infections usually occur in childhood, which are followed by asymptomatic persistent infection throughout life, sometimes accompanied by little virus shedding (65). Though HPyV infections are rare and usually limited to the immunocompromised and the elderly (14). For most HPyVs, symptomatic infection occurs when the persistent virus is no longer controlled by the immune system, a phenomenon often referred to as virus reactivation. However, for some HPyVs primary infection coincident with severe immunosuppression has been proposed as the driver of symptomatic disease (77).

Although knowledge of the prevalence of HPyV infections is increasing, little is known about the incidence and transmission of infection, in particular of the recently identified HPyVs such as Saint Louis Polyomavirus (STLPyV), HPyV12, NJPyV and LIPyV. One way of filling this knowledge gap is to develop HPyV species-specific serology.

In general, two Viral Protein 1 (VP1) antigen expression and presentation methods are used to measure HPyV seroreactivity. One is based on insect cell-expressed VP1 assembled into VP1 virus-like particles (VLP). The other, used in this study, is

based on bacterially expressed glutathione S-transferase (GST)-VP1 fusion proteins. Here we aimed to extend our present HPyV bead-based immunoassay measuring IgG seroresponses against the VP1 major capsid protein of HPyVs belonging to *Human polyomavirus* species 1 (BKPyV), 5 (MCPyV), 6 (HPyV6), 7 (HPyV7), 8 (TSPyV) and 9 (HPyV9)⁽⁶⁵⁾, with HPyVs belonging to species 2 (JCPyV), 3 (KIPyV), 4 (WUPyV), 10 (Malawi polyomavirus (MWPyV) and HPyV10), 11 (STLPyV) 12 (HPyV12), 13 (NJPyV) and LIPyV. MWPyV and HPyV10 that belong to the same species were both included, because they differ on eight amino acid positions in VP1, of which three might be located in immunogenic loops important for antigen recognition (46,62).

The performance of this new pan-HPyV multiplex immunoassay is evaluated in this study by measuring seroreactivity in two pilot populations and by determining the reproducibility and specificity of the assay. The GST-VP1 fusion protein bead-based assay is also compared with a VP1 VLP-based serological assay for BKPyV.

| Species | Virus (abbreviation) | Original tissue (disease) | Accession | Reference |
|------------|--|------------------------------|-----------|-----------|
| HPyV1 | BK polyomavirus (BKPyV) | Urine | JF894228 | (21) |
| HPyV2 | JC polyomavirus (JCPyV) | Brain (PML) | NC_001699 | (22) |
| HPyV3 | Karolinska Institutet polyomavirus (KIPyV) | Nasopharynx | NC_009238 | (23) |
| HPyV4 | Washington University polyomavirus (WUPyV) | Nasopharynx | NC_009539 | (24) |
| HPyV5 | Merkel cell polyomavirus (MCPyV) | Skin (Merkel cell carcinoma) | JF812999 | (25) |
| HPyV6 | Human polyomavirus 6 (HPyV6) | Skin | NC_014406 | (26) |
| HPyV7 | Human polyomavirus 7 (HPyV7) | Skin | NC_014407 | (26) |
| HPyV8 | Trichodysplasia spinulosa polyomavirus (TSPyV) | Skin (TS spicule) | NC_014361 | (94) |
| HPyV9 | Human polyomavirus 9 (HPyV9) | Serum | NC_015150 | (79) |
| HPyV10 | Malawi polyomavirus* (MWPyV) | Stool | NC_018102 | (28) |
| HPyV10 | Human polyomavirus 10* (HPyV10) | Skin (anal condyloma) | JX262162 | (29) |
| HPyV11 | Saint Louis polyomavirus (STLPyV) | Stool | NC_020106 | (30) |
| HPyV12 | Human polyomavirus 12 (HPyV12) | Liver | NC_020890 | (31) |
| HPyV13 | New Jersey polyomavirus (NJPyV) | Muscle | NC_024118 | (32) |
| unassigned | Lyon IARC polyomavirus** (LIPyV) | Skin | NC_034253 | (33) |

| Table 1. Nomenclature, origin and accession numbers of HPyVs used in the multip | lex |
|---|-----|
| immunoassay. | |

* MWPyV and HPyV10 belong to the same species

** LIPyV is not classified

Materials and methods

Human polyomavirus serology assays

IgG seroreactivities against VP1 were measured using a customized Luminex xMAP assay, as previously described, albeit expanded to include all currently known HPyVs (65,85,98). In short, synthetic DNA sequences of VP1 (**Table 1**) (gBlocks, IDT, San Jose, CA, USA), either wild type (JCPyV, KIPyV, WUPyV, HPyV12, NJPyV, LIPyV) or codon-optimized (MWPyV, HPyV10, STLPyV), were cloned into pGEX-5x-3 vectors (GE Healthcare Life Sciences, Chicago, IL, USA) and expressed as GST-VP1.tag fusion proteins in BL21 Rosetta bacteria. Expression of each newly expressed GST-VP1 fusion protein was analysed by glutathione-sepharose 4B purification, SDS-PAGE (10%) separation followed by Coomassie staining.

The GST-VP1.tag fusion protein is subsequently coupled to glutathione-casein linked polystyrene beads (Bio-Rad Laboratories, Hercules, CA, USA.) Each bead is colourcoded by fluorescent dyes, which allows distinction between the different analytes in a single well. The coupling of the complete GST-VP1.tag fusion protein to the bead is verified on the Bio-plex apparatus using mouse- α -tag antibodies (1:100, kind gift from M. Pawlita) followed by α -mouse-phycoerythrin for detection (1:250 Jackson ImmunoResearch Laboratories Inc., West Grove, PA, USA) (incubated for 30 minutes each in the dark at room temperature).

In the HPyV multiplex immunoassay, serum samples (1:100) were incubated for 1 hour in blocking buffer (1 mg/ml casein, 0.5% polyvinylalcohol, 0.8% polyvinylpyrrolidone, 2.5% Super ChemiBlock (Chemicon International, Billerica, MA, USA) and 2 mg/ml GST bacterial lysate in PBS) to suppress potential non-specific binding to the beads or to GST (85,99). In the meantime, the GST-VP1 fusion proteins were coupled to glutathione-casein linked polystyrene beads and the serum samples were subsequently incubated with the mixture of GST-VP1 beads (one hour in the dark at room temperature). For detection of a VP1-directed human IgG response biotinylated goat-antihuman IgG (H+L) was used (1:1000 Jackson ImmunoResearch Laboratories Inc., West Grove, PA, USA), followed by streptavidine-R-phycoerythrin (SAPE) (1:1000 Invitrogen, Waltham, MA, USA) (incubated for 30 minutes each in the dark at room temperature). As a positive control, a serially diluted mixture of four serum samples with known seroreactivity against various polyomaviruses was included in each test run (65). The seroreactivity was measured in a Bio-Plex 100 analyzer (Bio-Rad Laboratories, Hercules, CA, USA). Specific seroreactivity was defined by subtracting the median fluorescence intensity (MFI) values of both a blank sample and of beads coupled to an irrelevant GST fusion protein (SV40 small T-antigen).

For a comparison between the in-house GST-VP1 based immunoassay and the VP1-VLP ELISA, 396 serum samples were analysed in both assays for BKPyV IgG detection, as described previously⁽¹⁰⁰⁾. Our assay uses the VP1 protein from BKPyV genotype Ib1, while the VLP ELISA uses the VP1 protein from BKPyV genotype Ib2 (98.6% VP1 amino acid similarity between Ib2 and Ib1).⁽¹⁰⁰⁾

HPyV12 and NJPyV VP1 seroreactivity confirmation

To demonstrate the antigenicity of the HPyV12 and NJPyV GST-VP1 antigens used, two synthetic peptides (HPyV12-VP1: VPKSVTDVTAKIQC; NJPyV-VP1: SIHPNDIAKLPEED) were generated (Genscript, Nanjing, China) and used to immunize rabbits. These peptides were chosen based on expected antigenicity in VP1 (46,62) and low amino acid similarity compared with other HPyV VP1 proteins. The polyclonal rabbit antisera raised against these peptides were used in a 1:100 dilution for the recognition of GST-HPyV12 and NJPyV VP1 coupled beads (incubated for 30 minutes in the dark at room temperature). Detection was performed with α -rabbit biotin (1:1000, Dako, Santa Clara, CA, USA) and SAPE (incubated for 30 minutes each in the dark at room temperature).

Competition analysis

To gain further insight into cross-reactivity, VP1 antigen-competition experiments were performed, as described previously⁽⁶⁵⁾. Serum samples with known seroreactivity were serially diluted from 1:100 to 1:409600 and incubated with regular blocking buffer containing either GST or GST-VP1 fusion proteins (~2 mg/ml). For this purpose only serum samples were selected with measured seroreactivity above 5000 MFI at a 1:100 serum dilution.

Study population

For evaluation of the HPyV multiplex serology assay, anonymized serum samples of a cohort of 87 healthy blood donors (HBD)⁽¹⁰¹⁾ and a cohort of 65 immunocompromised kidney transplant recipients (KTR)⁽⁶⁶⁾ were tested. Participants gave written informed consent and the study adhered to the Declaration of Helsinki Principles.

Statistical analysis

Squared Pearson correlation coefficients (r^2) were calculated to determine intertest reliability. Correlation between assessed HPyVs was further examined by calculating Spearman rank correlation coefficients (ρ). Statistical analysis was performed in IBM SPSS Statistics 23. When necessary, the significance level ($\alpha = 0.05$) was adjusted according to the Bonferonni method for multiple comparisons.

Results

Expression and coupling of HPyV VP1 to polystyrene beads

To extend the in-house multiplex immunoassay with all currently known HPyVs, VP1 genes of JCPyV, KIPyV, WUPyV, MWPyV, HPyV10, STLPyV, HPyV12, NJPyV and LIPyV were individually cloned and expressed as GST-VP1 fusion protein. Expression of glutathione-purified GST-VP1 fusion proteins was checked by Coomassie-stained SDS-PAGE and found to be comparable for all HPyVs (**Figure 1A**). GST-VP1 containing crude bacterial extracts were purified and coupled to the glutathione-casein



Figure 1. Expression and coupling of HPyV VP1 to polystyrene beads.

Panel **A**: Coomassie-stained SDS-PAGE gel showing glutathione-purified GST-VP1 bacterial lysates of JCPyV, KIPyV, WUPyV, MWPyV, STLPyV, HPyV10, NJPyV, HPyV12 and LIPyV. Numbers between parentheses display molecular mass of the GST-VP1 fusion protein in kilodalton (kDa). Molecular mass in kDa of the pageruler prestained protein ladder (Thermofisher Scientific, Waltham, MA, USA) is indicated on the left. The lane for LIPyV was added at a later date. Panel **B**: purification and coupling of GST-VP1. tag fusion proteins of JCPyV, KIPyV, WUPyV, MWPyV, STLPyV, HPyV10, NJPyV, HPyV12 and LIPyV to glutathione-casein cross-linked beads. GST-VP1 containing crude bacterial extracts were serially diluted (1-0.25 mg/ml). GST-VP1.tag coupling, detected by using α -tag followed by α -mouse-phycoerythrin antibodies, is depicted as median fluorescence intensity (MFI) measured in the Bio-Plex 100 analyzer.

cross-linked beads. A tag-sequence was included at the C-terminus of each GST-VP1 fusion protein to check for efficient antigen binding and saturation of the beads. This was shown in a dilution series of GST-VP1 containing crude bacterial extracts (**Figure 1B**). For convenience, it was decided to use a dilution of ~1 mg/ml of each GST-VP1 crude extract in the HPyV VP1 multiplex immunoassay.

Antigenicity of GST-VP1 in the HPyV multiplex immunoassay

Serum samples of HBD and immunocompromised KTR were tested to analyse the performance of the HPyV multiplex immunoassay. A broad range of seroreactivities was observed that spanned the entire dynamic range of the assay (0 - 25.000 MFI units). Overall comparable results were obtained for both sample sets (**Figure 2A** and **2B**). Measured seroreactivities against HPyV9, HPyV12, NJPyV and LIPyV were generally lower than against most other HPyVs, with the exception of some outliers.

To ensure antigenicity of the HPyV12 and NJPyV VP1 preparations, polyclonal rabbit antisera were raised against specific HPyV12 and NJPyV-derived immunogenic peptides. These rabbit antisera recognized the relevant HPyV VP1 antigen, (**supplementary Figure 1**) demonstrating the ability of our assay to detect HPyV12 and NJPyV antibody reactivity.



Figure 2. Seroresponses against each GST-HPyV VP1 antigen measured in the multiplex immunoassay.

Seroreactivity was measured in a cohort of healthy blood donors (HBD, n=87, panel A) and a cohort of kidney transplant recipients (KTR, n=65, panel B). Results are depicted as median fluorescence intensity (MFI) measured in the Bio-Plex 100 analyzer, each circle represents one serum sample.

Reproducibility of the HPyV multiplex immunoassay

The reproducibility of the assay was determined by calculating the squared Pearson's correlation coefficients between repeated measurements while using

beads independently coupled to VP1 fusion proteins. These analyses were highly reproducible with r² values ranging from 0.84 - 0.98 (**supplementary Figure 2A - J**). Furthermore, we compared the use of different fluorescent beads for the same GST-VP1 fusion protein, which was tested for three HPyVs (BKPyV, KIPyV and HPyV10) and revealed reproducible results with r² values ranging from 0.77 - 0.95 (**supplementary Figure 3A - C**). A historical comparison between seroresponses obtained in 2013 for six of the current HPyV targets with the HBD population revealed highly reproducible results (r² range 0.71 - 0.97, **supplementary Figure 4A - F**) (⁶⁵).

Specificity of the HPyV multiplex immunoassay

Due to VP1 amino acid sequence similarity between different HPyV species varying between 21.6% to 78.5% (**Figure 3**, indicated in the right triangle in red), one might expect epitope-sharing and therefore a certain degree of cross-reactivity among (related) HPyVs. To evaluate this, a correlation-matrix of the HPyV seroresponses was generated (**supplementary Figure 5**) and Spearman rank correlation coefficients were calculated for each HPyV combination, for the HBD population (**Figure 3**, indicated in the left triangle in blue). The KTR population showed comparable data (not shown). The lack of measured seroreactivity against HPyV9, HPyV12, NJPyV and LIPyV did not allow for a meaningful correlation analysis and these viruses were therefore excluded from this analysis. Overall we observed little correlation between seroreactivity determined against the individual HPyVs. A moderate

| | | | | | | | | | | | | VP1 s | sequence | e similar | rity (% |
|----|------------|--------------|-------|-------|-------|-------|-------|-------|-------|-------|-------|--------|----------|-----------|---------|
| | | BKPyV | JCPyV | KIPyV | WUPyV | MCPyV | HPyV6 | HPyV7 | TSPyV | HPyV9 | MWPyV | STLPyV | HPyV12 | NJPyV | LIPyV |
| | BKPyV | | 78.5 | 28.2 | 29.1 | 43.9 | 27.7 | 26.4 | 54.1 | 53.8 | 43.3 | 41.4 | 53.8 | 47.4 | 44.3 |
| | JCPyV | -0.14 | | 28.4 | 28.3 | 46.6 | 26.3 | 26.5 | 52.4 | 54.4 | 45.0 | 40.6 | 55.1 | 45.4 | 42.4 |
| C. | KIPyV | -0.02 | -0.13 | | 66.1 | 27.2 | 33.5 | 36.9 | 23.9 | 26.2 | 24.4 | 26.3 | 25.4 | 22.7 | 24.2 |
| | WUPyV | 0.06 | 0.16 | 0.03 | | 29.5 | 37.4 | 37.8 | 24.6 | 27.1 | 28.3 | 26.4 | 27.6 | 21.6 | 26.9 |
| | MCPyV | 0.02 | 0.20 | 0.08 | 0.14 | | 27.5 | 25.1 | 56.1 | 57.4 | 39.1 | 40.0 | 56.2 | 49.3 | 54.8 |
| | HPyV6 | 0.00 | -0.01 | -0.02 | 0.06 | 0.03 | | 68.0 | 27.2 | 27.7 | 24.9 | 29.1 | 29.9 | 22.7 | 26.6 |
| | HPyV7 | -0.12 | 0.23 | -0.03 | 0.12 | 0.11 | 0.49 | | 25.7 | 27.8 | 26.3 | 30.1 | 27.7 | 24.1 | 23.9 |
| | TSPyV | 0.09 | 0.24 | 0.23 | 0.21 | 0.16 | -0.06 | 0.01 | | 60.2 | 43.9 | 43.2 | 60.3 | 55.1 | 46.3 |
| | HPyV9 | nd | nd | nd | nd | nd | nd | nd | nd | | 46.0 | 46.7 | 59.3 | 57.0 | 50.1 |
| | MWPyV | 0.14 | 0.09 | 0.14 | 0.20 | 0.17 | -0.07 | -0.04 | 0.29 | nd | | 54.8 | 45.7 | 39.1 | 41.7 |
| | STLPyV | -0.12 | 0.20 | 0.15 | 0.25 | 0.07 | 0.14 | 0.17 | 0.02 | nd | 0.23 | | 45.2 | 36.2 | 40.1 |
| | HPyV12 | nd | nd | nd | nd | nd | nd | nd | nd | nd | nd | nd | | 54.8 | 52.5 |
| | NJPyV | nd | nd | nd | nd | nd | nd | nd | nd | nd | nd | nd | nd | | 46.1 |
| ŀ | LIPyV | nd | nd | nd | nd | nd | nd | nd | nd | nd | nd | nd | nd | nd | |
| | | | | | .50 | | 50.00 | | 00.70 | | - 70 | | | | |
| se | quence sim | illarity (%) | : | | <50 | | 50-60 | | 60-70 | | >70 | | | | |

Figure 3. Summary of observed cross-reactivity between individual HPyV VP1 antigens.

The upper right triangle shows the percentage VP1 sequence similarity based on pairwise alignment using Geneious software version 10.0.9 with default ClustalW settings. The lower left triangle shows Spearman correlation coefficients (ρ) calculated on seroresponses measured against VP1 of the HPyV types tested in the HBD cohort. HPyVs with nd: not determined

correlation was observed between HPyV6 and HPyV7 in both the HBD (Spearman's $\rho = 0.49$; P < 0.001), as well as the KTR (Spearman's $\rho = 0.44$; P < 0.001) population. Despite 78.5% VP1 amino acid sequence similarity between BKPyV and JCPyV, no correlation between these types was measured (Spearman's $\rho = -0.14$, P = 0,19). Between species (*HPyV10*) members MWPyV and HPyV10 a high correlation was observed (Spearman's $\rho = 0.92$, P < 0.001), which can be explained by their high VP1 amino acid sequence similarity (98%) (**Figure 4**).



Figure 4. Seroreactivity comparison between MWPyV and HPyV10, both belonging to polyomavirus species 10.

MWPyV and HPyV10 seroreactivities were measured in a cohort of healthy blood donors (HBD). Results are depicted as median fluorescence intensity (MFI) values measured in the Bio-Plex 100 analyzer for MWPyV on the X-axis and for HPyV10 on the Y-axis, respectively. Spearman correlation coefficient is depicted in the figure. Each circle represents one serum sample and the line represents results of linear regression analyses.

To gain more insight into cross-reactivity, antigen competition experiments were performed, in which reactive serum samples were titrated and pre-incubated with soluble GST-VP1 of various HPyVs before being exposed to antigenic beads coated with the relevant HPyV VP1. **Figure 5** shows some examples of these analyses. A complete overview of the selected sera tested in this way can be found in **supple-mentary Figure 6**. Overall, little competition was observed between VP1 antigens from HPyVs belonging to different species. Pre-incubation with JCPyV-VP1 did not show a reduction in BKPyV seroreactivity in three out of four experiments (**Figure 5A**, **supplementary Figure 6A4** and **6A5**), however, in one competition experiment, a substantial reduction was seen (**supplementary Figure 6A3**). Vice versa, pre-incubation with BKPyV-VP1 reduced JCPyV seroreactivity in two out of four competition experiments (**supplementary Figure 6B1** and **6B3**). Between

closely related species HPyV6 and HPyV7, partial antigen competition was observed indicative of limited cross-reactivity (**Figure 5F** and **5G**, **supplementary Figure 6F1**, **6F2** and **6G2**). As expected, *HPyV10* species members MWPyV and HPyV10 showed high levels of cross-reactivity in this analysis (**Figure 5J** and **5K**). Interestingly, in three out of six HPyV10 competition experiments, pre-incubation with MWPyV-VP1 did not block HPyV10 seroreactivity (**supplementary Figure 6K1**, **6K4**, and **6K5**). A summary of the competition experiments is shown in **Table 2**.



Figure 5. Cross-reactivity analysis of polyomavirus seroresponses by VP1-specific competition.

Titrated serum samples were pre-incubated with crude bacterial extract containing GST-alone (in black), with GST-VP1 of the autologous HPyV (in orange) or with the non-target heterologous HPyVs (in grey). Blue lines indicate competition of VP1 other than the target analyte. Results are depicted as median fluorescence intensity (MFI) measured in the Bio-Plex 100 analyzer and shown for the seroresponses measured for BKPyV (A), JCPyV (B), KIPyV (C), WUPyV (D), MCPyV (E), HPyV6 (F), HPyV7 (G), TSPyV (H), HPyV9 (I); MWPyV (J), HPyV10 (K) and STLPyV (L).

| | ВКРуV | JCPyV | KIPyV | WUPyV | МСРуV | HPyV6 | HPyV7 | TSPyV | HPyV9 | MWPyV | HPyV10 | STLPyV |
|------------|-------|-------|-------|-------|-------|-------|-------|-------|-------|-------|--------|--------|
| BKPyV-VP1 | ++++* | ++ | - | - | - | - | - | - | - | - | - | - |
| JCPyV-VP1 | + | ++++ | - | - | - | - | - | - | - | - | - | - |
| KIPyV-VP1 | - | - | ++++ | - | - | - | - | - | - | - | - | - |
| WUPyV-VP1 | - | - | - | ++++ | - | - | - | - | - | - | - | - |
| MCPyV-VP1 | - | - | - | - | ++++ | - | - | - | - | - | - | - |
| HPyV6-VP1 | - | - | - | - | - | ++++ | ++ | - | - | - | - | - |
| HPyV7-VP1 | - | - | - | - | - | ++ | ++++ | - | - | - | - | - |
| TSPyV-VP1 | - | - | - | - | - | - | - | ++++ | - | - | - | - |
| HPyV9-VP1 | - | - | - | - | - | - | - | - | ++++ | - | - | - |
| MWPyV-VP1 | - | - | - | - | - | - | - | - | - | ++++ | +++ | - |
| HPyV10-VP1 | - | - | - | - | - | - | - | - | - | ++++ | ++++ | - |
| STLPyV-VP1 | - | - | - | - | - | - | - | - | - | - | - | ++++ |

 Table 2. Summary of observed cross-reactivity among HPyV VP1 antigens in individual

 serum samples, as observed in experiments shown in Figure 5 and supplementary Figure 6.

* Arbitrary interpretation of observed VP1-competition

- No reduction observed
- + Slight reduction
- ++ Moderate reduction
- +++ High reduction
- ++++ Complete reduction

Comparison between the GST-VP1 based HPyV multiplex immunoassay and a VP1 VLP based ELISA

To learn more about the antigenicity of the GST-VP1 fusion proteins that we use, we compared seroresponses measured for BKPyV in our method to those obtained with a VLP-based ELISA. Although differences in especially the presentation of conformational epitopes were anticipated, the BKPyV seroreactivities measured by both methods were quite similar (**Figure 6**) (100). A high Spearman correlation coefficient ($\rho = 0.823$, P < 0.001) was observed between the OD values obtained with the VP1 VLP ELISA and the MFI values obtained with the GST-VP1 immunoassay.



Figure 6. Comparison between the GST-VP1 bead-based assay and the VLP ELISA assay for BKPyV.

Seroreactivity of kidney transplantation donors (n=396) were measured by both the bead-based GST-VP1 immunoassay and the VP1 VLP ELISA for BKPyV. Each circle represents one serum sample and the black line indicates correlation between the bead-based measurement (MFI) and the ELISA (OD). This figure is adapted with permission from Wunderink et al (100).

Discussion

Based on the performed evaluation, the broad HPyV multiplex immunoassay described in this report provides highly reproducible and *species*-specific serological data. Between related *HPyV species* sometimes cross-recognizing antibody detection is seen, especially between HPyV6 and HPyV7, which was observed in other studies as well⁽⁸⁶⁾. The mean correlation calculated between JCPyV and BKPyV seroreactivity was very low. Nevertheless, some sera clearly demonstrated cross-reactivity between these two, clinically relevant HPyVs. This observation deserves further study, since individual seroresponses against JCPyV, and perhaps against BKPyV as well,⁽⁹¹⁾ are used for patient risk assessment regarding serious complications of
HPyV-induced infection, for example PML (102). However, a limited role for crossreactivity between HPyV6 and HPyV7 (26) and between JCPyV and BKPyV serology has also been described (46,62,63,103).

Apart from cross-reactivity between two related HPyV species pairs that has been described before for other serological platforms, the GST-VP1 bead-based pan-HPyV assay seems a reliable tool for seroepidemiological HPyV studies. To what extent this assay measures neutralizing antibodies was not investigated in this study, but the high correlation between BKPyV serological data obtained with this assay and those obtained with VP1 VLP-based ELISA suggests that GST-VP1 fusion proteins presented on glutathione-casein coupled beads express conformational epitopes. This was also previously suggested by highly comparable HPyV seroprevalence data obtained worldwide and independently with VP1 VLP and GST-VP1 fusion proteins, for example for TSP_VV (61,65,66,104,105).

The high intraspecies cross-reactivity observed between MWPyV and HPyV10 did not come as a surprise, and probably resulted from their high VP1 similarity. Nevertheless, seroreactivity towards HPyV10 was not always abolished after pre-incubation with MWPyV-VP1, indicating a subtle difference between some epitopes of MWPyV and HPyV10, which could be explained by the fact that three of the eight amino acid differences between MWPyV and HPyV10 might be located within the antigenic loops (46,62). The overall high degree of similarity between the seroreactivity profiles of MWPyV and HPyV10, however, suggests no need for separate measurements for both viruses when testing larger cohorts. The lack of seroreactive samples against HPyV9, HPyV12, NJPyV and LIPyV did not allow a thorough analysis of potential cross-reactivity for these HPyVs. As a general remark, cross-reactivity by antibodies against yet unknown HPyVs cannot be excluded.

The aim of this study was to evaluate the abilities of the assay and not to determine seroprevalence. As such, no seronegative cut-off determination was performed. Seroreactivity against most HPyVs was high in both the immunosuppressed KTR and the HBD cohorts. The observed seroreactivity profile of HPyV9 is lower compared to other polyomaviruses, in line with previous publications including ours (61,65,67,106).

We observed limited seroreactivity against HPyV12, NJPyV and LIPyV. For comparison, to date no other serological data are present for NJPyV and LIPyV. For HPyV12, one study reported a seroprevalence of 15-33% in healthy adults⁽³¹⁾. Based on our observed seroreactivity against HPyV12, presented in **Figure 2**, we assume that in Dutch populations the seroprevalence of HPyV12 is low. Based on VP1 amino acid sequence alignment it was recently suggested that the translation initiation of HPyV12 VP1 is located 48 nucleotides (16 amino acids) downstream of the 5' end of the VP1 open reading frame (107). We also analysed the antigenicity of this shorter GST-HPyV12 VP1 fusion protein and noticed no difference in HPyV12 seroreactivity (not shown). [After submission of this manuscript, the discoverers of HPyV12 published data that convincingly show that HPyV12 is in fact a shrew-derived virus (36), suggesting that HPyV12 does not circulate among humans and explaining the lack of HPyV12 seroreactivity found in our cohorts.]

To our knowledge, infection with NJPyV has been described only once, in an immunocompromised kidney-pancreas transplantation patient fleeing through sewage water following superstorm Sandy (32). Supported by the prompt recognition of NJPyV VP1 by the rabbit polyclonal serum raised against NJPyV VP1 peptides, we are confident that our assay is capable of measuring seroresponses against NJPyV. Therefore, we interpret the lack of detectable seroresponses as an indication that this polyomavirus does not represent a human, but rather a zoonotic polyomavirus that was introduced into man under exceptional conditions. Alternatively, the lack of NJPyV seroresponses could suggest a difference in geographical spread for NJPyV between America and Europe, which is rather unusual for (human) polyomaviruses. LIPyV also showed a low seroreactivity profile, suggesting the possibility of environmental contamination of LIPyV in the original skin sample. A larger seroprevalence study can help to elucidate this issue.

The comparison between a VLP-based ELISA and the bead-based assay showed a clear monotonic relationship, despite the different methods in which conformational epitopes are presented by both assays (**Figure 6**). A close look at the kinetics of each assay reveals a large dynamic range of the bead-based assay with seemingly increased sensitivity compared to the ELISA to detect seroresponses in the lower reactivity range. For the purpose of seroepidemiology, we believe serological testing using HPyV VP1 expressed as GST fusion protein or as VP1 VLP yields equally useful results. For individual use, for instance to predict the risk of developing polyoma-virus-related disease such as PML, additional analyses and assay validation are necessary.

In conclusion, the custom made pan-HPyV multiplex immunoassay is a reliable tool for determination of HPyV-specific seroprevalences. It measures HPyV-specific IgG seroreactivities with high reproducibility and specificity, and can easily be extended in case of new HPyV discoveries, and potentially combined with other (viral) antigens of interest.

Supplemental information

Supplemental information can be accessed online: <u>https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.</u> pone.0206273

Acknowledgements

This work was supported and funded by Sanquin Blood Supply Foundation, a not-forprofit organization. The authors declare no conflict of interest.

Author contributions: conceived and designed the experiments: SK, EM, AT, MF. Performed the experiments: SK, EM, AT. Analysis of the data: SK, EM. Wrote the paper: SK, EM, HW, HZ, MF.

Human polyomavirus multiplex immunoassay **31**









Chapter 3 Seroprevalence of fourteen human polyomaviruses determined in blood donors

Sergio Kamminga^{1,2*}, Els van der Meijden², Mariet C.W. Feltkamp²¶ and Hans L. Zaaijer¹¶

Author affiliations:

- ¹ Department of Blood-borne Infections, Sanquin Research, Amsterdam, the Netherlands.
- ² Department of Medical Microbiology, Leiden University Medical Center, Leiden, The Netherlands.
- 1 These authors contributed equally to this work.

Abstract

The polyomavirus family currently includes thirteen human polyomavirus (HPyV) species. In immunocompromised and elderly persons HPyVs are known to cause disease, such as progressive multifocal leukoencephalopathy (JCPyV), haemorrhagic cystitis and nephropathy (BKPyV), Merkel cell carcinoma (MCPyV), and trichodysplasia spinulosa (TSPyV). Some recently discovered polyomaviruses are of still unknown prevalence and pathogenic potential. Because HPyVs infections persist and might be transferred by blood components to immunocompromised patients, we studied the seroprevalence of fourteen polyomaviruses in adult Dutch blood donors. For most polyomaviruses the observed seroprevalence was high (60-100%), sometimes slightly increasing or decreasing with age. Seroreactivity increased with age for JCPyV, HPyV6 and HPyV7 and decreased for BKPyV and TSPyV. The most recently identified polyomaviruses HPyV12, NJPyV and LIPyV showed low overall seroprevalence (~5%) and low seroreactivity, questioning their human tropism. Altogether, HPyV infections are common in Dutch blood donors, with an average of nine polyomaviruses per subject.

Introduction

The *Polyomaviridae* family comprises non-enveloped double-stranded DNA viruses that infect a broad spectrum of hosts. After primary infection, usually in childhood, polyomaviruses cause asymptomatic persistent infection accompanied by low-level replication and shedding, for instance in urine (14,63). Since 2007 the number of identified human polyomaviruses (HPyVs) has greatly increased. They are currently grouped in thirteen species, including the 'classic' BK polyomavirus (BKPyV) and JC polyomavirus (JCPyV) (14,43). A novel polyomavirus called the Lyon IARC polyomavirus (LIPyV) that was identified in 2017 has not been assigned to a polyomavirus species yet (33). The major capsid protein VP1 forms the exterior of the viral particle and is immunodominant (46). Polyomaviruses do not cause disease in healthy hosts; however, they can reactivate and cause disease in individuals who are immunocompromised.

BKPyV is the main cause of polyomavirus-associated nephropathy (PVAN) that occurs in up to 10% of kidney transplant patients (108). Haemorrhagic cystitis, also caused by BKPyV, complicates between 6-30% of hematopoietic stem cell transplantations (109). JCPyV causes progressive multifocal leukoencephalopathy (PML), a potentially lethal, demyelinating brain disease, which is found in HIV-infected AIDS patients, immunosuppressed transplantation patients, and nowadays especially in multiple sclerosis (MS) patients treated with immunomodulatory drugs, such as natalizumab⁽⁵⁵⁾. The incidence of PML in natalizumab-treated MS patients can be as high as 20 per 1000 patients (110,111). Merkel cell polyomavirus (MCPyV) is an important cause of Merkel cell carcinoma (MCC). The incidence of MCC is low, approximately 0.4 per 100.000 person-years, though this appears to increase (112). Less is known about the incidence of diseases caused by other polyomaviruses, for example trichodysplasia spinulosa caused by the trichodysplasia spinulosa polyomavirus (TSPyV) (14,113). Karolinska Institute polyomavirus (KIPyV) and Washington University polyomavirus (WUPyV) have been implicated in respiratory disease (73,114,115), HPyV6 and HPyV7 in dyskeratotic dermatosis, and HPyV7 in thymomagenesis (59,96,97,116). Furthermore, the New Jersey polyomavirus likely caused a unique but severe case of vasculitis resulting in blindness, dermatitis and myositis. Altogether, the polyomaviruses are a significant cause of disease in the immunocompromised population.

Blood components (red blood cells, platelets and fresh frozen plasma) are administered to haematological, transplant, and other immunocompromised patients in huge numbers. Therefore, it is important to understand the epidemiology of polyomaviruses among healthy adults and potential blood donors, including HPyVs that have been recognized just recently and of which still very little is known. In this study



Figure 1. Geographic distribution of blood donors.

The geographic origin of 1050 collected serum samples in the Netherlands is shown in a map by the location of the collection centres involved. Samples were collected over a period of two weeks to ensure the inclusion of blood donation centres from all regions of the Netherlands. The number of samples from each location is visualized by increasing circle size parallel to the number of samples from that location, with a minimum of 1 and a maximum of 51 samples from individual centres. This image is used with permission from Microsoft and was created using Microsoft Excel 2016.

the seroprevalence and seroreactivity were determined of fourteen polyomaviruses identified thus far in humans, in 1050 Dutch blood donors subdivided into age categories. HPyV serology was performed using a custom bead-based immunoassay which was recently validated for this purpose (117).

Materials and methods

Study population

The study population consisted of serum samples from 1050 Dutch blood donors. Donors were included using weighted random selection from Dutch blood donations to obtain groups of equal size in terms of age and sex. Serum samples from eighty blood donation centres were collected over a period of two weeks to ensure an even geographic distribution over the Netherlands (**Figure 1**). Every blood donation in the Netherlands is routinely screened for presence of human immunodeficiency virus, hepatitis B and C virus and syphilis, only samples with a negative result were included in this study. Sex and age characteristics are summarized in **Table 1**. The donors were divided in five age categories: 18 - 29, 30 - 39, 40 - 49, 50 - 59 and 60 - 69 years of age. In total, 529 males and 521 females were included.

| | | 5 | Sex | Total |
|--------------|-------|------|--------|-------|
| | | Male | Female | |
| | 18-29 | 103 | 105 | 208 |
| | 30-39 | 106 | 103 | 209 |
| Age category | 40-49 | 106 | 102 | 208 |
| | 50-59 | 110 | 105 | 215 |
| | 60-69 | 104 | 106 | 210 |
| Total | | 529 | 521 | 1050 |

Table 1. Demographics of study population.

The study involves anonymous 'left over' samples from blood donors who gave permission to use this material for studies into blood-borne agents. Hence Sanquin's scientific board, and the secretary of Sanquin's Ethical Advisory Board, decided that for this study permission from the Ethical Advisory Board is not applicable.

Human polyomavirus multiplex immunoassay

A customized, recently described Luminex xMAP assay was used to measure IgG seroreactivity against the VP1 major capsid protein of BKPyV, JCPyV, KIPyV, WUPyV,

MCPyV, HPyV6, HPyV7, TSPyV, HPyV9, Malawi polyomavirus (MWPyV), Saint Louis polyomavirus (STLPyV), HPyV12, NJPyV and LIPyV(65,85,117). As described, each GST-VP1 fusion protein was expressed in BL21 Rosetta bacteria and coupled to uniquely colored, glutathione-casein cross-linked magnetic fluorescent polystyrene beads, which allows distinction between several analytes in a single well.

In the multiplex immunoassay the 1:100 diluted serum samples were incubated for one hour in blocking buffer to suppress non-specific binding (85,99). Biotinylated qoat-α-human IgG (H+L) (1:1000 Jackson ImmunoResearch Laboratories Inc., West Grove, PA, USA, catalogue number: 109-065-088, antibody registry number: AB_2337628) followed by streptavidin-R-phycoerythrin (SAPE) (1:1000 Invitrogen, Waltham, MA, USA, catalogue number: S866) were used to detect IgG responses against the individual VP1 antigens. A serially diluted mix of four serum samples with known seroreactivity against various polyomaviruses was included in each plate to measure intertest variability (65,117), which was low. Samples were then measured in a Bio-Plex 100 analyzer (Bio-Rad Laboratories, Hercules, CA, USA) and analyzed using Bio-Plex Manager 6.1 software (Bio-Rad Laboratories, Hercules, CA, USA). The intraclass correlation coefficient for the 1:100 diluted controls was 0.91 (95% confidence interval: 0.81-0.97; P<0.001). Specific seroreactivity was calculated by subtracting the median fluorescence intensity (MFI) values of both a blank sample and of beads coupled to an irrelevant GST fusion protein, in this case GST-SV40 small T-antigen. Serum samples with a high response against GST-SV40 small T-antigen (resulting in specific seroreactivity below or equal to minus 1000 MFI), were excluded for further analysis (n=6). This is likely due to aspecific antigen binding, although a genuine seroresponse against GST-SV40 small T-antigen cannot he excluded.

Determination of the cut-off value

For each HPyV a cut-off value for seropositivity was determined based on seroresponses of Dutch children (n=36) between 10 and 15 months old, as previously described (65), because children of this age have lost maternal antibodies and have a low chance of being yet HPyV exposed. To determine a seronegative population, a frequency distribution analysis with a bin width of 250 MFI was performed and samples in bins with a frequency percentage above 10% were used in the calculation of the cut-off score. The cut-off value is calculated by the mean seroresponse of the seronegative population and adding three times the standard deviation. This resulted in the following cut-off values, expressed as MFI, for BKPyV 391, JCPyV 349, KIPyV 341, WUPyV 403, MCPyV 509, HPyV6 322, HPyV7 1069, TSPyV 346, HPyV9 446, MWPyV 325, STLPyV 357, HPyV12 326, NJPyV 994, and LIPyV 438.

Statistical analysis

Statistical analysis was performed in IBM SPSS Statistics 23. Intraclass correlation coefficient was calculated based on a single measures form, absolute-agreement and 2-way mixed-effects model. Associations between categorical variables (e.g. sex, age categories) and seropositivity were analysed by χ^2 test (for trend) or Fisher's exact test where appropriate. Mann-Whitney U test was used to analyse differences in seropositivity numbers between the different age categories per donor. Seroreactivity was not normally distributed and was therefore analysed by a non-parametric test, Jonckheere's trend test for ordinal variables (in this case the association between age and seroreactivity in seropositive samples).

Results

Human polyomavirus seroprevalence

In 1050 Dutch blood donors, the seroprevalence of each polyomavirus was determined by calculating the proportion of serum samples with seroreactivity above the established MFI cut-off points. For the majority of polyomaviruses, the overall seropositivity was high, at least 60% (**Figure 2** and **Table 2**). However, for HPyV9 and especially for HPyV12, NJPyV and LIPyV the overall seropositivity was low, 19.2%, 4.0%, 5.2% and 5.9% respectively. When the seroprevalences were analysed in relation to age, a significant positive association was observed for KIPyV (χ 2 test for trend: P<0.001), HPyV6 (P<0.001), HPyV7 (P<0.001) and TSPyV (P= 0.04). For MCPyV, a negative association between seroprevalence and age was observed (P = 0.013). Due to low numbers of seropositives, age comparisons were not performed for HPyV12, NJPyV and LIPyV. For all HPyVs no significant differences in seropositivity were observed related to sex.

All blood donors were seropositive for at least four polyomaviruses. The mean number of infections per donor (± SD), based on seropositivity, was 8.7 ± 1.6 per subject (**Figure 3**). Participants in the lowest age category (18-29) had a mean of 8.2 ± 1.6 infections, which was significantly lower (Mann-Whitney U test: $P \le 0.001$) than the other age categories, which showed a mean number of infections as follows: 30-39 years: 8.8 ± 1.7, 40-49 years: 8.7 ± 1.5, 50-59 years: 8.7 ± 1.5, and 60-69 years: 8.9 ± 1.6. No differences regarding the mean number of infections per donor were observed between the sexes.

| | Total | Sex | | | | Age category | | |
|-------------------|-------------|-----------------|-------------------|------------------|------------------|------------------|------------------|------------------|
| | (N=1044ª) | Male (N=527) | Female (N=517) | 18-29 (N=206) | 30-39 (N=207) | 40-49 (N=207) | 50-59 (N=215) | 60-69 (N=209) |
| Polyomavirus type | No. (%) | No. (%) | No. (%) | No. (%) | No. (%) | No. (%) | No. (%) | No. (%) |
| BKPyV | 1033 (98.9) | 523 (99.2) | 510 (98.6) | 204 (99.0) | 205 (99.0) | 204 (98.6) | 213 (99.1) | 207 (99.0) |
| JCPyV | 660 (63.2) | 336 (63.8) | 324 (62.7) | 120 (58.3) | 138 (66.7) | 128 (61.8) | 133 (61.9) | 141 (67.5) |
| KIPyV** | 957 (91.6) | 483 (91.7) | 474 (91.7) | 164 (79.6) | 191 (92.3) | 196 (94.7) | 202 (94.0) | 204 (97.6) |
| WUPyV | 1033 (98.9) | 521 (98.9) | 512 (99.0) | 204 (99.0) | 204 (98.6) | 205 (99.0) | 213 (99.1) | 207 (99.0) |
| MCPyV* | 855 (81.9) | 429 (81.4) | 426 (82.4) | 178 (86.4) | 168 (81.2) | 178 (86.0) | 170 (79.1) | 161 (77.0) |
| HPyV6** | 875 (83.8) | 444 (84.3) | 431 (83.4) | 156 (75.7) | 175 (84.5) | 173 (83.6) | 184 (85.6) | 187 (89.5) |
| НРуV7** | 749 (71.7) | 391 (74.2) | 358 (69.2) | 117 (56.8) | 154 (74.4) | 155 (74.9) | 154 (71.6) | 169 (80.9) |
| TSPyV* | 831 (79.6) | 431 (81.8) | 400 (77.4) | 156 (75.7) | 160 (77.3) | 163 (78.7) | 183 (85.1) | 169 (80.9) |
| НРуV9 | 200 (19.2) | 91 (17.3) | 109 (21:1) | 44 (21.4) | 43 (20.8) | 40 (19.3) | 36 (16.7) | 37 (17.7) |
| MWPyV | 1039 (99.5) | 523 (99.2) | 516 (99.8) | 205 (99.5) | 205 (99.0) | 207 (100.0) | 215 (100.0) | 207 (99.0) |
| STLPyV | 677 (64.8) | 342 (64.9) | 335(64.8) | 118 (57.3) | 145 (70.0) | 139 (67.1) | 143 (66.5) | 132 (63.2) |
| HPyV12 | 42 (4.0) | 15 (2.8) | 27 (5.2) | 11 (5.3) | 10 (4.8) | 5 (2.4) | 4 (1.9) | 12 (5.7) |
| NJPyV | 54 (5.2) | 22 (4.2) | 32 (6.2) | 8 (3.9) | 4 (1.9) | 4 (1.9) | 16 (7.4) | 22 (10.5) |
| LIPyV | 62 (5.9) | 33 (6.3) | 29 (5.6) | 10 (4.9) | 14 (6.8) | 10 (4.8) | 14 (6.5) | 14 (6.7) |

Table 2. Seropositivity numbers and seroprevalence.

a. 6 samples were excluded due to GST-SV40 small T reactivity.

* P < 0.05 ** P<0.001 $\chi 2$ test for trend for differences between age categories.



Figure 2. Seroprevalence of indicated polyomaviruses in Dutch blood donors.

The percentage seropositivity of each polyomavirus is shown for the donor age categories 18-29 (checkers pattern, N=206), 30-39 (solid white bars, N=207), 40-49 (dots pattern, N=207), 50-59 (light grey bars, N=215) and 60-69 (diagonally striped pattern, N=209).



Figure 3. Distribution of the cumulative number of polyomavirus infections per donor.

The distribution of the number of infecting polyomaviruses is shown among the tested blood donors, as indicated by seropositivity.

Human polyomavirus seroreactivity

Seroreactivity detected in seropositive donors differed between the analysed HPyVs. The highest median MFI-values were measured for BKPyV (**Figure 4**). Intermediate values were measured for KIPyV, WUPyV, MCPyV, HPyV6, HPyV7, TSPyV and MWPyV. Low to intermediate median MFI values were measured for JCPyV, HPyV9



Figure 4. Seroreactivity in seropositive donors categorized by age.

Box plots with whiskers represent 1-99th percentiles. Outliers are indicated by triangles. Age categories shown are 18-29 (checkers pattern), 30-39 (solid white bars), 40-49 (dots pattern), 50-59 (light grey bars) and 60-69 (diagonally striped pattern). Only MFI values from seropositive donors are shown. The total number of seropositives was for BKPyV: 1033; JCPyV: 660; KIPyV: 957; WUPyV: 1033; MCPyV: 855; HPyV6: 875; HPyV7: 749; TSPyV: 831; HPyV9: 200; MWPyV: 1039; STLPyV: 677; HPyV12: 42; NJPyV: 54; LIPyV: 62. and STLPyV, although some highly reactive serum samples were noted for HPyV9. The seroresponses against HPyV12, NJPyV and LIPyV were generally very low.

Seroreactivity was further analysed in relation to age by investigating potential trends within the five age-categories shown in **Figure 4**. A significant age-dependent increase of seroreactivity was observed for JCPyV, HPyV6 and HPyV7 (Jonckheere's trend test: P<0.001, P<0.001 and P=0.047, respectively). For HPyV9 a substantial increase was seen for the 60-69 age category. In contrast, for BKPyV and TSPyV a significant decrease of seroreactivity was observed in the higher age categories (Jonckheere's trend test: P<0.001 for both viruses). No significant trends were observed for the other HPyVs. The analyses were not performed for HPyV12, NJPyV and LIPyV, due to low numbers of seropositives.

In general, no differences in seroreactivity between the sexes were observed, but for HPyV7 the overall median seroreactivity among seropositives was higher in men (9250 MFI in men vs. 6464 MFI in women, Mann-Whitney U test: P=0.018).

Discussion

In this study we determined the seroprevalence and seroreactivity of all currently known human polyomaviruses in a large Dutch blood donor cohort. Our findings indicate that seropositivity for many polyomaviruses is common in this healthy population. At the same time, for some recently identified HPyVs the seroprevalence was low.

With regard to most HPyVs that have been serologically analysed before, the seroprevalences reported here are in line with previous seroepidemiological studies in immunocompetent populations from different continents (61,62,65,67,86,113,117-119), therefore we assume our findings to be representative for most other immunocompetent populations. For KIPyV, HPyV6, HPyV7 and TSPyV an increase in seroprevalence with higher age was noticed, which has also been reported previously (61,62,65,67,86). This could reflect continuous viral exposure throughout life or frequent reactivation of persistent infection, which can boost HPyV seroresponses as well (91). Furthermore, we observed a decrease in seroprevalence with age for MCPyV, which was not published before to our knowledge, (61,62,65), and could represent a cohort effect. HPyV infections with a stable seroprevalence in adult life are probably acquired during childhood, as previously indicated by a rapid increase in

seropositivity during the first years of life (62,65,120). Due to the age restrictions on becoming a blood donor in the Netherlands, we did not investigate the HPyV seroreactivity patterns in individuals under 18 years of age or older than 69.

The seroreactivity of seropositive individuals differed with age between the HPyVs, with decreasing intensity for BKPyV and TSPyV, increasing intensity for JCPyV, HPyV6 and HPyV7, and stable intensity for KIPyV, WUPyV, MWPyV and STLPyV. Comparable trends were obtained in healthy Australian, Czech and Italian populations (65-68,86), though MCPyV seroreactivity did not increase with age in our cohort. The decrease in seroreactivity for BKPyV and TSPyV suggests gradually less immunolog-ical boosting, possibly related to a decrease in environmental exposure or diminished reactivation of these HPyVs, while the increase in seroreactivity seen for JCPyV, HPyV6 and HPyV7 might reflect continuous exposure or reactivation (91).

The serological profile of HPyV9 is unique compared to other polyomaviruses, with a small subset of seropositive individuals that display very high seroreactivity in a background of weak seroresponders. It was previously shown that HPyV9 has unique receptor binding properties, and preferentially binds to a ligand which cannot be synthesized by humans, but can be acquired through diet (red meat and milk)⁽¹²¹⁾. The necessity for a dietary ligand might explain why this virus is less prevalent among humans than most other HPyVs. Whether highly HPyV9seroreactive subjects indeed ingest more dairy and meat-containing products could be the subject of further study.

For HPyV12, NJPyV and LIPyV we detected a very low seroprevalence, approximately 5%, with low seroreactivity for all three. In a pilot study, we obtained similar results and confirmed the antigenicity of the used HPyV12- and NJPyV-VP1 antigens by specific polyclonal antibody recognition (117). Therefore, we believe the observed low seroprevalence of these polyomaviruses to be genuine, and we consider the possibility that these polyomaviruses do not frequently circulate in humans, and perhaps do not represent human polyomaviruses at all. For HPyV12, this would fit with recent observations suggesting that HPyV12 represents a shrew rather than a human polyomavirus (36). For NJPyV it could very well be that the only published patient was infected from an animal reservoir under exceptional circumstances, when fleeing from flooding during hurricane Sandy(32). LIPyV was identified in a skin swab sample and subsequently detected in a small subset of oral fluids (2%), skin swabs (2%) and eyebrow hair follicles (0.2%)(33). In this case, the measured low seroprevalence might reflect the LIPyV detection rate, though more studies are needed to further clarify the epidemiology of LIPyV. In contrast to our data, a very recent study reported 90% seroprevalence for HPyV12, in an Italian adult population (122). This percentage is considerably higher than our finding and the 20% seroprevalence obtained previously for HPyV12 by Ehlers and co-workers using recombinant VP1 and VP1-based VLP ELISA (31,36). Since HPyV VP1-based and VLP based assays generally obtain comparable results, as we have recently demonstrated for BKPyV (117), we have no explanation thus far for this large discrepancy except differences in cut-off value determination and striking geographic differences in virus exposure. Suboptimal HPyV12 antigen recognition, resulting from the use of a premature translation initiation site in HPyV12 VP1, causing a 16 amino acids longer version of VP1 (107), was experimentally ruled out (S1 Fig). Also for NJPyV a much higher seroprevalence was found in the Italian population (50%) than in our population (5%) (122). Overall, more (sero)epidemiological studies are needed to solve these discrepancies and to define the natural host(s) of these viruses, for example by studying seroprevalence in different geographic regions while using comparable serological methods.

In conclusion, by analysing a large group of Dutch blood donors we showed that most HPyV infections are common, although we found little indication of HPyV12, NJPyV and LIPyV circulation in humans. Considering that blood donors are persistently infected with, on average, nine different polyomaviruses and assuming that episodes of viremia sometimes occur, the consequences for the safety of blood transfusion, especially for immunocompromised recipients, remains to be established.

Acknowledgements

The authors would like to thank Ed Bakker for his help with the collection of the serum samples and Boris Hogema for his help with proper selection of the donations.









Chapter 4 Prevalence of DNA of fourteen human polyomaviruses determined in blood donors

Sergio Kamminga^{1,2}, Els van der Meijden², Caroline de Brouwer², Mariet Feltkamp^{2*}, Hans Zaaijer^{1*}

Author affiliations:

- ¹ Department of Blood-borne Infections, Sanquin Research, Amsterdam, Netherlands;
- ² Department of Medical Microbiology, Leiden University Medical Center, Leiden, The Netherlands
- * Authors contributed equally

Abstract

Background Human polyomaviruses (HPyVs), like herpesviruses, cause persistent infection in a large part of the population. In immunocompromised and elderly patients, polyomaviruses cause severe diseases such as nephropathy (BKPyV), progressive multifocal leukoencephalopathy (JCPyV) and skin cancer (MCPyV). Like cytomegalovirus, donor-derived polyomavirus can cause disease in kidney transplant recipients. Possibly blood components transmit polyomaviruses as well. To study this possibility, as a first step we determined the presence of polyomavirus DNA in Dutch blood donations.

Study design and methods Blood donor serum samples (N=1016) were analysed for the presence of DNA of 14 HPyVs using HPyV species-specific quantitative PCRs. PCR-positive samples were subjected to confirmation by sequencing. Individual PCR findings were compared with the previously reported polyomavirus-serostatus.

Results MCPyV DNA was detected in 39 donors (3,8%); JCPyV and TSPyV DNA in five (both 0.5%), and HPyV9 DNA in four donors (0.4%). BKPyV, WUPyV, HPyV6, MWPyV and LIPyV DNA was detected in one or two donors. Amplicon sequencing confirmed the expected product for BKPyV, JCPyV, WUPyV, MCPyV, HPyV6, TSPyV, MWPyV, HPyV9 and LIPyV. For JCPyV a significant association was observed between detection of viral DNA and the level of specific IgG antibodies.

Conclusion In 5.4% of Dutch blood donors polyomavirus DNA was detected, including DNA from pathogenic polyomaviruses such as JC polyomavirus. As a next step, the infectivity of polyomavirus in donor blood and transmission via blood components to immunocompromised recipients should be investigated.

Introduction

Human polyomaviruses (HPyVs) cause asymptomatic persistent infection in healthy humans,⁽⁴³⁾ whereas they can cause severe disease in immunocompromised patients and elderly persons. Latter groups increasingly receive blood components, though the presence of HPyVs in blood donors has not been studied extensively. Transfusion-transmitted HPyV infection has not been reported, which can be explained by lack of such transmissions, or by an erroneous assumption that HPyV-related disease in immunocompromised patients always is caused by reactivation of their own, hitherto silent infection. In kidney transplant patients a substantial proportion of BKPyV infections and pathology is donorderived.^(123,124)

Polyomaviruses are ubiquitous viruses that frequently infect human beings. During childhood the seroprevalence of most HPyVs rapidly increases, sometimes reaching 100%, (35,61,62,65) Polyomaviruses can be detected in healthy persons. for example in skin, (26) urine, (82) tonsillar tissue (84) and respiratory samples. (83) Despite the persistence of these viruses, little is known about the occurrence of viremia in the healthy population, especially regarding the recently discovered HPyVs. In immunocompromised patients, HPyVs can be found also in blood and cerebrospinal fluid. (91,125) Polyomavirus-associated diseases are increasingly relevant in the immunocompromised population. Two well-known examples of polyomavirus-associated disease are BK polyomavirus (BKPyV)-associated nephropathy (70) and JC polyomavirus (JCPyV)-associated progressive multifocal leukoencephalopathy (PML). (126) Nowadays these severe conditions are primarily seen, respectively, in immunosuppressed kidney transplant recipients and patients on immunomodulatory drugs, such as multiple sclerosis patients taking natalizumab. (126) In the past decade, with the identification of at least ten novel HPyVs, (23-33,78,79) the number of polyomavirus-associated diseases has increased and now includes Merkel cell carcinoma (MCC) and trichodysplasia spinulosa (TS). MCC, caused by Merkel cell polyomavirus (MCPyV), is an aggressive, potentially lethal tumour that occurs in the elderly and in immunocompromised patients.⁽²⁵⁾ TS, caused by trichodysplasia spinulosa polyomavirus (TSPyV), is a dysplastic and disfiguring skin disease that is especially found in solid organ transplant patients and lymphocytic leukaemia patients.⁽²⁷⁾ HPyV6 and -7 cause pruritic and dyskeratotic dermatoses in immunocompromised patients.(59) KIPyV and WUPyV were first detected in human nasopharyngeal aspirates from patients with respiratory infection.(23,24) MWPyV and STLPyV were found in stool samples of healthy children.(28,30) HPyV9 was discovered in the serum of a kidney transplant

patient.⁽⁷⁹⁾ HPyV12, NJPyV and LIPyV were all identified in human samples, ⁽³¹⁻³³⁾ however, seroprevalence of these viruses is low. Vaccination or proven effective antiviral therapy are not available for human polyomaviruses.

HPyVs are non-enveloped viruses, 40-50 nanometre in diameter, with circular double-stranded DNA genomes. It can be expected that common pathogen reduction techniques used in blood banking have limited efficacy against HPyVs, because these viruses are non-enveloped. HPyVs have been isolated from lymphocytes and hence leukoreduction of blood donations might decrease the presence of HPyVs in donated blood, but the extent of this reduction is unknown.(127-129) It is uncertain whether higher levels of specific HPyV-antibodies decrease potential infectivity by neutralization. On one hand, kidney transplant recipients with a high antibody titre against BKPyV have a lower risk of developing BKPyV viremia compared to recipients with low antibody titres, but on the other hand kidney transplant patients have an increased risk of developing BKPyV viremia after receiving a kidney from a donor with high BKPyV antibody levels.(88,124) No group is fully protected and as such it seems likely that a seropositive transfusion recipient isn't necessarily protected against polyomavirus infection.

Since latent, persistent polyomavirus infections bear a risk for the immunocompromised, one can wonder about the contribution of blood components as a vehicle for HPyV transmission. To start answering this question, we recently determined the seroprevalence of all known, thus far fourteen, HPyVs in a large group of blood donors, and estimated that each blood donor is persistently infected with on average nine HPyVs.⁽³⁵⁾ To further explore the risk from these potentially blood-transmitted viruses, in the current study we analysed the same blood donor cohort by HPyV-specific PCRs for the presence of circulating genomic DNA of all currently known HPyVs.⁽³⁵⁾

Materials and methods

DNA extraction

Nucleic acid extraction was performed on a MagNA Pure LC instrument (Roche Diagnostics, Rotkreuz, Switzerland) using the MagNA Pure LC DNA Isolation Kit Large Volume, according to the manufacturer's instructions, with an input volume of 1000 μ L and an output volume of 65 μ L. Extraction efficiency and PCR inhibition was controlled by adding a fixed concentration of phocine herpesvirus (PhHV) DNA to the lysis buffer that was added to each sample. (130)

Polyomavirus DNA detection

Each sample was analysed for the presence of HPyV genomic DNA with the help of three real-time multiplex qPCRs (Multiplex 1, 2 and 3), developed to detect fourteen PyVs (**Table 1**). The PCRs for BKPyV, HPyV6, HPyV7, TSPyV and HPyV9 were previously designed and described. (77,101,131) The PCRs for JCPyV, WUPyV and MCPyV were developed by other research groups. (132-134) Novel primers and probes were designed for KIPyV, MWPyV, STLPyV, HPyV12, NJPyV and LIPyV using Geneious software 10.2.4 (Biomatters, Auckland, New Zealand) (**Table 1** and **Supplementary Table 1**). Multiplex 1 was developed to detect MCPyV, HPyV6, -7, TSPyV and HPyV9; Multiplex 2 to detect BKPyV, WUPyV, MWPyV, NJPyV (and the internal control PhHV), and Multiplex 3 to detect JCPyV, KIPyV, STLPyV, HPyV12 and LIPyV.

The PCR mix (total volume 25 µl) consisted of Qiagen HotStarTaq Master Mix kit (Qiagen, Venlo, the Netherlands), MgCl₂, primers, probes (see **Supplementary Table 1** for concentrations) and 10 µL of input DNA isolate. Cycling conditions for the PCRs were as follows: 95°C for 15 minutes, followed by 45 cycles of 95°C for 30 seconds, 60°C for 30 seconds and 72°C for 30 seconds. qPCRs were performed on a Bio-Rad CFX96 Real-Time PCR Detection System (Bio-Rad Laboratories, Hercules, CA, USA). Analysis of the qPCR data was performed using Bio-Rad CFX Manager version 3.1 (Bio-Rad Laboratories, Hercules, CA, USA). Baseline threshold values were determined separately for each target and fluorescence drift correction was applied.

PCR efficiency and analytical sensitivity of each PyV PCR were determined on replicates of serial dilution series of 10.000 to 1 copy per reaction of a plasmid containing a single cloned copy of the PyV target gene (VP1 or Large T-antigen), and was defined as the ability of the assay to detect the target concentration with a probability higher than 95% in a number of replicates (Supplementary Tables 2 and 3).

PCR product sequencing

PCR products amplified with a Ct value below 40 were analysed by Sanger sequencing for confirmation, with a maximum of 10 positive samples (amplicons) per HPyV. The generated PCR products were run on a 2% agarose gel. Bands of the expected size (74-150 bp) were isolated using the Bioline Isolate II PCR and Gel kit (Bioline Reagents, London, United Kingdom), ligated and cloned in E. coli using TOPO TA cloning kit (Thermo Fisher Scientific, Waltham, MA, USA), according to manufacturer's instructions. For each successful ligation, three colonies per plate were picked and plasmid DNA was isolated with NucleoSpin Plasmid EasyPure isolation kit (Macherey-Nagel, Düren, Germany). Sanger sequencing was performed on an ABI3730xl system (Thermo Fisher Scientific, Waltham, MA, USA) using M13 forward primer.

| Table 1. P | yV PCR primer | 's and p | robes | | |
|------------|------------------------------|----------|------------------------|---|--------------------------|
| Multi-plex | Target species Refseq no. | Gene | Product length (bp) | Sense primer sequence (5 [,] -3') | Probe sequenc (5'-3') |
| - | MCPyV NC_010277 | L | 149 | CCACAGCCAGAGCTCTTCCT | CY5-TCCCAGG |
| | LDV//G | | | | |

| Multi-plex | Target species | Gene | Product length | Sense primer sequence | Probe sequence | Antisense primer sequence | |
|------------|---------------------|------|----------------|------------------------------|--|-----------------------------|--|
| | MCPVV | 1 | | | | | |
| - | NC_010277 | - | 149 | CCACAGCCAGAGCICIICCI | CY5-ICCCAGGCIICAGACICCCA* | IGGIGGICICCICICIGCIACIG | |
| - | HPyV6 NC_014406 | VP1 | 150 | GTAGGGTATGCTGGTAAC | YAK-CTCTCCTCTGTCTGAAGTGAACTCTAA | CAGGAATTGTCTAAACATCATATC | |
| - | HPyV7 NC_014407 | VP1 | 116 | GTGCTGATATGGTTGGAA | TXR-AGCCTGTACTGTTCTCTGGTTACT | TCTGCAGTGGACTCTAAA | |
| - | TSPyV NC_014361 | VP1 | 104 | GAGTCTAAGGACAACTATGG | Q705-СТТ ВТ ССТ В СТ В СТ В СТ В СТ В СТ В С | CTAGCTGTACTGTAGGTTG | |
| - | HPyV9 NC_015150 | VP1 | 109 | CCTGTAAGCTCTCTCCTTA | FAM-CTTGTTCTCTGGTCTTATGCCTCA | сстватааттствасттсттс | |
| 0 | BKPyV NC_001538 | VP1 | 06 | GAAAAGGAGAGTGTCCAGGG | FAM-CCAAAAAGCCAAAGGAACCC | GAACTTCTACTCCTCCTTTTTATTAGT | |
| 7 | WUPyV NC_009539 | VP1 | 74 | AACCAGGAAGGTCACCAAGAAG | TXR-CAACCCACAAGAGTGCAAAGCCTTCC | CTACCCCTCCTTTTCTGACTTGTTT | |
| 7 | MWPyV NC_018102 | VP1 | 86 | GACACCACTGACAGTTGAG | CY5-CCAAGGATGGGCAATGATGTAAAAACA | GGATCACTGTAGCCATACCAT | |
| 7 | NJPyV NC_024118 | VP1 | 135 | CCCACCAAGTAAGTAAC | YAK-AAGTGTCCTATACCTACTCCAGTGC | CAGAGTTCAATTTCAGTAGTA | |
| n | JCPyV NC_001699 | 5 | 129 | GTCTCCCCATACCAACATTAGCTT | YAK-TCTTTCCACTGCACAATCCTCTCATGAATG | GGTTTAGGCCAGTTGCTGACTT | |
| n | KIPyV NC_009238 | VP1 | 148 | AAGTTCCCCGGGTACAAACTC | TXR-GGTAGAAGTACTAGCCGCAGTACCACTGT | CCATCCTGAGCAGCTGTTGTA | |
| ო | STLPyV NC_020106 | VP1 | 101 | ТТ СААААТ СССААААА САААААТСТ | CY5- AGATGCACCTCACAGACATGTCCAATGGA | TGGCACGGATCATATTCACATCT | |
| m | HPyV12 NC_020890 | VP1 | 139 | AAGGGCTGTAAGAAATCC | FAM-CCAGTATCTGCTCTCCTAACCAGT | CTCCAAACCCTCATATACC | |
| ę | LIPyV NC_034253 | VP1 | 83 | TGACAGGTGACAATTCCCAGG | Q705-AGAGGAAGTACGCGTCTATGATGGCAGAG | CCTTGGCAGATCTAACCCTCC | |

Abbreviations: LT: Large T; VP1: Viral Protein 1; S: Sense; AS: Antisense

*Probe modified from original article Goh S et al. Emerg Infect Dis. 2009 Mar;15(3):489-91.

Study population

The study population consisted of 1050 serum samples from healthy, Dutch blood donors. The samples were previously used for routine blood donor screening for human immunodeficiency virus, hepatitis B and C virus and syphilis.⁽³⁵⁾ Out of 1050 samples, 34 were excluded due to insufficient volume for DNA extraction or due to inhibition in qPCR (**Figure 1**). The presence of polyomavirus antibodies in this sample set was determined previously. On average, a donor from this population is seropositive for nine different polyomavirus species and seropositivity ranged from 5% to 100% depending on polyomavirus species.⁽³⁵⁾ Basic population demographics (age and sex) of the fully screened donor population is shown in **Table 2**. Samples from all regions of the Netherlands were included, as reported previously.⁽³⁵⁾

Each blood donor gave permission to use residual blood samples for studies of blood-borne agents. Hence, Sanquin's scientific board and the secretary of Sanquin's Ethical Advisory board decided that for this study additional permission from the Ethical Advisory Board is not needed. The blood donors fulfilled all criteria for blood donation eligibility.

PyV serology

The polyomavirus serostatus of all blood donors was determined and described in a previous study⁽³⁵⁾, using a multiplex immunoassay as previously described,⁽⁸⁷⁾ employing a GST-VP1 fusion protein for each PyV as antibody-binding antigen.

Statistics

Statistics were performed using IBM SPSS Statistics version 23 (Armonk, NY, USA). Chi-squared tests were used to compare PCR results and seropositivity, age category or sex. Mann-Whitney U tests were used to compare seroreactivity results between samples positive or negative in qPCR analysis.

| donors |
|------------|
| 016 blood |
| es from 1 |
| n sample |
| s of serui |
| e results |
| sequenc |
| PCR and |
| of HPyV I |
| Overview |
| Table 2. |

| Any Ct Ct <ℓ | | | | | | . or positive | s per sex and | ם מאר כמוכאס | | | |
|--|------------|--|---|-----------------|-------------------|------------------|------------------|------------------|------------------|------------------|-----------|
| BKPyV 5 (0.5) 1 (0.1 JCPyV 14 (1.4) 5 (0. KIPyV 2 (0.2) 1 (0.1 | 40 (%) tol | Successfully sequenced / tal sequenced | HPyV-confirmed / successfully sequenced (%) | Š | × | | | Age category | | | copies/ml |
| BKPyV 5 (0.5) 1 (0.1 JCpyV 14 (1.4) 5 (0.1 KIPyV 2 (0.2) 1 (0.1 | | | | Male (n=501) | Female (n=509) | 18-29 (n=197) | 30-39 (n=201) | 40-49 (n=202) | 50-59 (n=206) | 60-69 (n=204) | |
| JCPyV 14 (1.4) 5 (0.1 KIPyV 2 (0.2) 1 (0.1 | (1: | 1/1 | 1/1 (100) | 0 | - | 0 | 0 | - | 0 | 0 | 55 |
| KIPyV 2 (0.2) 1 (0.1 | .5) | 5/5 | 5/5 (100) | 2 | თ | 0 | - | - | 2 | - | 9-37 |
| | (1: | 1/1 | 0/1 | ÷ | 0 | 0 | ۲ | 0 | 0 | 0 | 46 |
| WUPyV 3 2 (0.2) 2 (0 | .2) | 2/2 | 1/2 (50) | - | - | 0 | 0 | ÷ | 0 | - | 8-30 |
| MCPyV 63 (6.2) 39 (5 | (3.8) | 9/10 | 7/9 (78) | 23 | 16 | £ | 2 | 12 | 7 | 10 | 24-452 |
| HPyV6 4 (0.4) 1 (0.1 | (1: | 1/1 | 1/1 (100) | 0 | - | 0 | 0 | 0 | - | 0 | 13 |
| HPyV7 7 (0.7) 0 | | | | 0 | 0 | 0 | 0 | 0 | 0 | 0 | ı |
| TSPyV 7 (0.7) 5 (0. | .5) | 5/5 | 5/5 (100) | 4 | - | 0 | 2 | 2 | - | 0 | 9-81 |
| HPyV9 6 (0.6) 4 (0. | .4) | 3/4 | 1/3 (33) | ო | | 0 | 2 | - | - | 0 | 7-68 |
| MWPyV 3 (0.3) 1 (0.1 | (F: | 1/1 | 1/1 (100) | | 0 | | 0 | 0 | 0 | 0 | 15 |
| STLPyV 1 (0.1) 1 (0.1 | (1: | 1/1 | 0/1 | ÷ | 0 | 0 | ÷ | 0 | 0 | 0 | 30 |
| HPyV12 11 (1.1) 10 (1. | 1.0) | 10/10 | 0/10 | 9 | 4 | 0 | 2 | ო | 4 | - | 2-13 |
| NJPyV 3 (0.3) 1 (0.1 | (F: | 1/1 | 0/1 | - | 0 | 0 | - | 0 | 0 | 0 | 123 |
| LIPyV 6 (0.6) 2 (0. | .2) | 2/2 | 2/2 (100) | 2 | 0 | 0 | - | 0 | - | 0 | 13-31 |
| Any PyV* 111 (10.9) 64 (6 | (6.3) | ı | 55 (5.4) † | 45 | 28 | 9 | 16 | 21 | 17 | 13 | 55‡ |

* Codetection of multiple polyomaviruses in a single donor counts as one for the total no. of positive donors

Total number of true positive donors based on positive PCR results with Ct value below 40 and sequence confirmation of at least one PCR product

‡ Median viral load

+

Abbreviations: HPyV: human polyomavirus; Ct: cycle threshold



Figure 1. Flow chart for study population.

Numbers between brackets indicate serum samples that were successfully isolated, PCR-amplified and assessed with the immunoassay. Boxes on the right side of the figure state reasons for exclusion of samples.

Results

Polyomavirus PCR validation

The analytical sensitivity was 10-15 copies/reaction for all PCRs, except for the MCPyV PCR, which reliably detects 100 copies/reaction, although the dilution with 10 copies/reaction was detected in 90% of cases (**Supplementary Table 2**). High concentrations of non-target polyomavirus DNA with a cycle threshold (Ct)-value between 25-30) did not inhibit the PCR (**Supplementary Table 4A-N**). In addition, a panel of common double-stranded DNA viruses containing herpes simplex virus 1 and 2, varicella-zoster virus, cytomegalovirus, Epstein-Barr virus and adenovirus was tested negative in each HPyV PCR (data not shown). In short, all HPyV PCRs detect their target in a sensitive and specific manner.

Presence of polyomavirus DNA in blood donors

Serum samples from 1016 blood donors were analysed for the presence of HPyV DNA using three multiplex PCRs. In **Table 2** the PCR results are summarized. MCPyV DNA was the most prevalent, detected in 39/1016 (3.8%) donors, with a viral load ranging between 24-452 genome equivalent copies/ml. Sequencing confirmed the presence

of the MCPyV DNA in the PCR product in most samples (78%) (Table 2). JCPyV, TSPyV and HPyV9 were detected, respectively, in 5 (0.5%, range 9-37 copies/ml), 5 (0.5%, range 9-81 copies/ml) and 4 (0.4%, range 7-68 copies/ml) donors. Sequencing confirmed the presence of virus-specific DNA in 100% of cases for JCPvV and TSPyV, and in 33% for HPyV9. When sequencing was successful but HPyV-specific sequences were not present, especially human genomic DNA and primer-dimers were detected (Table 2). For example, the HPyV12 positive findings in 10 donors with a low range of 2-13 copies/ml, could not be not confirmed at all by sequencing. The other HPyVs were detected in only one or two donors, while HPyV7 was not detected at all. Summarizing, we found 64 donors to be HPyV PCR-positive (6.3%), of which the detection of specific viral DNA was confirmed (in part) for BKPyV, JCPyV, WUPyV, MCPyV, HPyV6, TSPyV, HPyV9, MWPyV and LIPyV in 55 blood donors (5.4%). HPyV codetection was observed in four donors (0.4%) and involved TSPyV, HPyV9 and LIPyV (all sequence-verified); WUPyV, TSPyV and HPyV9 (WUPyV and TSPyV sequence-verified); TSPyV, KIPyV and NJPyV (TSPyV sequence-verified); TSPyV and HPyV9 (TSPyV sequence-verified), respectively. The distribution of polyomavirus detection over sex and age category is summarized in **Table 2**. For none of the HPyVs a correlation was found between the detection in serum and sex or age category of the donor.

Previously we analysed every sample included in this study serologically for HPyV infection, (35) which enabled us to compare the HPyV PCR findings with HPyV serostatus (seropositivity) and seroreactivity (the median seroresponse given as median fluorescence intensity value) (**Table 3**). In case of BKPyV, JCPyV, KIPyV, WUPyV, MCPyV, HPyV6, TSPyV and MWPyV, 77-100% of the positive PCR findings were obtained in donors seropositive for the detected HPyV. The HPyV9, STLPyV, HPyV12, NJPyV and LIPyV DNA-positive samples, however, were all from donors seronegative for the HPyV that was detected. No significant correlation was found between presence of polyomavirus DNA and seropositivity. Seroreactivity was comparable between DNA-positive and negative samples for all HPyVs, except JCPyV where significantly higher seroresponses were measured in the JCPyV DNA-positive samples (Mann-Whitney U test, P=0.005) (**Table 3**).

Discussion

In this study we determined the presence of polyomavirus DNA in serum samples taken from healthy, Dutch blood donors. Our results show that the prevalence of polyomavirus DNA varies from 0% to 3.8% depending on HPyV species. Importantly,

we detected DNA from known pathogenic polyomaviruses, BKPyV (0.1%), JCPyV (0.5%), MCPyV (3.8%) and TSPyV (0.5%), which suggests that these viruses may be present in blood components.

| РуV | Seroprevalence* | Seropositives among PCR positives (%) | Median seroreactivity in MFI among PCR positives | Median seroreactivity in MFI among PCR negatives | p-value † |
|--------|-----------------|---|---|---|----------------------|
| BKPyV | 99 | 1/1 (100) | 22519 | 18936 | 0.635 |
| JCPyV | 62 | 5/5 (100) | 8382 | 828 | 0.005 |
| KIPyV | 92 | 1/1 (100) | 11956 | 9755 | 0.775 |
| WUPyV | 99 | 2/2 (100) | 20796 | 12170 | 0.108 |
| MCPyV | 82 | 30/39 (77) | 9799 | 6297 | 0.239 |
| HPyV6 | 83 | 1/1 (100) | 3022 | 8140 | 0.575 |
| HPyV7 | 71 | - | - | - | - |
| TSPyV | 79 | 4/5 (80) | 716 | 6575 | 0.391 |
| HPyV9 | 19 | 0/4 (0) | -231 | -69 | 0.101 |
| MWPyV | 100 | 1/1 (100) | 11023 | 10425 | 0.909 |
| STLPyV | 65 | 0/1 (0) | -263 | 873 | 0.126 |
| HPyV12 | 4 | 0/10 (0) | -288 | -259 | 0.596 |
| NJPyV | 5 | 0/1 (0) | 367 | 204 | 0.466 |
| LIPyV | 6 | 0/2 (0) | -143 | -224 | 0.514 |

| Table 3. Overview of polyomavirus serostatus and DNAemia in fully screened pop | ulation |
|--|---------|
| (N=1010) | |

* Overall percentage seroprevalence, as previously described by Kamminga et al. PLOS ONE. 2018 okt;13(10):e0206273.

+ P-value calculated with Mann-Whitney U test

Abbreviations: HPyV: Human polyomavirus; MFI: Median Fluorescence Intensity

The prevalence of polyomavirus DNA (5.4%) was based on PCR amplification (with Ct values below 40) and sequence-confirmation of at least one amplicon per HPyV, which was obtained for BKPyV, JCPyV, WUPyV, MCPyV, HPyV6, TSPyV, HPyV9, MWPyV and LIPyV. Since blood donors in the Netherlands are selected on optimal health and minimal risk exposure (amongst others to infectious diseases), we believe that our estimation of HPyV presence is a minimum estimator of HPyV prevalences in the general, adult Dutch population, and probably in other western populations as well, as little differences in PyV seroprevalence are observed between these populations. (35,61,62,65)

A strength of this study is the inclusion of many blood donors and all fourteen currently described HPyVs. Except for MCPyV (see below), the most likely explanation for our findings is that the implicated blood donors were viremic at the time of blood collection. However, HPyV DNAemia as the result of disintegrating persistently infected cells cannot be excluded, which could be relevant for BKPyV and JCPyV that have been found in peripheral blood mononuclear cells from healthy persons. (127,128,135) In a study of 400 plasma samples of American blood donors, BKPyV and JCPyV DNA was not detected, (63) which might be explained by the smaller size of the study. Alternatively, technical or geographic differences could account for the negative outcome in that study.

Since HPyV infections are generally acquired during childhood, (62,65) HPyV-detections probably result from persistent HPyV infections. Although primary infection is a possible explanation for PCR positive-donors that are seronegative. Whether our findings result from continuous HPyV viremia, which occasionally exceeds the lower limit of PCR detection, or from an occasional viremic episode in the background of an otherwise latent infection cannot be deduced from our cross-sectional dataset. Furthermore, infectivity of the suspected HPyV, or loss of infectivity after nuclease treatment, to assess the presence of intact virions, will be difficult because of the detected low viral load levels (median 55 copies/ml serum). Potential infectivity of blood components could be assessed by documented seroconversion or an increase in seroreactivity in the recipient after administration of blood components.

MCPyV was detected in 3.8% of serum samples in our study, which is comparable to other studies. For example, a study of 190 blood donors reported MCPyV in 2.6% of sera (136) and another study of 621 sera from 394 elderly, hospitalized patients above 65 years of age found a prevalence of 9.9% for MCPyV, (137) which suggests that the prevalence may increase with age. MCPyV has been detected in other blood compartments, for example in 22% of buffy coats from blood donors. (138) Interestingly, MCPyV was detected with whole-genome sequencing as part of the blood virome (139) and also with metagenomics in blood components eligible for transfusion. (140,141) KIPyV and WUPyV DNA have previously been reported in plasma from blood donors with prevalence ranging from 0.5%-3.1% for KIPyV and 0.8% for WUPyV. (142,143) This is slightly higher than our finding of 0.1% and 0.2% in serum for KIPyV and WUPyV respectively. Prevalence data in serum from healthy individuals for the other polyomaviruses is currently lacking.

We consider it likely that a substantial part of the relatively high number of MCPyV PCR-positives is explained by the high prevalence (>50%) of MCPyV (DNA) on

skin of healthy individuals, as reported in several publications. (144-146) During the hollow needle venepuncture, before the blood is actually collected, a small 'biopsy' of skin tissue is punched that could act as a source of virus. For TSPyV, however, this scenario is unlikely, as it is hardly found on the skin of asymptomatic immunocompetent and immunocompromised individuals. (144) In addition to the potential 'contamination' of donor blood through the skin punch, there is a theoretical risk of MCPyV contamination by blood bank and laboratory personnel, who carry MCPyV as well.

The seroprevalence of each PyV was determined within the same sample set in a previous study. (35) Despite a high concordance (\geq 77%) between DNA positivity and seropositivity for most prevalent PyVs, we found no statistically significant correlation between the two. This lack of association is likely caused by the low number of PCR positives among the generally high number of seropositives. The HPyV9, STLPyV, NJPyV and LIPyV positive donors were seronegative for these polyomaviruses, which could be explained by primary infection or a lack of productive infection. The latter seems likely for NJPyV and LIPyV as these viruses may not have humans as their primary host. (35) For JCPyV we did observe an association between the height of the seroresponse and JCPyV DNA detections. An association between viral load and seroreactivity was previously observed for both BKPyV in kidney transplant patients (88,91) and for JCPyV, where individuals with high seroreactivity had higher viral loads compared to individuals with low seroreactivity.(147) JCPyV serology is also used as risk marker for PML. (148) This suggests that there is an association between JCPyV viral load and JCPyV serology, both in healthy individuals and in patients at risk for PML.

Some limitations of this study include the chance of misclassification by sample contamination and the chance of erroneous detection. In addition, this study shows the presence of viral DNA, rather than the presence of encapsidated, infectious viral particles. The risk of lab-contamination is reduced by storing and preparing reagents in separate rooms, using disposables and using no-template controls. To further limit the chance of erroneous detection, prevalence calculations were based only on positive PCR results with a Ct value below 40. Furthermore, amplicon sequencing of samples (with a maximum of 10) with a Ct value below 40 was performed to check for presence of the expected product. For most PCRs the expected product was detected, though sometimes detection was difficult, for example in case of codetection (TSPyV and HPyV9). Out of curiosity, we analysed several very weak PCR-positive samples and could confirm the presence of JCPyV, HPyV12, in all 10 PCR

positive samples human genomic DNA was detected, which is probably amplified in a non-specific manner, because of the absence of specific DNA template. Furthermore, the finding of a polyomavirus similar to HPyV12 in shrews (36) combined with a reported low seroprevalence (35) suggests little circulation of this virus in humans.

In summary, DNA of HPyVs was detected in 5.4% of serum samples from a large cross-section of Dutch blood donors. The detection of polyomavirus DNA in these samples suggests that polyomaviruses are present in blood components eligible for transfusion, which should be further investigated using infectivity assays and a donor-recipient transmission study.

Polyomavirus prevalence in blood donors 61











Chapter 5 Translating genomic exploration of the family Polyomaviridae into confident polyomavirus detection

Sergio Kamminga^{1,2*#}, Igor A. Sidorov^{1*}, Michaël Tadesse¹, Els van der Meijden¹, Caroline de Brouwer¹, Hans Zaaijer², Alexander E. Gorbalenva^{1,3**#}, Mariet C.W. Feltkamp^{1**}

Author affiliations:

- ¹ Department of Medical Microbiology, Leiden University Medical Center, Leiden, The Netherlands
- ² Department of Blood-borne Infections, Sanquin Research, Amsterdam, The Netherlands
- ³ Faculty of Bioengineering and Bioinformatics, Lomonosov Moscow State University, Moscow, Russia

The contents of this chapter have been revised and published. For the current version, please visit Kamminga, S., Sidorov, I.A., Tadesse, M., van der Meijden, E., de Brouwer, C., Zaaijer, H.L., Feltkamp, M.C.W., Gorbalenya, A.E., 2022. Translating genomic exploration of the family Polyomaviridae into confident human polyomavirus detection. iScience 25, 103613. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.isci.2021.103613
Summary

The family *Polyomaviridae* are ubiquitous dsDNA viruses that establish persistent infection early in life. Screening for human polyomaviruses (HPyVs), which comprise 14 diverse species, relies upon species-specific qPCRs whose validity may be challenged by accelerating genomic exploration of the virosphere. We explored this premise by testing 65 published HPyV qPCR assays *in silico* against the currently known 1784 PyV genome sequences that were divided in targets and non-targets, based on anticipated species-specificity of each qPCR. We identified several cases of problematic qPCR performance that were confirmed *in vitro* and corrected through using degenerate oligos. Furthermore, our study ranked four out of 52 tested BKPyV qPCRs as remaining of consistently high quality in the wake of recent PyV discoveries and showed how sensitivity of most other qPCRs could be rescued by annealing temperature adjustment. This study establishes an efficient framework for ensuring confidence in available HPyV qPCRs in the genomic era.

Introduction

Polyomaviruses are ubiquitous dsDNA viruses that are transmitted early in life and establish asymptomatic persistent infection (62,65). On average, a healthy individual is infected with nine different HPyVs during life-time (35,61). In elderly and immunocompromised patients, HPyVs can cause symptomatic infection. For example, BK polyomavirus (BKPyV) is the causative agent of BKPyV-associated nephropathy in kidney transplant recipients and of hemorrhagic cystitis in hematopoietic stem cell transplantation recipients⁽¹⁴⁹⁾. JC polyomavirus (JCPyV) causes progressive multifocal leukoencephalopathy in HIV patients and in multiple sclerosis patients on immunomodulatory medication (55). Merkel cell polyomavirus (MCPyV) causes approximately 80% of Merkel cell carcinomas⁽²⁵⁾. Trichodysplasia spinulosa polyomavirus (TSPyV) causes a rare, dysplastic hair follicle disorder in immunocompromised patients called trichodysplasia spinulosa (27). Karolinska Institute polyomavirus (KIPyV), Washington University polyomavirus (WUPyV), human polyomavirus 6 (HPvV6), human polyomavirus 7 (HPvV7), and New Jersey polyomavirus (NJPvV) have been associated with respiratory, skin and vascular diseases, respectively (24,32,59,150). Infections with human polyomavirus 9 (HPyV9), Malawi polyomavirus (MWPyV), Saint Louis polyomavirus (STLPyV), human polyomavirus 12 (HPyV12) and Lyon IARC polyomavirus (LIPyV) have not been associated with disease in humans so far. The human polyomaviruses mentioned above, except for HPyV12, are classified into 13 species, whose name includes "Human polyomavirus" followed by a number from 1 to 14 in italic (Table 1). For instance, BKPyV belongs to Human polyomavirus 1 within this taxonomic framework. HPyV12, which recently turned out almost identical to Shrew polyomavirus 1, remains to be reclassified (36,41).

Humans are tested for the presence of HPyVs using 'diagnostic' virus-specific PCRs. These are usually validated and certified at the time of design and thereafter periodically through external quality assessment (EQA). Both *in silico* PCR oligo design and *in vitro* assessment are defined by available and selected target viruses. Sampling varies considerably for different viruses, including polyomaviruses, due to the biased knowledge about natural variation of the respective virus at the time of the PCR design and availability of the viral genomes and panel samples. Pathogenic strains, of JCPyV for example, are more likely to be sequenced and thus overrepresented in sequence repositories compared to persistent, avirulent strains. The same is true for strains that resemble previously identified strains that provided the basis for currently used PCR primer and probe sets. Ideally, it would be desirable to link updates of diagnostic PCRs to the continuous advancement of our knowledge about natural polyomavirus variation due to expanded genome sequencing (**Figure 1**),

but this may be impractical to do *in vitro* in a time and cost-wise manner. Use of *in silico* approaches may present a viable solution to this persisting problem.

For HPyV detection, our laboratory currently uses 14 gPCRs, of which nine were developed in-house and five adopted from literature (151), EOA has been performed on a regular basis only for the gPCRs that target the most common polyomaviruses: BKPyV and JCPyV. To address this gap and assess whether these 14 HPyV gPCRs remain as good in the face of expanding genome sequencing as they were at the time of design, here we performed in silico testing of each HPvV gPCR against all currently, publicly available polyomavirus genome sequences, including those of non-human origins using a previously described approach (152). For this purpose, the PyV genome sequences are divided into target and non-target groups for each qPCR to facilitate calculation of *in silico* sensitivity and selectivity for each its target HPyV. We used conventional gPCR analysis to test a fraction of genomes that were poorly recognized in silico and associated with mismatches between oligos and their annealing genome sites. Results of the qPCR and the in silico analysis were in agreement. Furthermore, utilization of target and non-target datasets facilitated adjustment of annealing temperature (Ta) for 14 in-house gPCRs and 52 published BKPyV qPCRs in silico in a PCR-specific manner.



Figure 1. Dynamic of accumulation of complete polyomavirus genome sequences.

Shown is annual dynamic of accumulation for complete genome sequences of the family Polyomaviridae in GenBank until October 10th 2019, according to HAYGENS (<u>https://veb.lumc.nl/HAYGENS/</u>). Genome sequences are dated according to their GenBank entries, which may deviate from the first date of the public sequence release.

Materials and methods

In-house HPyV qPCRs

For this study, we selected 14 HPyV-specific qPCRs used in our laboratory to detect BKPyV, JCPyV, KIPyV, WUPyV, MCPyV, HPyV6, HPyV7, TSPyV, HPyV9, MWPyV, STLPyV, HPyV12, NJPyV, and LIPyV respectively ⁽¹⁵¹⁾. **Table 1** lists these qPCRs along with information on the targeted viral gene, amplicon length, oligo sequences, and reference to its first description in literature ^(77,101,131-133,150,151). All HPyV qPCRs had their primer and probe oligos perfectly matched to the respective HPyV genome sequence regions at the time when they were designed.

Literature compiled BKPyV qPCRs

In August 2019, we compiled a dataset of BKPyV qPCRs reported in literature with the help of text-mining. Biopython 1.73 was used to search through PubMed's Entrez Database⁽¹⁵³⁾ (Figure 2, top panel). The case-insensitive search terms used were "polyoma AND gPCR AND human". The result (n=453 articles) was then parsed using R 3.6.1 software and its readxl, readr, and Tidyverse packages (154-157). Subsequently, abstracts of these articles were scanned for the presence of the following terms: "bk" and at least one of "gpcr", "real-time pcr", "tagman". The extracted articles with these terms (n=96) were further screened individually for inclusion in this study. Finally, we considered 52 Tagman-based gPCRs (the most common gPCR method) targeting viruses belonging to the species Human polyomavirus 1, including BKPyV, and collected information about primer and probe oligo sequence, concentration, polarity, dye linkage and inclusion of modified bases. Concentration of Mg²⁺ and other variables of the qPCR buffer, cycling conditions and the reaction volume were also documented whenever available. When neither of the latter was reported, default values of our qPCR test-system (see below) were used in subsequent analyses. Each aPCR was assigned with a unique name that included the last name of the first author of the paper, year of the publication, gPCR virus target name and, if necessary, an additional identifier when multiple qPCRs were described in a single paper.

Sequence database of polyomavirus genomes: target and non-target groups

In August 2019, complete polyomavirus genome sequences were downloaded from the National Center for Biotechnology Information (NCBI) GenBank and RefSeq into the VirAliS platform (158), using the HAYGENS tool (version 2.4, available at the <u>http://veb.lumc.nl/HAYGENS</u>) (**Figure 1**). In brief, HAYGENS combined results of homology search in GenBank for polyomavirus genomes using a hidden Markov model HMM profile (HMMER tool version 3.2.1. <u>http://hmmer.org</u>) of the alignment of 1199 PyV Large T-antigens (LT) (159) with queries of GenBank entries on the presence



Figure 2. Schematic workflow of in silico PCR testing and example of results visualization.

Presented are main stages of in silico testing of a publicly available HPyV gPCR using genome sequences of polyomaviruses (top two panels), as well as an example of results visualization (bottom panel). This pipeline is also applied to analysis of in-house HPvV gPCRs, which provided PCR variables. All calculations are performed for each genome sequence and PCR oligos set and are detailed in the M&M. Results of in silico evaluation of the qPCR in respect to T-decision ranges of qPCR oligos annealed to target (blue) and non-target (red) templates are presented using a Tm-map (static and interactive versions of 2D- and 3D Tm maps for the data presented in this study are available (online supplement). Each Tm map is divided into four non-overlapping orthogonal zones delimited by two boundaries set at temperature corresponding to the Ta of the presented qPCR, and distinguished by three background colors. Light blue zone: T-decision ranges favorable for both oligos to facilitate qPCR; light red zone: T-decision ranges unfavorable for both oligos to facilitate qPCR; two light grey zones: one of two T-decision ranges is unfavorable for an oligo to facilitate qPCR. When the coordinates of the calculated qPCR product conforms to the sequence location boundaries delimited by the corresponding L-decision=1, Tm values of a pair of oligos annealed to the respective sequence are labelled with a circle, otherwise they are a diamond. Two labels may be separate or overlap, partly or fully, on the map, and the opacity of each label corresponds to its T-decision value within the respective target or non-target color gradient. Size of circle or diamond label is proportional to the number of labels, when they fully overlap. Each label maps Tm of two oligos vs a template under the T-decision equal to 0.5. Tm ranges for these oligos and their template corresponding to the T-decision [0.95-0.05] intervals are delimited with vertical (bottom-to-top) and horizontal (left-to-right) bars around each label, respectively (see M&M).

of the term "polyomavirus". Using lengths of 85 polyomavirus genomes from RefSeq and the location of LT in these genomes as entries for training, HAYGENS separated full and partial genome sequences of other entries. With this approach, 1784 PyV genomes (1523 of human and 261 non-human origin) were recognized as (nearly) complete and their sequences were used in this study. For evaluation of each qPCR, the PyV genome sequences were divided into PCR-specific target and non-target groups, respectively, based on their description and taxonomy annotation. For evaluation of each HPyV qPCR, the target group includes HPyV genome sequences belonging to the respective polyomavirus species; all other polyomavirus genomes were considered non-target for this qPCR.

In silico evaluation of polyomavirus qPCR and results visualization

General aspects. The in silico evaluations performed here estimate the ability of HPyV qPCR to discriminate targeted from non-targeted HPyV genome sequences, using a modified computational procedure that we applied previously to astroviruses (152). Briefly, this procedure analyzed oligo/template complexes for a given set of oligos at all possible genomic sites under specified concentrations (160) to locate sites with maximal melting temperatures (Tm) of the oligo/template annealing complexes. It followed a nearest-neighbor approach, with Tm being the temperature at which the oligo and template molecules are equally probable to be separated or annealed (161). For degenerate oligos with degeneracy d, Tm value for each oligo/template combination was calculated assuming that concentration of each unique oligo is 1/d of the total oligos concentration, and Tm of the reaction was at the maximum value of Tm for the considered oligo/template combinations. For oligos conjugated with a minor groove binder, Tm value was increased by 15°C, due to the average value of such increase estimated previously (162,163). The same concentration of target DNA (1 nM) was used in each qPCR during the in silico evaluation. For convenience, a schematic overview of major steps of in silico gPCR evaluation is shown in the second panel of Figure 2, and further explained in its legend. As detailed below, it involves calculation of several characteristics, including T- and L-decisions, for each genomic sequence to assess sensitivity and selectivity of qPCR.

Temperature (T)-decision. Each PCR specifies annealing temperature Ta that is selected within a range of 50 °C to 60 °C, and commonly set to 60 °C (standard Ta). It must be substantially below the respective Tm, that ensures target recognition (true positives), but high enough to avoid recognition of non-targets (false positives). To facilitate comparison of Ta-related results for all analyzed sequences of a PCR, we introduced a continuous T-decision function that changes from 0 to 1 and equals to

| HPyV target | GenBank IC | 0 | | | | |
|--|------------------|------------------------------------|---------------------------------|--|--------------------------------------|------------------------------|
| Name abbre- viation (HPyV species #) | Target Gene | Expected product length (bp) | Sense primer sequence (5-3') | Probe sequence (polarity) (5'-3' for Sense and 3'-5' for Antisense) | Antisense primer sequence (3'-5') | Year of design Reference |
| BKPyV (1) | NC_001538 VP1 | 06 | GAAAAGGAGAGAGTGTCCAGGG | FAM-CCAAAAGCCAAAGGAACCC (S) | GAACTTCTACTCCTCCTTTTTATTAGT | 2003 Meijden et al, 2014 |
| JCPyV (2) | NC_001699 LT | 129 | GTCTCCCCATACCAACATTAGCTT | YAK-TCTTTCCACTGCACAATCCTCTCATGAATG (S) | GGTTTAGGCCAGTTGCTGACTT | 2006 Pal et al. 2006 |
| KIPyV (3) | NC_009238 VP1 | 3 148 | AAGTTCCCCGGGGTACAAACTC | TXR-GGTAGAAGTACTAGCCGCAGTACCACTGT (S) | CCATCCTGAGCAGCTGTTGTA | 2016 Kamminga et al, 2019 |
| WUPyV (4) | NC_009539 VP1 |) 74 | AACCAGGAAGGTCACCAAGAAG | TXR-CAACCACAAGAGTGCAAAGCCTTCC (S) | CTACCCCTCCTTTTCTGACTTGTTT | 2011 Rao et al, 2011 |
| MCPyV (5) | NC_010277 LT | 149 | CCACAGCCAGAGCTCTTCCT | CV5-TCCCAGGCTTCAGACTCCCA* (S) | твататстсстстствстаств | 2009 Goh et al, 2009 |
| НРуV6 (6) | NC_014406 VP1 | 150 | GTAGGGTATGCTGGTAAC | VAK-CTCTCCTCTCTCAAGTGAACTCTAA (AS) | CAGGAATTGTCTAAACATCATATC | 2012 Purdie et al, 2018 |
| НРуV7 (7) | NC_014407 VP1 | 116 | GTGCTGATATGGTTGGAA | TXR-AGCCTGTACTGTTCTCTGGTTACT (AS) | TCTGCAGTGGACTCTAAA | 2012 Purdie et al, 2018 |
| TSPyV (8) | NC_014361 VP1 | 104 | GAGTCTAAGGACAACTATGG | Q705-СТТСТССТССТССТССТССТСТТ (AS) | CTAGCTGTACTGTAGGTTG | 2012 Meijden et al, 2016 |
| НРуV9 (9) | NC_015150 VP1 | 109 | CCTGTAAGCTCTCTCCTTA | FAM-CTTGTTCTCTGGTCTTATGCCTCA (S) | CCTGATAATTCTGACTTCTTC | 2012 Meijden et al, 2014 |
| MWPyV (10) | NC_018102 VP1 | 86 | GACACCACAATGACAGTTGAG | CY5-CCAAGGATGGGCAATGATGTAAAAACA (S) | GGATCACTGTAGCCATACCAT | 2016 Kamminga et al, 2019 |
| STLPyV (11) | NC_020106 VP1 | 101 | TTGAAAATGGCTCCAAAAAGAAAATCT | CY5-AGATGCACCTCACAGACATGTCCAATGGA (S) | TGGCACGGATCATATTCACATCT | 2016 Kamminga et al, 2019 |
| HPyV12/SAPyV** | NC_020890 VP1 |) 139 | AAGGGCTGTAAGAAATCC | FAM-CCAGTATCTGCTCTCCTAACCAGT (S) | CTCCAAACCCTCATATACC | 2015 Kamminga et al, 2019 |
| NJPyV (13) | NC_024118 VP1 | 135 | CCCACCAAGTAAGTAAC | YAK-AAGTGTCCTATACCTACTCCAGTGC (S) | CAGAGTTCAATTTCAGTAGTA | 2015 Kamminga et al, 2019 |
| LIPyV (14) | NC_034253 VP1 | 83 | TGACAGGTGACAATTCCCAGG | Q705-AGAGGAAGTACGCGTCTATGATGGCAGAG (S) | CCTTGGCAGATCTAACCCTCC | 2017 Kamminga et al, 2019 |

Table 1. Overview of lab-developed, in-house used HPyV qPCRs

* Probe modified from original article. Abbreviations: LT: Large T; VPt: Viral Protein 1; S: Sense; AS: Antisense

** Sorex araneus polyomavirus 1 (https://talkictvonline.org/taxonomy/p/taxonomy-history?taxnode_id=201904426). No species name assigned yet

0.5, when Ta=Tm. T-decisions were calculated for each pair of DNA template, target and non-target, and PCR oligonucleotide, primer and probe, which then were used to calculate a cumulative T-decision for a DNA template as a product of its T-decisions for all individual PCR oligos. Finally, average T-decision of a qPCR for a polyomavirus species was calculated by averaging over cumulative T-decisions for genome sequences of the species.

Length (L)-decision. Template recognition by PCR depends also on proper spacing of its annealing sites for PCR primer and probe oligos. The latter must conform to product length maximum size and the lack of overlap between annealing sites for certain oligo pairs, collectively forming "length" constraints of qPCR. The maximum amplicon length was set either at 400 nucleotides or at 200 nucleotides (according to the expected maximum length of the PCR product) and minimum distances between 5'- and 3'ends of the corresponding oligos were set to 0. Due to evolutionary considerations, these constraints are most likely fulfilled for targets although not necessarily for non-targets, if those diverged considerably at the expected cognate site(s) of annealing. For these sequences, maximal Tm may be observed at alternative sites, either compatible or not with the product length constraints of the qPCR. We called the respective binary outcome of comparison of the calculated product lengths with permitted size ranges "L-decision"; it equals either 1 or 0 when length constraint was satisfied or not, respectively. L-decision was calculated for each pair of oligos, including forward and reverse primers and a single probe, resulting in three L-decisions for a template, target or non-target. Also, cumulative L-decision for a template was calculated as a product of (three) individual L-decisions under a condition that it was zero if any of individual L-decision is zero.

Sensitivity and selectivity of qPCR *in silico.* Using both T- and L-decision values for all selected PCR oligos, an overall probability (p) of detection of a HPyV genome sequence was calculated; ranging between 0 and 1. The calculated p is true positive (TP), and 1-p is false negative (FN) for target sequences; p is false positive (FP) and 1-p is true negative (TN) for non-target sequences. Accordingly, cumulative TP+FN of target sequences is always equal to the total number of targets and cumulative FP+TN of non-target sequences is equal to the total number of non-targets.

Finally, *in silico* sensitivity and selectivity of qPCR in respect to separate target sequences or an entire species were calculated using respective TP, FN, FP, and TN values under standard *Ta*, original *Ta* supplied in publications, or adjusted *Ta*. The latter corresponds to the temperature that maximized half of the sum of the respective sensitivity and selectivity ([sensitivity + selectivity] × 0.5), which was designated as balanced PCR classification rate (BCR). If several sequences were considered,

their sensitivity and selectivity were averaged for the respective group, including species, whose values were used to characterize the respective qPCR, unless specified otherwise.

Visualization of results. The results of a given HPyV qPCR evaluation were visualized using *Tm* maps generated with the original software and Python package Plotly(164) (Figure 2). *Tm* was calculated for interaction of oligos (primers or probes) and DNA templates, target and non-target, and plotted using either 2D *Tm* maps for each pair of oligos (forward primer vs. reverse primer, forward primer vs. probe, probe vs. reverse primer), or a single 3D *Tm* map for comparisons all three oligos together. 2D and 3D *Tm* plots of every qPCR *in silico* evaluation are shown online in the **online supplement** (https://veb.lumc.nl/MANUSCRIPTS/Polyomaviridae2021.cgi).

In vitro qPCR quality assessment

HPyV qPCRs were evaluated *in vitro* using Bio-Rad CFX Manager version 3.1. Cycling conditions were95 °C for 15 minutes, followed by 45 cycles of 95 °C for 30 seconds, 60 °C for 30 seconds and 72 °C for 30 seconds. Baseline threshold values were determined separately for each target and fluorescence drift correction was applied. For qPCR optimization, plasmids containing the relevant HPyV full genome or the Viral Protein 1 (VP1)-coding sequence were used. To obtain HPyV plasmid 10-fold dilution series (10.000 - 1 copy/reaction), total DNA concentration of each target was measured in a Qubit 4 Fluorometer using a Qubit dsDNA HS Assay (Thermo Fisher Scientific, Waltham, MA, USA) following manufacturer's instructions. Plasmids containing a mismatch in the annealing region were created by site-directed mutagenesis, using the QuikChange kit (Agilent Technologies, Santa Clara, CA, USA) according to manufacturer's instructions.

Results

In silico evaluation of in-house HPyV qPCRs

Sensitivity and selectivity of the in-house qPCRs targeting one of the 14 HPyVs either in VP1 or LT genes (12 and 2 PCRs, respectively) (**Table 1**) were analyzed *in silico* using the 1784 complete PyV genome sequences retrieved from GenBank (**Table 2**).

Selectivity was consistently high for all analyzed qPCRs (between 0.98-1), regardless of the use of standard or adjusted *Ta*, suggesting a high specificity of all original qPCRs in respect to the sequenced HPyV genomes. In contrast, the *in silico* sensitivity under the standard *Ta* was quite variable (between 0.20-0.97), indicating target-dependence of some qPCRs. *Ta* adjustment considerably improved qPCR sensitivity, up to the range of 0.96-1. A correlation between the calculated qPCR sensitivity and the presence of mismatches, before and after *Ta* adjustment, was not observed. Below we will discuss *in silico* analysis of three HPyV qPCRs (TSPyV, JCPyV and BKPyV) in detail and use *in vitro* testing to verify the sensitivity estimations of several targets, and extending it also to oligos with corrected mismatches.

Evaluation and refinement of the TSPyV qPCR

Analysis of the *Tm* oligo/template plots for the TSPyV qPCR revealed that T-decision [0.95-0.05] ranges of 7 out of 23 (30.4%) analyzed genome sequences were either at or just outside the favorable *Tm* zone for TSPyV detection under the standard *Ta* (**Figure 3AB**). Those seven genomes, prototyped by KM007161.1 and sequenced after the original TSPyV qPCR was designed, have a recurrent mismatch in the forward primer annealing site (GAGTCTAAGGA[$C \rightarrow G$]AACTATGG), which correlated with a *Tm* drop from 60.9 °C to 50.9 °C (**Figure 3AB** and **online supplement**).

The predicted detrimental effect of this mismatch on the qPCR sensitivity was analyzed *in vitro*. It caused an 8 Cq-increase and therefore drop in analytical sensitivity of the qPCR toward the respective sequences compared to the original TSPyV sequence (**Figure 3C**). Inclusion of the degenerate base in the forward primer (GAGTCTAAGGA**S**AACTATGG) increased the *Tm* of its complex with respective targets to 59.3°C *in silico* (**Figure 3AB** and **online supplement**), and, accordingly, almost entirely rescued the TSPyV qPCR analytic sensitivity towards KM007161.1 at the standard *Ta* (**Figure 3D**). These results revealed excellent agreement between the *in vitro* and *in silico* results.

According to *in silico* evaluation shown in **Table 2**, the sensitivity-rescue caused by the degenerate primer could be realized as well by lowering the *Ta*, without swopping

bases to overcome any mismatch. This would allow efficient recognition of all TSPyV genomes with the original PCR set of oligos with a predicted sensitivity of 0.96.

Testing and refinement of the JCPyV qPCR

In contrast to TSPvV, none of the analyzed 690 genome sequences of JCPvV were found in a problematic region of three Tm maps under standard Ta, although T-decision [0.95-0.05] ranges of 96 JCPyV genomes partially overlapped with one such region (Figure 4 and online supplement). The latter genome sequences all contained a mismatch within annealing region to a respective primer or probe (Table 2). Since the T-decision [0.95-0.05] range of most of these oligo/target complexes were predominantly above the qPCR standard Ta and they accounted only for 14% of targets, these mismatches decreased average sensitivity of this gPCR only to 0.94. Compared to other JCPyV, a mismatch in the forward primer annealing region (GTCTCCCCAT[A→G]CCAACATTAGCTT) in 72 JCPyV genome sequences (prototyped by AF015535.1) out of 96 affected (10.5% of total) was associated with comparable decreases in *Tm in silico* (4 °C from 68.4 °C to 64.4 °C. Figure 4A-C) and *in vitro* (0.6 from 24.2 to 24.8 at 10⁵ copies/reaction, **Figure 4D**). This effect was even smaller for the remaining 24 JCPyV genome sequences in silico, which also showed that sensitivity of the JCPyV gPCR could be increased from 0.94 to 1.0 by adjustment of Ta from 60.0°C to 46.7°C (Table 2).



Figure 3. In silico and in vitro testing and refinement of a TSPyV qPCR.

Results of *in silico* testing of the in-house TSPyV qPCR under standard *Ta* in respect to T-decision ranges of qPCR oligos annealed to 23 target (blue) and 1758 non-target (red) templates are presented using two *Tm* maps: forward vs. reverse primer oligo pairs (**A**), forward primer vs. probe oligo pairs (**B**). A *Tm* shift for oligo/tempate complex of seven TSPyV genomes, typified by KM007161.1, after including a degenerated base into the forward primer (**Supplemental File 8.2B** and **D**) is shown with the bold arrow. Overall design of the *Tm* maps is explained in the legend of Figure 2. **C.** *In vitro* dilution series of two TSPyV genomes with either full match (NC_014361) or a mismatch (KM007161.1) to the forward oligo. A relative poor recognition of the mismatch genome is evident. **D.** The same as in (C) except for using forward primer with a degenerate base. Note similar recognition of the two genomes.



Figure 4. In silico and in vitro testing of a JCPyV qPCR.

Results of *in silico* evaluation of the in-house JCPyV qPCR under standard *Ta* in respect to T-decision ranges of qPCR oligos annealed to 690 target (blue) and 1091 non-target (red) templates are presented using three *Tm* maps: forward vs. reverse primer oligo pairs (**A**); forward primer vs. probe oligo pairs (**B**); and reverse primer vs. probe oligo pairs (**C**). Overall design of the *Tm* maps is explained in the legend of **Figure 2**. Fully interactive versions of these maps and a 3D melting temperature map are available in **Supplemental File 2**. The influence of a common mismatch present in 72/690 JCPyV genomes was tested by comparing the performance of the qPCR on the regular control plasmid without mismatch (Mismatch-) and the plasmid containing the mismatch (Mismatch+) (e.g. AF015535.1, forward primer annealing region: GTCTCCCCAT[**A**→**G**]CCAACATTAGCTT). A small difference in Cq values is seen when the mismatch is present.

| qPCR | Oligo n | nismatch (nur | nber and loca | ation) ¹ | Average S | ensitivity ² | Average S | electivity ² |
|----------------------------|-----------------------|------------------------|---------------------|------------------------|---|---|---|---|
| Target HPyV (N genomes) | Number of genomes (%) | 5'primer genomes, n | Probe genomes, n | 3'primer genomes, n | Standard T _a ³ | Adjusted T _a ⁴ | Standard T _a ³ | Adjusted T _a ⁴ |
| STLPyV (7) | 0 | 0 | 0 | 0 | 0.97 | 1.00 | 1.00 | 1.00 |
| KIPyV (12) | 0 | 0 | 0 | 0 | 0.95 | 1.00 | 1.00 | 1.00 |
| MCPyV (63) | 0 | 0 | 0 | 0 | 0.95 | 1.00 | 1.00 | 1.00 |
| JCPyV (690) | 96 (14) | 81 | 10 | 9 | 0.94 | 1.00 | 1.00 | 1.00 |
| WUPyV (147) | 25 (17) | 0 | 25 | 3 | 0.90 | 1.00 | 1.00 | 1.00 |
| MWPyV (21) | 1 (5) | 1 | 0 | 0 | 0.85 | 1.00 | 1.00 | 1.00 |
| LIPyV (2) | 1 (50) | 0 | 1 | 1 | 0.80 | 1.00 | 1.00 | 1.00 |
| BKPyV (522) | 120 (23) | 1 | 107 | 12 | 0.76 | 0.99 | 1.00 | 0.98 |
| HPyV9 (4) | 0 | 0 | 0 | 0 | 0.39 | 1.00 | 1.00 | 1.00 |
| HPyV6 (17) | 1 (6) | 1 | 0 | 0 | 0.37 | 0.99 | 1.00 | 1.00 |
| HPyV12 (1) | 0 | 0 | 0 | 0 | 0.37 | 0.99 | 1.00 | 1.00 |
| HPyV7 (10) | 1 (10) | 1 | 0 | 0 | 0.32 | 0.99 | 1.00 | 1.00 |
| TSPyV (23) | 7 (30) | 7 | 0 | 0 | 0.23 | 0.96 | 1.00 | 1.00 |
| NJPyV (1) | 0 | 0 | 0 | 0 | 0.20 | 0.99 | 1.00 | 1.00 |
| TSPyV-deg (23) | 0 | 0 | 0 | 0 | 0.26 | 0.99 | 1.00 | 1 |
| Total (1784) | | 94 | 143 | 25 | | | | |

Table 2. In silico evaluation of in-house HPyV qPCRs, ranked according to average sensitivity under standard $\ensuremath{\textit{T}\alpha}$

¹ Some sequences may have mismatches with more than one type of the oligo, so the sum of the number of sequences in the first three columns may exceed the number in the Total column

2 Average sensitivity and selectivity were calculated by averaging over sensitivity and selectivity of discrimination of respective target versus non-target genome sequences by an in-house qPCR

³ Standard Ta: 60°C

⁴ Adjusted Ta varied between 45-50°C (46.7, 50.8, 45.8, 46.0, 45.0, 45.4, 45.0, 46.3, 45.0, 46.8, 45.0, 45.1, 45.0, 45.0 °C for JCPyV, BKPyV, WUPyV, MCPyV, TSPyV, MWPyV, HPyV6, KIPyV, HPyV7, STL, HPyV9, LIPyV, HPyV12, NJPyV, respectively.

Testing and refinement of the in-house BKPyV qPCR

The most complex results were obtained for the in-house BKPyV qPCR analyzed against 522 target and 1259 non-target genome sequences, as evident from the Tm plots under the standard Ta (**Figure 5A-C**; interactive 2D and 3D Tm plots are shown in the **online supplement**). A small overlap with a non-favorable Tm map zone was observed for the T-decision [0.95-0.05] ranges of oligo complexes with 120 BKPyV genome sequences. Furthermore, the T-decision [0.95-0.05] ranges for oligo complexes with two BKPyV genome sequences (MF627830.1 and AY628231.1) were predominantly outside the favorable zone in two of three oligo/target Tm maps. As a result, average sensitivity of the in-house BKPyV qPCR was 0.76 under the standard Ta.

The above group of 120 genome sequences (23% of the analyzed BKPyVs) include mismatches between oligos and corresponding annealing sites, primarily in the probe target region (107 of 120 genomes; **Table 2**). The most prevalent mismatch (CCAAAAAGCCAAAGGA[$A \rightarrow C$]CCC), found in the probe annealing site of 105 genome sequences and prototyped by AB211375.1, caused the estimated probe/template *Tm* to decrease from 66.48 to 64.28 °C (**Figure 5BC** and **online supplement**). This common mismatch resulted in recurrent decrease of approximately 1 Cq *in vitro* (**Figure 5D**). This decrease was reverted by linking a minor groove binder (MGB) to the probe (**Supplemental Figure 1**), which accordingly increased the *Tm* of the probe/ template complex by approx. 15 °C (**online supplement**).

Two other mismatches were in the probe annealing site. They caused a drop in predicted *Tm* of oligo/target complexes from 66.14°C for the 'wild type' genome prototyped by NC_001538.1 to 56.96°C for MF627830.1 (CCAAAAAGCCAAAGGCAA[$C \rightarrow T$]CC) and to 60.38°C for AY628231.1 (CCAAAAAGCCA[$A \rightarrow G$]AGGAACCC) (**Figure 5BC** and **online supplement**). Because the genomes carrying these mismatches represented only 0.4% of the sequenced BKPyV genomes, their detection was not tested *in vitro*.

In silico evaluation of BKPyV qPCRs described in literature

To extend utility of our *in silico* qPCR evaluation strategy, we applied it to a substantial selection of BKPyV qPCRs described in literature. A database of 52 BKPyVspecific qPCRs taken from 32 papers (132,151,165-194) was created by searching PubMed with a text-mining approach detailed in the Methods section. Each selected BKPyV qPCR is listed in **Supplemental Table 1** with its reference, original and adjusted *Ta* values, and degeneracy of its oligos. **Supplemental Figure 2** shows the location of each PCR oligo annealing site on the BKPyV genome, as well as the calculated sensitivity and selectivity with the *Ta* described in the original paper. Under the original *Ta*, both sensitivity and selectivity were better than 0.95 for at least five BKPyV qPCRs, with "Gustafsson 2013 Polyoma ST" being the top PCR (**Figure 6**). Overall, sensitivity varied considerably among the published PCRs, with being < 0.9 and as low as in the range of 0.2-0.5 for 30 and 10 BKPyV qPCRs, respectively. This low sensitivity was primarily due to overlap of T-decision [0.95-0.05] ranges for some oligo/template complexes between target and non-target genomes. Adjusting the individual BKPyV qPCR *Ta*-values according to the BCR criterion (see M&M) resulted in a *Ta* drop in most cases, which substantially increased the sensitivity of almost all BKPyV qPCRs, with none of qPCR being below 0.8 after the *Ta* adjustment. In contrast, only two BKPyV qPCRs displayed a selectivity below 0.9 ("Yamamoto 2015" and "Delbue 2015") after the *Ta* adjustment, which was caused by a high similarity between BKPyV and JCPyV at sites complementary to the PCR oligos in a fraction of non-target genomes (**online supplement**) (193-196). This complication was not resolved by the *Ta* adjustment, which also had minor effect on already high selectivity of other BKPyV qPCR.

As a rule, the *Ta* adjustment was associated with a temperature decrease, most often in a range from 5°C to 10°C (**Figure 6**). For two PCRs, *Ta* adjustment was minor (< 1°C) that did not affect either sensitivity or selectivity, which were already good under standard *Ta*: >0.95 for "Keith 2018" and >0.8 for "Delbue 2015". For other two PCRs ("Signorini 2014" and "Yamamoto 2015"), adjustment of *Ta* led to improved selectivity as the result of decreased false positive detection of the closely related non-targets, although it was accompanied by a decrease in PCR sensitivity.



Figure 5. In silico and in vitro testing of a BKPyV qPCR.

Results of in silico testing of the in-house BKPyV qPCR under standard *Ta* in respect to T-decision ranges of an qPCR oligo annealed to 522 target (blue) and 1259 non-target (red) sequences are presented using three quadrant maps as detailed in legend to **Figure 2**. Selected genome sequences discussed in the text are indicated with arrows accompanied by their GenBank numbers. **D**. *In vitro* evaluation of impact of a common single nucleotide mismatch in the probe-to-target annealing region on the qPCR performance against GenBank ID AB211375.1. An increase of about 1 Cq for the target with the mismatch relative to the matching target was observed.



Figure 6. Sensitivity and selectivity for BKPyV qPCRs under original and adjusted Ta.

For each published BKPyV qPCR specified at the right, selectivity and sensitivity are depicted schematically with contrasting colors under original and adjusted Ta along with difference between these Ta. Impact of Ta adjustment is shown as increase (SN+, SL+) or decrease (SN-, SL-) of the corresponding original sensitivity and selectivity values (SN and SL). PCRs are ordered according to the sensitivity under adjusted Ta. Ta difference = (adjusted Ta - original Ta) is shown with grey bars

Discussion

In this report we demonstrated how fast accumulating genome sequences of the family *Polyomaviridae* could be utilized for testing species-specific HPyV qPCRs *in silico* in an efficient manner. This analysis identified qPCRs, which can detect and discriminate all known PyVs, as well as those PCRs that require upgrade. We showed how this improvement could be achieved using either degenerate nucleotides in oligos or through adjustment of *Ta* in a procedure assisted by the use of non-target PyVs. Below we briefly discuss its premise, main findings, including apparent agreement between *in silico* and *in vitro* results, as well as limitations and challenges of the approach that may be addressed in future research.

Design of conventional PCR involves calculation of key variables that is informed by target sequences and concerning oligos number, size and template location as well as *Tm* and *Ta* of oligo/template complexes. This computation-based foundation of the PCR analysis enables running a PCR *in silico*, as we previously demonstrated in an analysis of human astroviruses (¹⁵²) and used here for HPyVs. Compared to its *in vitro* counterpart, qPCR analysis *in silico* offers scalability in a cost and time effective manner that affords testing 1784 rather than few PyVs as it is common otherwise. Since PyV discovery and characterization are fast pacing and firmly sequence-based, accumulation of target sequences can inform periodic HPyV qPCR testing *in silico* for keeping it up to date. To assist with this task, we provide web access to interactive *Tm* maps that facilitate visual inspection of all genome sequences of this study by the 66 HPyV qPCRs.

To measure quality of target sequence recognition by species-specific HPyV qPCR, we calculated sensitivity that was averaged over all known target genome sequences of the species. Composition of species target genome sequence datasets reflects sampling and full genome sequencing of the known natural diversity of the respective species, which both may be biased. Accordingly, the obtained sensitivity values could be skewed when they were below the maximum possible value (1). This bias could be partially addressed by sequence weighting and including partial genome sequences where feasible in the analysis. We note in this respect that validation of HPyV qPCR *in vitro* also depends on limited choice of known HPyVs for testing.

Besides sensitivity, we also calculated selectivity of species-specific HPyV qPCR in a similar manner. It measured discrimination of non-target polyomaviruses by the respective qPCR and may serve as a proxy for its expected false positive rate. Non-target sequences included all known PyVs regardless of their host and other

than of the respective target species. New HPyVs continue to be discovered and often they cluster phylogenetically with PyVs of non-human origins that supports the family-wide choice of the non-target datasets in our study. This broad host range of non-target PyVs sequences combined with bias of PyV genome sequencing affects estimation of selectivity, when its values fall below the maximum possible (1.0), like it was discussed for the sensitivity calculation above. This estimation may be adjusted by limiting choice of non-target sequences only to the most closely related to target HPyV species, which might be especially warranted if they co-circulate, like observed for BKPyV and JCPyV.

Sensitivity and selectivity of qPCR depends on choice of *Ta*, which is commonly selected within the 45-65°C range, as seen e.g. in the dataset of 52 BKPyV qPCRs analyzed *in silico*. The selected *Ta* must be below the respective *Tm* of the involved oligo/template complexes of targets and above those of non-targets. By combining sensitivity and selectivity of qPCR into a single BCR characteristic we were able to propose *Ta* adjustment that led to improved overall quality for most of qPCRs analyzed. This result illustrated benefits of the computational framework for HPyV detection that was informed by the current state of genome sequencing. It may be especially valuable in respect to non-target sequences which are relatively under-character-ized compared to target sequences upon conventional *in vitro* evaluation. Besides non-target PyV sequences, DNA of other origins if present in considerable excess to target sequences may be a factor affecting qPCR by depleting PCR oligos through non-specific annealing. This concern, which is pertinent for relatively low *Ta* could lead to false negative results and may be addressed in future *in vitro* testing.

Our study was prompted by the need to evaluate 14 in-house qPCRs, which we designed or adopted from literature over prior years. We learned that *in silico* five qPCRs had sensitivity 0.9 or higher, three in the range of 0.5-0.9, and six below 0.5, due to uneven recognition of some newly sequenced genomes in most of the cases. For *in vitro* characterization, we chose three qPCR with different sensitivities, 0.94, 0.76 and 0.23, respectively. The most pronounced drop of sensitivity to 0.23 was in TSPyV qPCR due to a primer mismatch with a relatively large fraction of target genomes that were sequenced after the original qPCR was designed. Incorporation of a degenerate base in the forward primer restored the TSPyV qPCR capacity to recognize the full known diversity spectrum of this HPyV, as was shown both *in silico* and *in vitro*. The two assays were also in agreement in respect to two other qPCRs, JCPyV and BKPyV, although we decided against modifying oligos of those PCRs after considering other factors affecting scale of sensitivity gain. For BKPyV qPCR, this decision was informed by low frequency of the poorly recognized

targets, which account to only 0.4% of BKPyV genome sequences in GenBank. Should this number be revised upward significantly in the future, the BKPyV qPCR design could be revisited or another BKPyV qPCR be adopted from literature (see below). Drop of the qPCR sensitivity for poorly compared to properly recognized targets was defined by *Tm* decrease of target/oligo complexes *in silico* and accompanied by Cq increase *in vitro*. To establish the exact relationship between the changes of *Tm* and Cq, which may depend on many factors, additional analysis is required.

In silico analysis provided also a unified platform for comparison of numerous BKPyV qPCRs which were designed by different labs in different years against different genomic loci and tested under different conditions using different panels of viruses. The need for this type of comparison was raised in literature but not met (197,198). Our study identified several BKPyV qPCRs which proved to be resilient in the face of the continuing expansion of BKPyV genome sequencing and may be best choice to go forward. We also provide suggestions toward how analytical sensitivity for other published BKPyV qPCRs could be improved by adjustment of *Ta*. We believe that combined with characterization of the in-house HPyV qPCRs, these results facilitate efficient use of the accumulated PyV genome sequences for the detection of HPyVs.

Acknowledgements

This work was supported and funded in part by Sanquin Blood Supply Foundation, a not-for-profit organization, and the EU Horizon2000 EVAg project (<u>https://www.european-virus-archive.com/</u>). IAS and AEG thank Dmitry Samborskiy for help with administrating the VirAliS software.

Online supplement

The online supplement can be found at: https://veb.lumc.nl/MANUSCRIPTS/Polyomaviridae2021.cgi

| | | Oligos | Tau | (°C) |
|-------------------------------------|-----------|-------------|----------|----------|
| qPCR name | Reference | degeneracy‡ | original | adjusted |
| Barcena-Panero 2012 BKPyV | (40) | 16/1/4 | 60 | 46.3 |
| Bergallo 2010 BKPyV | (39) | 1/1/1 | 50 | 45.3 |
| Bodin 2005 BKPyV 1 | (53) | 1/1/1 | 60 | 45.0 |
| Dadhania 2008 BKPyV | (38) | 1/1/1 | 60 | 45.3 |
| Delbue 2015 BKPyV | (63) | 1/1/1 | 60 | 63.3 |
| Dumoulin 2011 BKPyV | (41) | 1/1/1 | 60 | 45.0 |
| Dumoulin 2011 BKPyV dg | (41) | 3/2/4 | 60 | 52.0 |
| Funahashi 2010 BKPyV FUK-23 | (47) | 1/1/1 | 60 | 45.0 |
| Funahashi 2010 BKPyV JPN-36 | (47) | 1/1/1 | 60 | 45.0 |
| Gard 2015 BKPyV in-house 1 | (58) | 1/1/1 | 60 | 56.5 |
| Gard 2015 BKPvV in-house 2 | (58) | 1/1/1 | 60 | 58.3 |
| Greer 2015 BKPvV | (45) | 1/1/1 | 60 | 50.5 |
| Gustafsson 2013 Polyoma BKV ST | (46) | 1/1/1 | 50 | 47.8 |
| Gustafsson 2013 Polyoma BKV VP1 | (46) | 1/1/1 | 50 | 45.0 |
| Hammarin 2011 BKPvV | (44) | 3/1/2 | 60 | 45.0 |
| Hammarin 2011 BKPvV degenerate base | (44) | 3/2/2 | 0.03 | 45.3 |
| Hasan 2016 BKPvV BKITA | (36) | 6/1/2 | 0.0 | 58.0 |
| Hasan 2016 BKDv// VD1 | (36) | 0/1/2 | 60 | 54.3 |
| | (36) | 2/1/1 | 60 | 56.2 |
| Hasaii 2010 BKFyV VFIMOD | (35) | | 60 | 45.0 |
| Hoffman 2008 BKPyV 11 | (33) | 1/1/1 | 60 | 40.0 |
| | (35) | 1/1/1 | 00 | 47.3 |
| Holiman 2008 BKPyv 13 | (35) | 1/1/1 | 60 | 40.3 |
| Hoffman 2008 BKPyv 13a | (35) | 1/1/1 | 50 | 40.8 |
| Hoffman 2008 BKPyv 14 | (35) | 1/1/1 | 58 | 46.5 |
| Hoffman 2008 BKPyV VI | (35) | 1/1/1 | 60 | 45.3 |
| Hoffman 2008 BKPyV V3 | (35) | 1/1/1 | 60 | 47.5 |
| Hoffman 2008 BKPyv V3a | (35) | 1/1/1 | 60 | 49.0 |
| Hwang 2018 BKPyV | (72) | 1/1/1 | 60 | 45.0 |
| Kamminga 2019 BKPyV + MGB probe | (16) | 1/1/1 | 60 | 52.5 |
| Kamminga 2019 BKPyV* | (16) | 1/1/1 | 60 | 50.8 |
| Keith 2018 BKPyV | (22) | 1/1/1 | 60 | 59.8 |
| Ledesma 2012 BKPyV | (55) | 1/1/1 | 60 | 56.8 |
| Marchetti 2007 BKPyV | (54) | 1/1/1 | 58 | 45.0 |
| Marinelli 2007 BKPyV | (34) | 1/1/1 | 60 | 46.0 |
| Mitui 2013 BKPyV | (49) | 2/1/1 | 60 | 53.3 |
| Muldrew 2013 BKPyV | (43) | 1/1/1 | 60 | 45.0 |
| Pal 2006 BKPyV 1 | (22) | 1/1/1 | 60 | 54.0 |
| Pal 2006 BKPyV 2 | (22) | 1/1/1 | 60 | 45.0 |
| Pal 2006 BKPyV 3 | (22) | 1/1/1 | 60 | 45.0 |
| Pal 2006 BKPyV 4 | (22) | 1/1/1 | 60 | 54.5 |
| Pang 2007 BKPyV 1 | (61) | 1/1/1 | 50 | 45.0 |
| Pang 2007 BKPyV 2 | (61) | 1/1/1 | 50 | 45.0 |
| Pietila 2015 BKPyV | (37) | 1/1/1 | 60 | 45.5 |
| Priftakis 2003 BKPyV | (42) | 1/1/1 | 60 | 50.0 |
| Ryschkewitsch 2004 BKPyV 1 | (50) | 1/1/1 | 55 | 49.3 |
| Sahiner 2014 BKPyV VP1 | (57) | 1/1/2 | 60 | 45.0 |
| Sarmento 2019 BKPyV | (48) | 1/1/1 | 60 | 54.0 |
| Signorini 2014 BKPyV | (60) | 1/1/1 | 60 | 61.3 |
| Si-Mohamed 2005 BKPyV | (52) | 1/1/1 | 60 | 47.0 |
| Stolt 2005 BKPyV | (56) | 1/1/1 | 60 | 57.3 |
| Thomas 2007 BKPyV | (51) | 1/1/1 | 60 | 45.0 |
| Yamamoto 2015 BKPvV | (62) | 1/1/2 | 60 | 62.3 |

Supplemental Table 1. Selected BKPyV-specific qPCRs from literature

Oligo degeneracy for forward primer/probe/reverse primer

* Our original lab-developed BKPyV qPCR is indicated in bold



Supplemental Figure 1.

A. Result of adding a minor groove binder (MGB) to the BKPyV qPCR probe on detection of a BKPyV plasmid standard dilution series. The MGB increases probe melting temperature by approximately 15°C. This does not result in better detection of the BKPyV plasmid. **B.** When a mismatch is present in the probe annealing region (e.g. AB211375.1, probe annealing region: CCAAAAAGCCAAAGGA<u>C</u>CCC), the MGB probe performs slightly better compared to the regular BKPyV qPCR.



Supplemental Figure 2.

Overview of location, sensitivity and selectivity of BKPyV qPCRs selected from literature. Calculated selectivity (pink) and sensitivity (blue) are based on the *Ta* reported in the original paper. The arrow-heads indicate the oligo position and orientation related to the BKPyV genome shown below. PCRs are sorted by name of first author. Sensitivity and selectivity of the qPCR were evaluated using a common set of target and nontarget genome sequences under concentration of 1 nM, and *Ta* delivering maximum BCR and with values of other qPCR parameters as described in the corresponding reference.





Chapter 6 Transmission of JC and Human polyomavirus 9 after kidney transplantation: an exploratory serological cohort study

Sergio Kamminga^{1,2}, Aline van Rijn², Caroline de Brouwer², Joris I. Rotmans³, Hans L. Zaaijer^{1*}, Mariet Feltkamp^{2*}

Author affiliations:

- ¹ Department of Blood-borne Infections, Sanquin Research, Amsterdam, Netherlands;
- ² Department of Medical Microbiology, Leiden University Medical Center, Leiden, The Netherlands;
- ³ Department of Internal Medicine, Leiden University Medical Center, Leiden, The Netherlands
- * Authors contributed equally

Abstract

Introduction Human polyomaviruses (HPyVs) cause disease in immunocompromised patients. BK polyomavirus (BKPyV) for instance persistently infects the kidneys. In kidney transplant recipients, (KTRs) BKPyV can cause allograft nephropathy. JCPyV, MCPyV, TSPyV and HPyV9 reside in the kidneys too, or have been detected in urine. In this study, we investigate exposure to JCPyV, MCPyV, TSPyV and HPyV9 after kidney transplantation by serological means.

Materials and methods Serum samples from 310 KTR collected before and 6 months after transplantation (n= 620), from 279 corresponding kidney donors collected before transplantation, and from blood donor controls collected one year apart (n= 174) were assessed for HPyV species-specific IgG responses using a multiplex immuno-assay. KTR HPyV IgG kinetics were compared to those of healthy blood donors by linear mixed modelling, and related to those of their donors by linear regression.

Results In the KTR, increased IgG levels during follow-up were observed for JCPyV (14.8%), MCPyV (7.1%), TSPyV (10.6%), and for HPyV9 (8.1%), while blood donor antibody levels remained stable. Seroconversion was observed for JCPyV (6.5%), MCPyV (2.3%), TSPyV (1.3%), and for HPyV9 (6.5%). The linear mixed model analysis showed that antibody increase was significant for JCPyV (p < 0.001) and HPyV9 (p < 0.001). Post-transplant JCPyV and HPyV9 antibody responses were associated with donor antibody levels against these HPyVs, respectively.

Conclusions KTR are exposed to JCPyV and HPyV9 after transplantation. Whether the allograft serves as the source, as indicated by the donor serostatus association, deserves further study.

Introduction

On average, each individual is persistently infected with nine different human polyomaviruses (HPyVs)⁽¹⁹⁹⁾. In the immunocompetent host, HPyV infections are controlled by the immune system and not accompanied by symptoms and disease. When immunity is compromised, for instance in long-term immunosuppressed solid organ transplant (SOT) recipients⁽²⁰⁰⁾, HPyVs can freely replicate, damage tissues and cause disease. The *Polyomaviridae* currently contain 13 HPyV species⁽²⁰¹⁾.

Most clinical complications are seen with the BK polyomavirus (BKPyV), which causes BKPyV-associated nephropathy (BKPyVAN) in kidney transplant recipients (KTR), and haemorrhagic cystitis in primarily hematopoietic stem cell transplantation patients. The phylogenetically closely related JC polyomavirus (JCPyV) can also cause nephropathy, (71) but is particularly known for causing progressive multifocal leukoencephalopathy (PML) in AIDS patients and in multiple sclerosis patients treated with specific immunomodulatory drugs, such as natalizumab^(202,203). Both BKPyV and JCPyV can be detected in blood, CSF and urine of affected patients. The Merkel cell polyomavirus (MCPyV) causes approximately 80% of Merkel cell carcinoma (MCC) in the skin. MCC is rare and found primarily in elderly and sometimes in long-term immunocompromised patients (58,204,205). MCPyV has been detected in blood, albeit at very low amounts (206,207). The Trichodysplasia spinulosa polyomavirus (TSPyV) causes trichodysplasia spinulosa (TS), an extremely rare, dysplastic follicular skin disease seen in severely immunocompromised (often SOT) patients (77,208). TSPyV DNA can be detected in blood, CSF and urine of SOT patients as well, with high viral loads during primary infection. (77) Human polyomavirus 9 (HPyV9) has been identified in blood and urine of KTR⁽⁷⁹⁾, but an association with disease in immunocompromised patients has not been established (101,209). For HPyV6 and HPyV7 an association with a skin disorder in severely immunosuppressed has been described, but systemic infection (for instance accompanied by viremia) has not been reported. Similar observations were made for KIPyV and WUPyV related to respiratory infections in severely immunocompromised hosts (23,24,150). For NJPyV one convincing case of combined myositis, retinitis and vasculitis has been described, accompanied by detectable viral loads in blood (210). For the other HPyVs (HPyV10, STLPyV, and LIPyV), disease associations are absent and detection of virus in blood and/or urine is extremely rare.

Not much is known about HPyV transmission and infection. Most natural infections occur (early) in childhood and are thought to result from oral ingestion or inhalation. For some HPyVs, for example BKPyV and JCPyV, and possibly TSPyV, KIPyV and WUPyV, it is believed that after primary infection of the oropharynx, they replicate in tonsils and possibly salivary glands followed by spread via the circulation (211,212). In this way, they can reach the end organ that becomes persistently infected, for instance the kidneys in the case of BKPyV and JCPyV. Whether 'strict' cutaneous HPyVs (for example HPyV6 and HPyV7) are transmitted through direct skin-skin contact is not known.

From studies in KTR, it is very likely that BKPyV can be transmitted via the allograft from donor to recipient (88,90). In a small group of KTR, with the help of viral genome sequencing, it was recently suggested that JCPyV as well can be transmitted through kidney transplantation (213). A serological study in a paediatric KTR kidney transplant population, suggested the same after observing JCPyV seroconversion in about half of the seronegative children (214). Furthermore, SOT is a known risk factor for development of PML (215). At the moment it is unknown whether donor-derived JCPyV, opposed to autologous reactivating JCPyV, is causing these post-transplantation PML cases. Transplantation-related transmission has not been suggested for HPyVs other than BKPyV and JCPyV.

In this study, by analysing a cohort of KTR, we aimed to provide additional, serological evidence for allograft-transmission of JCPyV and a number of other HPyVs with viremic potential. With the help of a multiplex immunoassay,⁽⁸⁷⁾ we determined JCPyV, TSPyV, MCPyV and HPyV9-specific antibody responses and seroconversions before and after transplantation in KTR, while BKPyV was included in the analyses for comparison. Healthy blood donor (HBD) sera collected one year apart were included for comparison, as well as pretransplantation kidney donor serum samples when available.

Materials and methods

Population and samples

Two stored serum samples, one collected before transplantation and one approximately six months after transplantation, were analyzed from each of 310 adult KTR transplanted between 2014 and 2018 in the Leiden University Medical Centre (LUMC), with a mean age of 49.9 (range 19.0 - 74.8) and 188 male (60.6%). The date of collection of samples taken before kidney transplantation ranged from 261 days to 1 day before transplant, with a median of 8 days before transplant. Samples taken after transplantation ranged from 33 to 299 days post-transplant, with a median of 177. For 279 kidney transplant patients, serum samples of their respective kidney donor were also available for analysis. The study adhered to the General Data Protection Regulation, the code of conduct for medical research and the code of conduct for responsible use of human tissue. The data management plan was approved by the data protection officer of the LUMC. The medical ethical committee of the LUMC determined this research was outside the scope of the medical research involving human subjects act (reference: B19.067/ML/1111).

Paired, anonymized HBD serum samples (n=174) were acquired one year (median of 397 days) apart, as described in a previous study, (101) adhering to the code of conduct for responsible use.

Polyomavirus multiplex immunoassay

A customized Luminex multiplex immunoassay was used to assess IgG antibody responses against the major capsid protein Viral Protein 1 (VP1) of JCPyV, MCPyV, TSPyV, HPyV9 and BKPyV. This assay was previously described in detail (87). Briefly, VP1 fusion proteins were expressed in E. coli and coupled to uniquely colored. magnetic fluorescent beads (Bio-Rad Laboratories, Hercules, CA, USA). The serum samples were blocked in 1:100 dilution in blocking buffer to suppress non-specific binding. Biotinylated goat- α -human IgG (H+L) (1:1000) followed by streptavidin-Rphycoerythrin (SAPE) (1:1000) were used to detect IqG responses against the individual VP1 antigens. To control for intertest variability, a serially diluted pool of four serum samples with known IgG response was added to each plate. Antibody responses were measured in a Bio-Plex 200 analyzer (Bio-Rad Laboratories, Hercules, CA, USA) and analyzed using Bio-Plex Manager 6.1 software. Specific antibody responses were calculated by subtracting from each sample the median fluorescence intensity (MFI) values of a blank sample (no serum added) and of beads coupled to GST protein only as a background measurement. Cut-off values for seropositivity were determined as described previously using a seronegative population and a bin-width distribution analysis⁽⁸⁷⁾. The thresholds for the KTR, expressed in MFI, were 846 for JCPyV, 550 for MCPyV, 126 for TSPyV, 1000 for HPyV9 and 1079 for BKPyV. The HBD were tested on a different Bio-Plex 200 analyzer and therefore cut-offs were determined separately. The thresholds for HBD were 666 for JCPyV, 747 for MCPyV, 638 for TSPyV, 274 for HPyV9 and 3085 for BKPyV

Antibody response kinetics

For this study the serological status of an individual was determined by calculating the slope between the sampling time points before and after transplantation as follows: (MFI after transplantation - MFI before transplantation) / number of days between sampling. Samples were categorized as 'stable' if the slope remained within the range of plus or minus two standard deviations of the slope from zero. If the slope was outside of these ranges, individuals were called having either 'increased' or 'decreased' antibody levels. The same categorization was applied for the KTR and the HBD, although a correction factor (the ratio between the median follow-up of the populations) was applied to account for the difference in follow-up time between KTR and HBD cohorts. In case individual follow-up antibody responses passed the seropositivity cut-off threshold and showed either an increased or decreased response, these were categorized as seroconversion (- \rightarrow +) or as seroreversion (+ \rightarrow -), respectively.

Statistics

Statistical analysis was performed in RStudio 1.2.1335 (216) and R 3.6.2 (154) with packages Tidyverse (217), Ime4 (218), lattice (219), limma (220), and ggplot2 (221). To compare responses between populations (KTR and HBD) and account for the correlation between repeated measurements from the same individual, linear mixed models with random intercepts were applied. These models apply fixed effects (group (KTR and HBD), time (in MFI / day)) and random intercepts (i.e. unique for each subject) to model polyomavirus IgG responses over time. In addition, an interaction term between time and group was used since this improved the model as assessed by a likelihood ratio test (ANOVA). Linear regression models were applied to study factors of influence on post-transplant IgG response.

Results

Serum samples from 310 kidney transplant recipients collected before and after transplantation, and from 87 healthy blood donors collected 12 months apart were assessed for IgG antibody responses to JCPyV, MCPyV, TSPyV, HPyV9 and BKPyV. Compared to the HBD, whose HPyV antibody responses remained largely stable, the KTR showed more dynamic HPyV serologic profiles (**Figure 1**). Increased antibody levels were observed in 14.8% of KTR for JCPyV, 7.1% for MCPyV, 10.6% for TSPyV, 8.1% for HPyV9 and 11.9% for BKPyV (**Table 1**). In total, 101 KTR showed increased antibody levels for any HPyV. The majority, 63 (62.4%), increased for just one HPyV (21 solely for JCPyV, 18 for BKPyV, 12 for MCPyV, 9 for TSPyV and 3 for HPyV9), while 38 (37.6%) showed increased antibody levels for more than one HPyV (**Figure 2**). The most prevalent combinations were JCPyV, HPyV9 and BKPyV; JCPyV and HPyV9; TSPyV and MCPyV, which occurred in five KTR. Most increases for HPyV9 (21/25) occurred in conjunction with increases for JCPyV (19/25) and BKPyV (11/25).



Figure 1. Individual IgG responses of kidney transplant recipients and blood donors during follow-up. (A-F)

Shown are IgG responses for KTR (left panels) and blood donors (right panels) in median fluorescent intensity (MFI) against JCPyV (A, B); MCPyV (C, D); TSPyV (E, F); HPyV9 (G, H) and BKPyV (I, J). First measurement is shown on the x-axis, the second measurement on the y-axis.



Figure 1 (continued). Individual IgG responses of kidney transplant recipients and blood donors during follow-up. (G-J)

Shown are IgG responses for KTR (left panels) and blood donors (right panels) in median fluorescent intensity (MFI) against JCPyV (A, B); MCPyV (C, D); TSPyV (E, F); HPyV9 (G, H) and BKPyV (I, J). First measurement is shown on the x-axis, the second measurement on the y-axis.

| IgG kinetics | JCPyV N (%) | MCPyV | TSPyV N (%) | HPyV9 N (%) | BKPyV N (%) |
|--------------------------------------|----------------|------------|----------------|----------------|----------------|
| Kidney transplant recipients (N=310) | | | | | |
| Stable | 252 (81.3) | 272 (87.7) | 252 (81.3) | 276 (89.0) | 256 (82.6) |
| Increased | 46 (14.8) | 22 (7.1) | 33 (10.6) | 25 (8.1) | 37 (11.9) |
| - seroconverted | 20 (6.5) | 7 (2.3) | 4 (1.3) | 20 (6.5) | 2 (0.6) |
| Decreased | 12 (3.9) | 16 (5.2) | 25 (8.1) | 9 (2.9) | 17 (5.5) |
| - seroreverted | 4 (1.3) | 1(0.3) | 1(0.3) | 4 (1.3) | 2 (0.6) |
| Blood donors (N=87) | | | | | |
| Stable | 83 (95.4) | 72 (82.8) | 81 (93.1) | 86 (98.9) | 74 (85.1) |
| Increased | 1 (1.1) | 5 (5.7) | 1 (1.1) | 1(1.1) | 1(1.1) |
| - seroconverted | 0 | 0 | 0 | 0 | 0 |
| Decreased | 3 (3.4) | 10 (11.5) | 0 | 0 | 12 (13.8) |
| - seroreverted | 0 | 0 | 0 | 0 | 4 (4.6) |

 Table 1. Human polyomavirus IgG antibody response kinetics among kidney transplant

 recipients and blood donors

Seroconversion was observed in 6.5% of KTR for JCPyV, 2.3% for MCPyV, 1.3% for TSPyV, 6.5% for HPyV9 and 0.6% for BKPyV (**Table 1**). The percentage seroconverters among the baseline seronegatives was 14.7% (20/136) for JCPyV, 9.6% (7/73) for MCPyV, 6.6% (4/61) for TSPyV, 8.1% (20/247) for HPyV9 and 10% (2/20) for BKPyV. Decreasing HPyV antibody levels were less frequently observed, varying from 2.9 - 5.5%, with seroreversions between 0.3 and 1.3%.

In **Figure 3**, the change in antibody levels over time is shown for the KTR. The antibody response against JCPyV and HPyV9 increased over time following the pattern of that against BKPyV. Antibody responses against MCPyV and HPyV9 remained more or less stable during follow-up. In order to compare trends in HPyV antibody responses between KTR and HBD, linear mixed models with random intercepts were used. Responses at baseline were comparable between KTR and HBD for JCPyV (p = 0.220), MCPyV (p = 0.520) and TSPyV (p = 0.444), but higher in HBD for BKPyV (p < 0.001) and HPyV9 (p < 0.001) (**Table 2**). As expected, the BKPyV response increased significantly over time after kidney transplantation, while BKPyV response declined slightly in the HBD (8.26, 95% Confidence Interval (CI): 4.87-11.65, p < 0.001) (**Table 2**). Interestingly, the JCPyV and HPyV9 antibody response also increased significantly in KTR compared to the HBD (6.61, 95% Confidence Interval (CI): 4.36-8.86, p < 0.001, and (4.74, 95% Confidence Interval (CI): 2.59-6.88, p < 0.001, respectively). No increase in responses after transplantation was observed for MCPyV and TSPyV.



Figure 2. Venn diagram of kidney transplant recipient with increased IgG responses (including seroconversions) against HPyVs.

The numbers in the figure indicate the number of KTRs that showed an increased IgG response to the corresponding polyomavirus(es).

Since the observed increase in JCPyV and HPyV9 posttransplantation antibody response resembled that of BKPyV, we analyzed a possible correlation with donor HPyV response level, as we have demonstrated previously for BKPyV(88). As expected, the pretransplant antibody level was most influential on post-transplant response (p<0.001 for all analyzed polyomaviruses). Furthermore, a high baseline donor antibody level was associated with significant increase in post-transplant levels for JCPyV (p = 0.037), HPyV9 (p=0.005) and BKPyV (p=0.014) (**Table 3**). For HPyV9, the size of the effect depended on the recipient serological status before transplantation, as is evidenced by the interaction term (p = 0.016, **Table 3**), suggesting a high antibody level in the transplant recipient protects against a rise in HPyV9 antibody levels.

Discussion

In this study, we analyzed IgG responses against selected HPyVs with viremic potential in KTR before and after transplantation, in comparison with HPyV IgG responses in HBD over a comparable period of time. Increased IgG responses after kidney transplantation were observed for JCPyV and HPyV9, comparable to what has been shown for BKPyV, while MCPyV and TSPyV IgG responses remained stable in the post-transplantation period, just like all analyzed HPyV IgG responses in the HBD. The observed increase in JCPyV and HPyV9 IgG responses were associated with kidney donor IgG response against the relevant HPyV.



Figure 3. Increase in HPyV IgG response during follow-up for the kidney transplant recipients.

Shown are linear regression lines for IgG responses against the different polyomaviruses with the first timepoint set at zero MFI.

The lack of increased IgG responses against MCPyV and TSPyV after transplantation may not come as a surprise. These HPyVs are generally believed to primarily infect the skin, ⁽²²²⁾ a superficial organ and possibly less sensitive to fluctuations in central antiviral host immunity. For MCPyV this indeed could be the case, although small
amounts of MCPyV DNA are consistently detected in blood (206,207,223). However, for TSPyV it has been shown to circulate at high loads (>10⁶ genome equivalent copies/ ml blood) in KTR for months, in the presymptomatic phase of TS(224). Therefore, it is likely that TSPyV, next to skin, replicates as well in internal, not yet identified, organ or tissue. In such a context it is difficult to explain why IgG responses against TSPyV remain stable, while those against JCPyV and BKPyV clearly rise, unless the (transplanted) end organ, the kidney in the case of JCPyV and BKPyV, is of pivotal importance here. In this regard, the observed increasing serological trend for HPyV9 in KTR, comparable to JCPyV and BKPyV, might suggest that HPyV9 is nephrotropic. Cross-seroreactivity against HPyV9, BKPyV and JCPyV VP1 antigens to explain the concurrent rise in serum antibodies has been ruled out previously(199,212).

For BKPyV we have previously shown that post-transplantation increase in seroreactivity is related to duration and peak viral load of post-transplantation episodes of viremia (225). Unfortunately we are unaware of JCPyV activity and load after kidney transplantation in our KTR cohort, but it might be expected that JCPyV viremia can be detected in (a proportion of) KTR with increased JCPyV IgG responses, since JCPyV and BKPyV are phylogenetically closely related and share the same end organ. Since the kidney donor IgG response seems to influence both the JCPyV IgG response and the HPyV9 IgG response after transplantation, it appears that JCPyV and HPyV9, similar to BKPyV, are transplanted together with the kidney transplant, in a subset of kidney transplant patients. For JCPyV, this has been suggested previously by molecular comparison of JCPyV genomes before and after transplantation (213). Since JCPyV is a significant pathogen in the kidney transplant population, the influence of acquiring JCPyV through the kidney allograft should be subject of further study, especially for JCPyV seronegative recipients.

| НРуV | Predictors* | Estimates | 95% CI | p-value |
|-------|--------------|-----------|---------------------|---------|
| JCPyV | Intercept | 3770.70 | 3104.57 - 4436.83 | <0.001 |
| | Group | 893.47 | -532.20 - 2319.14 | 0.220 |
| | Time | 6.61 | 4.36 - 8.86 | <0.001 |
| | Group * Time | -7.39 | -10.434.35 | <0.001 |
| МСРуV | Intercept | 9428.54 | 8510.92 - 10346.16 | <0.001 |
| | Group | 644.79 | -1316.83 - 2606.41 | 0.520 |
| | Time | 0.22 | -1.76 - 2.20 | 0.827 |
| | Group * Time | -2.01 | -4.69 - 0.66 | 0.140 |
| TSPyV | Intercept | 9334.44 | 8504.31 - 10164.56 | <0.001 |
| | Group | -692.83 | -2467.29 - 1081.64 | 0.444 |
| | Time | 1.33 | -0.39 - 3.05 | 0.131 |
| | Group * Time | -0.23 | -2.55 - 2.09 | 0.846 |
| НРуV9 | Intercept | 483.37 | -84.78 - 1051.53 | 0.096 |
| | Group | 2003.58 | 786.95 - 3220.21 | 0.001 |
| | Time | 4.74 | 2.59 - 6.88 | <0.001 |
| | Group * Time | -5.57 | -8.472.68 | <0.001 |
| ВКРуV | Intercept | 17122.68 | 16083.76 - 18161.59 | <0.001 |
| | Group | 5767.08 | 3543.90 - 7990.27 | <0.001 |
| | Time | 8.26 | 4.87 - 11.65 | <0.001 |
| | Group * Time | -14.38 | -18.959.81 | <0.001 |

Table 2. Linear mixed effects models of polyomavirus IgG levels during follow-up

* Linear mixed models with random intercepts and fixed effects 'Group' (with kidney transplant patients as the reference group, opposed to blood donors) and 'Time' (in MFI / day). 'Group * Time' is the interaction term, which improved the fit of the model (as tested by ANOVA)

Assuming seroconversion results from primary infection, we compared the frequency of seroconversions in the KTR to the HBD controls, to find evidence for transplantation-related transmission of HPyVs. The highest seroconversion rates in KTR were observed for JCPyV and HPyV9, both 6.5%, which clearly differed from the HBD, where no seroconversions were noticed. For HPyV9, the majority of the sero-increasers (80%; 20 out of 25, **Table 1**) were actually seroconverters, whereas for JCPyV this constituted 43%. Since BKPyV seroprevalence in the general population is extremely high (199,226), there is no use in comparing the observed seroconversion numbers for this virus. Altogether, these data are suggestive of donor origin of at least a proportion of JCPyV and HPyV9 infections after transplantation in KTR. The actual size of kidney allograft-mediated HPyV transmission could be larger but is difficult to assess serologically, because transmission in seropositive recipients does not result in seroconversion. However, it could result in increased IgG responses, as we observed especially for JCPyV.

Table 3. Linear regression models of age, sex, donor MFI (per 1000) and MFI before transplant (per 1000).

| HPyV | Predictors* | Estimates | 95% CI | p-value |
|-------|---------------------------|-----------|--------------------|---------|
| JCPyV | Intercept | 1478.88 | -527.43 - 3485.20 | 0.148 |
| | Age | -0.58 | -37.15 - 36.00 | 0.975 |
| | Sex | 417.88 | -611.43 - 1447.18 | 0.425 |
| | Donor MFI | 80.03 | 4.80 - 155.26 | 0.037 |
| | MFI before Tx | 786.81 | 700.19 - 873.42 | <0.001 |
| MCPyV | Intercept | -94.62 | -1634.34 - 1445.10 | 0.904 |
| | Age | 22.08 | -5.19 - 49.36 | 0.112 |
| | Sex | -67.06 | -840.27 - 706.16 | 0.865 |
| | Donor MFI | 23.66 | -27.66 - 74.99 | 0.365 |
| | MFI before Tx | 897.82 | 851.19 - 944.45 | <0.001 |
| TSPyV | Intercept | 2138.27 | 584.61 - 3691.94 | 0.007 |
| | Age | -25.24 | -51.46 - 0.99 | 0.059 |
| | Sex | 399.16 | -339.14 - 1137.45 | 0.288 |
| | Donor MFI | 7.07 | -41.70 - 55.85 | 0.775 |
| | MFI before Tx | 901.62 | 855.10 - 948.14 | <0.001 |
| НРуV9 | Intercept | 823.64 | -1002.89 - 2650.16 | 0.375 |
| | Age | -1.26 | -35.37 - 32.85 | 0.942 |
| | Sex | 217.19 | -746.68 - 1181.06 | 0.658 |
| | Donor MFI | 188.46 | 56.63 - 320.30 | 0.005 |
| | MFI before Tx | 864.39 | 759.39 - 969.39 | <0.001 |
| | Donor MFI * MFI before Tx | -25.92 | -47.074.78 | 0.016 |
| BKPyV | Intercept | 3456.13 | 359.01 - 6553.26 | 0.029 |
| | Age | -1.54 | -48.89 - 45.81 | 0.949 |
| | Sex | 476.73 | -863.24 - 1816.70 | 0.484 |
| | Donor MFI | 89.58 | 18.45 - 160.71 | 0.014 |
| | MFI before Tx | 783.28 | 709.80 - 856.77 | <0.001 |

* Interaction terms (Donor MFI * MFI before Tx) were tested for all polyomaviruses, but are only shown here if these improved the fit of the model (as tested by ANOVA). Tx: transplantation.

Further research is necessary to confirm our findings and to determine the clinical relevance of, for example, JCPyV allograft exposure for developing viremia, JCPyV-associated nephropathy, and perhaps even PML after kidney transplantation. A study in adult KTR has previously shown a correlation between kidney donor JCPyV IgG response and JCPyV viruria, suggesting the donor kidney to be the origin of JCPyV viruria in the recipient (227). Recently, transmission of JCPyV through the kidney allograft was demonstrated for a small number of kidney transplantation donor and recipient pairs with the help of metagenomic sequencing (213), comparable to what has been shown for BKPyV (88,124).

In conclusion, this study provides evidence that KTR are exposed to JCPyV and HPyV9 after transplantation (next to BKPyV). The origin of this exposure could lie in the transplanted kidney. Whether donor screening could provide insight in determining KTR risk of developing for instance JCPyV infection and related complications could be subject of further study.





 $\langle \rangle$











Chapter 7 General discussion

Blood products and components are often administered to immunocompromised patients, including children with haemato-oncological diseases (4). Polyomavirus-related diseases occur mainly in immunocompromised patients, a group that is slowly growing in number. For example, the number of kidney transplant patients has increased worldwide (228) as well as the number of patients on immunomodulatory drugs, such as multiple sclerosis patients on natalizumab (229). Unlike other viral infections in immunocompromised patients, such as cytomegalovirus, no specific, proven effective treatments are available for polyomavirus-related diseases, other than reduction of immunosuppressive regimens. Interestingly, donor polyomavirus serology can help assess risk for BK polyomavirus-associated nephropathy (88) and primary infection is an important mechanism in the development of trichodysplasia spinulosa (77). This means that exposure rather than reactivation plays an important role in the occurrence of disease. Thus, prevention of exposure to polyomaviruses can be an important preventative measure for immunocompromised patients.

The primary purpose of this thesis was to gather prevalence data regarding polyomavirus infections in Dutch blood donors. In **Chapter 2**, an assay was described to measure seroreactivity in serum and in **Chapter 3** this assay was used to determine the seroprevalence of fourteen polyomaviruses in blood donors using a multiplex immunoassay. On average a donor was found to be seropositive for nine human polyomaviruses. Counterintuitively, because antibodies do not protect against polyomaviruses and polyomaviruses persist, the seropositive donors are the population in which viremia can occur (in addition to primary infection). In **Chapter 4** the DNA prevalence of polyomaviruses was determined by screening blood donors with a quantitative PCR. Overall, polyomaviral DNA was detected in 5% of blood donors, albeit at low viral loads. For JCPyV a correlation was observed between JCPyV viral load and JCPyV seroresponse.

Relating to blood safety, we now know that polyomaviruses are present in blood donations, yet the infectivity remains to be established (i.e. whether a PCR positive blood product can cause infection in a recipient). To further elucidate this matter, the determination of the presence of viral particles, rather than only DNA, is important. This can be done for example by inclusion of an endonuclease step before a qPCR test (230). In addition, blood components eligible for transfusion (e.g., plasma, red blood cells, platelets) should be tested, since detection of infectious viral particles in these samples will mean that polyomaviruses are transfused. This could be combined with serology in the blood transfusion recipients. Recently, studies using

metagenomics found evidence of polyomavirus presence in platelets ⁽¹⁴¹⁾, in red blood cell concentrates and fresh frozen plasma ⁽¹⁴⁰⁾. Compared to qPCR, metagenomics is still limited in sensitivity and it is likely to find a higher prevalence with qPCR.

Plasma, platelets and to a lesser extent red blood cell concentrates are often treated with pathogen inactivation techniques, such as solvent-detergent or photochemical inactivation. However, polyomaviruses are non-enveloped while many inactivation techniques mainly disrupt the lipid membrane of viruses. As a result, these pathogen inactivation techniques do not affect polyomaviruses, comparable to other non-enveloped viruses, like Parvovirus B19 and Hepatitis A virus (50). Unlike parvovirus and hepatitis A virus, where antibodies present in blood donations protect against infection of blood transfusion recipients, polyomavirus antibodies are a poor predictor of immunity against polyomavirus infection. They merely reflect recent viral activity (replication, increased viral load) and seem to function as a determinant of the viral reservoir, as was shown for Merkel cell polyomavirus (231) and for BK polyomavirus (88). As such, donors with high polyomavirus antibodies may experience a relatively higher viral load in blood donations and pose a higher risk for recipients. Donor deferral based on serology is often used in infectious risk management for hemovigilance, for example for HIV. However, since polyomavirus seropositivity is so common, this would be ill-advised. Furthermore, any risk associated with polyomaviruses would generally be limited to immunocompromised recipients, who are more susceptible to infection from any source, including blood transfusion.

Since blood transfusions are frequently given to immunocompromised patients, it requires special care to protect these patients from infectious risk. In recent years, a prime example of hemovigilance for the protection of immunocompromised patients has been the start of screening for Hepatitis E virus (HEV), specifically genotype 3. HEV is a nonenveloped virus, which is found primarily in pigs and can be acquired by healthy persons through consumption of uncooked or cured meat, such as sausages or gammon. This can lead to an asymptomatic period of HEV viremia in healthy persons (232). Unfortunately, HEV is not inactivated by solvent / detergent treatment. Through blood transfusion, this can then be acquired by immunocompromised patients (233). Recently, the screening of blood donors for the presence of HEV has increased in Europe (9). In the Netherlands, this is currently done by screening all blood donors. Although the risk of a transfusion-acquired HEV infection is low (9), it is apparently high enough to merit the screening of all donors. For polyomaviruses, it may be more sensible to work towards selective thorough

screening for transfusion transmitted infections specifically for blood products that are transfused to immunocompromised patients.

In **Chapter 6**, we describe that kidney transplantation can lead to an increased response to or seroconversion for BKPyV, JCPyV and HPyV9, likely because of the presence of these viruses in the kidney transplant. This is troublesome, because both BKPvV and JCPvV can lead to polyomavirus-associated nephropathy in kidney transplant recipients. Previously, it was demonstrated that pretransplantation serological screening can predict risk of development of BKPyV viremia (88). Similar mechanisms may play a role for JCPyV, although JCPyV-associated nephropathy is rare (234). Furthermore, donor-derived JCPyV was recently demonstrated through metagenomic sequencing in the urine of kidney transplant patients, despite presence of antibodies against JCPyV in the kidney transplant patients (213). Next to JCPyVassociated nephropathy, JCPyV can also cause progressive multifocal leukoencephalopathy in both solid organ transplant recipients and bone marrow transplant recipients (235). Further study of polyomaviruses in immunocompromised patients may lead to better prevention of polyomavirus-related disease. For example, patients at high risk for disease can be screened more intensively, which can lead to earlier diagnosis and better prognosis. While patients at low risk do not require intensive monitoring and thus less frequent controls.

Pathogen detection requires well-validated, specialized tools to adequately estimate infectious risks. In **Chapter 2** the lab-developed immunoassay was extensively validated, whereas in **Chapter 5** the qPCRs were retrospectively analyzed with a novel *in silico* evaluation. In recent years, the sequencing of whole (viral) genomes has become easier, due to advanced sequencing techniques and bioinformatic tools. It has been estimated that hundreds of thousands of viruses are currently unknown in mammals alone (²³⁶) and a recent study showed that discovery of several thousand new viruses is already possible with current techniques (²³⁷). Inevitably, the number of known viral genomes will increase enormously in the coming years, including variants of known pathogens that may be poorly recognized. Automated determination of probability of detection of new viral genomes by existing qPCRs using *in silico* evaluation will be extremely helpful to keep current diagnostics up-to-date.

Not all challenges relating to human polyomavirus transmission have been solved by the studies performed in this thesis. However, the creation of well-validated molecular tools and the first evidence of polyomavirus transmission will provide a solid base for follow-up research. Specifically, the identification of infectious particles in different blood components will be vital to further substantiate any risk. Furthermore, developments in next generation sequencing allow easier identification of donor-derived human polyomavirus transmission.











Chapter 8 Addendum

Reference list

- 1. Lieshout-Krikke RW. Residual infectious risks in blood transfusion. 2016.
- Alter HJ, Klein HG. The hazards of blood transfusion in historical perspective. Blood. 2008 Oct 1;112(7):2617-26.
- Danovic F, Lieshout-Krikke RW, Koopman MWW, van Kraaij MGJ. De bloedveiligheid in Nederland. Nederlands Tijdschrift voor Geneeskunde [Internet]. 2020 Jan 27 [cited 2020 Feb 6]; Available from: <u>https://www.ntvg.nl/artikelen/</u> de-bloedveiligheid-nederland
- Borkent-Raven BA, Janssen MP, Poel CLVD, Schaasberg WP, Bonsel GJ, Hout BAV. The PROTON study: profiles of blood product transfusion recipients in the Netherlands. Vox Sanguinis. 2010 Jul 1;99(1):54-64.
- Caram-Deelder C, Bom JG van der, Putter H, Leyte A, Kerkhof D van de, Evers D, et al. Age of platelet concentrates and time to the next transfusion. Transfusion. 2018;58(1):121-31.
- Karafin MS, Bruhn R, Westlake M, Sullivan MT, Bialkowski W, Edgren G, et al. Demographic and epidemiologic characterization of transfusion recipients from four US regions: evidence from the REDS-III recipient database. Transfusion. 2017;57(12):2903-13.
- Hansel TT, Kropshofer H, Singer T, Mitchell JA, George AJT. The safety and side effects of monoclonal antibodies. Nature Reviews Drug Discovery. 2010 Apr;9(4):325-38.

- Zaza G, Tomei P, Granata S, Boschiero L, Lupo A. Monoclonal Antibody Therapy and Renal Transplantation: Focus on Adverse Effects. Toxins. 2014 Mar;6(3):869.
- 9. Domanović D, Tedder R, Blümel J, Zaaijer H, Gallian P, Niederhauser C, et al. Hepatitis E and blood donation safety in selected European countries: a shift to screening? Euro Surveill [Internet]. 2017 Apr 20 [cited 2020 Mar 2];22(16). Available from: https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/ PMC5404480/
- Santos CAQ, Brennan DC, Fraser VJ, Olsen MA. Delayed-onset cytomegalovirus disease coded during hospital readmission after kidney transplantation. Transplantation. 2014 Jul 27;98(2):187.
- Wagner SJ, Leiby DA, Roback JD. Existing and Emerging Blood-Borne Pathogens: Impact on the Safety of Blood Transfusion for the Hematology/Oncology Patient. Hematology/Oncology Clinics of North America. 2019 Oct 1;33(5):739-48.
- Dzik WH. Leukoreduction of blood components. Current Opinion in Hematology. 2002 Nov;9(6):521-526.
- Keitel S. Guide to the quality and safety of tissues and cells for human application. European Committee (Partial Agreement) on organ transplantation, European Directorate for the Quality of Medicines and HealthCare (EDQM), 3nd edn, Council of Europe. 2019;
- Feltkamp MCW, Kazem S, van der Meijden E, Lauber C, Gorbalenya AE. From Stockholm to Malawi: recent developments in studying human polyomaviruses. J Gen Virol. 2013 Mar;94(Pt 3):482-96.

- Gross L. Neck tumors, or leukemia, developing in adult C3H mice following inoculation, in early infancy, with filtered (Berkefeld N), or centrifugated (144,000 X g), Ak-leukemic extracts. Cancer. 1953 Sep;6(5):948-58.
- Fulghieri C, Bloom S. Sarah Elizabeth Stewart. Emerg Infect Dis. 2014 May; 20(5):893-5.
- Morgan GJ. Ludwik Gross, Sarah Stewart, and the 1950s discoveries of Gross murine leukemia virus and polyoma virus. Studies in History and Philosophy of Science Part C: Studies in History and Philosophy of Biological and Biomedical Sciences. 2014 Dec 1;48:200-9.
- Petricciani J, Sheets R, Griffiths E, Knezevic I. Adventitious agents in viral vaccines: Lessons learned from 4 case studies. Biologicals. 2014 Sep 1; 42(5):223-36.
- Strickler HD, Rosenberg PS, Devesa SS, Hertel J, Fraumeni, Jr JF, et al. Contamination of poliovirus vaccines with simian virus 40 (1955-1963) and subsequent cancer rates. JAMA. 1998 Jan 28;279(4):292-5.
- 20. Bernice Eddy. In: Wikipedia [Internet]. 2020 [cited 2020 Jun 9]. Available from: https://en.wikipedia.org/w/index. php?title=Bernice_Eddy&oldid=951269916
- Gardner SylviaD, Field AnneM, Coleman DulcieV, Hulme B. New human papovavirus (b.K.) Isolated from urine after renal transplantatioN. The Lancet. 1971 Jun 19;297(7712):1253-7.
- Padgett BillieL, Zurhein GabrieleM, Walker DuardL, Eckroade RobertJ, Dessel BertH. Cultivation of papova-like virus from human brain with progressive multifocal leucoencephalopathy. The Lancet. 1971 Jun 19;297(7712):1257-60.

- Allander T, Andreasson K, Gupta S, Bjerkner A, Bogdanovic G, Persson MAA, et al. Identification of a Third Human Polyomavirus. J Virol. 2007 Apr 15;81(8):4130-6.
- 24. Gaynor AM, Nissen MD, Whiley DM, Mackay IM, Lambert SB, Wu G, et al. Identification of a Novel Polyomavirus from Patients with Acute Respiratory Tract Infections. PLoS Pathog. 2007 May 4;3(5):e64.
- Feng H, Shuda M, Chang Y, Moore PS. Clonal Integration of a Polyomavirus in Human Merkel Cell Carcinoma. Science. 2008 Feb 22;319(5866):1096-100.
- Schowalter RM, Pastrana DV, Pumphrey KA, Moyer AL, Buck CB. Merkel Cell Polyomavirus and Two Previously Unknown Polyomaviruses Are Chronically Shed from Human Skin. Cell Host & Microbe. 2010 Jun 17;7(6):509–15.
- 27. van der Meijden E, Janssens RWA, Lauber C, Bavinck JNB, Gorbalenya AE, Feltkamp MCW. Discovery of a New Human Polyomavirus Associated with Trichodysplasia Spinulosa in an Immunocompromized Patient. PLOS Pathogens. 2010 Jul 29;6(7):e1001024.
- Siebrasse EA, Reyes A, Lim ES, Zhao G, Mkakosya RS, Manary MJ, et al. Identification of MW Polyomavirus, a Novel Polyomavirus in Human Stool. J Virol. 2012 Oct 1;86(19):10321-6.
- 29. Buck CB, Phan GQ, Raiji MT, Murphy PM, McDermott DH, McBride AA. Complete Genome Sequence of a Tenth Human Polyomavirus. J Virol. 2012 Oct;86(19):10887.

- 30. Lim ES, Reyes A, Antonio M, Saha D, Ikumapayi UN, Adeyemi M, et al. Discovery of STL polyomavirus, a polyomavirus of ancestral recombinant origin that encodes a unique T antigen by alternative splicing. Virology. 2013 Feb 20;436(2):295-303.
- Korup S, Rietscher J, Calvignac-Spencer S, Trusch F, Hofmann J, Moens U, et al. Identification of a novel human polyomavirus in organs of the gastrointestinal tract. PLoS ONE. 2013;8(3):e58021.
- 32. Mishra N, Pereira M, Rhodes RH, An P, Pipas JM, Jain K, et al. Identification of a novel polyomavirus in a pancreatic transplant recipient with retinal blindness and vasculitic myopathy. J Infect Dis. 2014 Nov 15;210(10):1595-9.
- 33. Gheit T, Dutta S, Oliver J, Robitaille A, Hampras S, Combes J-D, et al. Isolation and characterization of a novel putative human polyomavirus. Virology. 2017 Jun;506:45-54.
- Ondov BD, Starrett GJ, Sappington A, Kostic A, Koren S, Buck CB, et al. Mash Screen: high-throughput sequence containment estimation for genome discovery. Genome Biology. 2019 Nov 5; 20(1):232.
- Kamminga S, Meijden E van der, Feltkamp MCW, Zaaijer HL. Seroprevalence of fourteen human polyomaviruses determined in blood donors. PLOS ONE. 2018 okt;13(10):e0206273.
- Gedvilaite A, Tryland M, Ulrich RG, Schneider J, Kurmauskaite V, Moens U, et al. Novel polyomaviruses in shrews (Soricidae) with close similarity to human polyomavirus 12. J Gen Virol. 2017 Nov 2;
- Fahsbender E, Altan E, Estrada M, Seguin MA, Young P, Leutenegger CM, et al. Lyon-IARC Polyomavirus DNA in Feces of Diarrheic Cats. Microbiol Resour Announc. 2019 Jul 18;8(29):e00550-19.

- Torres C. Evolution and molecular epidemiology of polyomaviruses. Infection, Genetics and Evolution. 2020 Apr 1; 79:104150.
- Buck CB, Doorslaer KV, Peretti A, Geoghegan EM, Tisza MJ, An P, et al. The Ancient Evolutionary History of Polyomaviruses. PLOS Pathog. 2016 Apr 19;12(4):e1005574.
- Ehlers B, Anoh AE, Ben Salem N, Broll S, Couacy-Hymann E, Fischer D, et al. Novel Polyomaviruses in Mammals from Multiple Orders and Reassessment of Polyomavirus Evolution and Taxonomy. Viruses. 2019 Oct;11(10):930.
- Moens U, Calvignac-Spencer S, Lauber C, Ramqvist T, Feltkamp MCW, Daugherty MD, et al. ICTV Report - Polyomaviridae dsDNA Viruses - International Committee on Taxonomy of Viruses (ICTV) [Internet]. ICTV Report. 2018 [cited 2020 Jan 24]. Available from: <u>https://talk.ictvonline.org/ictv-reports/ictv_online_report/</u> dsdna-viruses/w/polyomaviridae
- Baker TS, Drak J, Bina M. The capsid of small papova viruses contains 72 pentameric capsomeres: direct evidence from cryo-electron-microscopy of simian virus 40. Biophys J. 1989 Feb;55(2):243-53.
- Moens U, Krumbholz A, Ehlers B, Zell R, Johne R, Calvignac-Spencer S, et al. Biology, evolution, and medical importance of polyomaviruses: An update. Infection, Genetics and Evolution. 2017 Oct;54:18-38.
- Sullivan CS, Pipas JM. T antigens of simian virus 40: molecular chaperones for viral replication and tumorigenesis. Microbiol Mol Biol Rev. 2002 Jun;66(2):179-202.

- 45. Baez CF, Brandão Varella R, Villani S, Delbue S. Human Polyomaviruses: The Battle of Large and Small Tumor Antigens. Virology (Auckl) [Internet]. 2017 Dec 5 [cited 2020 Jan 21];8. Available from: https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/ PMC5721967/
- Moens U, Van Ghelue M, Song X, Ehlers B. Serological cross-reactivity between human polyomaviruses. Rev Med Virol. 2013 Jul 1;23(4):250-64.
- Hurdiss DL, Frank M, Snowden JS, Macdonald A, Ranson NA. The Structure of an Infectious Human Polyomavirus and Its Interactions with Cellular Receptors. Structure. 2018 Jun 5;26(6):839-847.e3.
- Daniels R, Sadowicz D, Hebert DN. A very late viral protein triggers the lytic release of SV40. PLoS Pathog. 2007 Jul;3(7):e98.
- Sauerbrei A, Wutzler P. Testing thermal resistance of viruses. Arch Virol. 2009 Jan 1;154(1):115-9.
- 50. Salunkhe V, van der Meer PF, de Korte D, Seghatchian J, Gutiérrez L. Development of blood transfusion product pathogen reduction treatments: A review of methods, current applications and demands. Transfusion and Apheresis Science. 2015 Feb 1;52(1):19–34.
- Purighalla R, Shapiro R, McCauley J, Randhawa P. BK virus infection in a kidney allograft diagnosed by needle biopsy. American Journal of Kidney Diseases. 1995 Oct 1;26(4):671-3.
- 52. Erard V, Storer B, Corey L, Nollkamper J, Huang M-L, Limaye A, et al. BK Virus Infection in Hematopoietic Stem Cell Transplant Recipients: Frequency, Risk Factors, and Association with Postengraftment Hemorrhagic Cystitis. Clin Infect Dis. 2004 Dec 15;39(12):1861-5.

- Coleman DV, Mackenzie EF, Gardner SD, Poulding JM, Amer B, Russell WJ. Human polyomavirus (BK) infection and ureteric stenosis in renal allograft recipients. Journal of Clinical Pathology. 1978 Apr 1;31(4):338-47.
- Starrett GJ, Buck CB. The case for BK polyomavirus as a cause of bladder cancer. Current Opinion in Virology. 2019 Dec 1;39:8-15.
- 55. Reuwer AQ, Heron M, van der Dussen D, Schneider-Hohendorf T, Murk J I. The clinical utility of JC virus antibody index measurements in the context of progressive multifocal leukoencephalopathy. Acta Neurol Scand. 2017 Nov 1;136:37-44.
- Calabrese LH, Molloy E, Berger J. Sorting out the risks in progressive multifocal leukoencephalopathy. Nature Reviews Rheumatology. 2015 Feb;11(2):119-23.
- 57. Schwab N, Schneider-Hohendorf T, Hoyt T, Gross CC, Meuth SG, Klotz L, et al. Anti-JCV serology during natalizumab treatment: Review and meta-analysis of 17 independent patient cohorts analyzing anti-John Cunningham polyoma virus sero-conversion rates under natalizumab treatment and differences between technical and biological sero-converters. Mult Scler. 2018;24(5):563-73.
- Becker JC, Stang A, DeCaprio JA, Cerroni L, Lebbé C, Veness M, et al. Merkel cell carcinoma. Nature Reviews Disease Primers. 2017 Oct 26;3(1):1-17.
- Nguyen KD, Lee EE, Yue Y, Stork J, Pock L, North JP, et al. Human polyomavirus 6 and 7 are associated with pruritic and dyskeratotic dermatoses. J Am Acad Dermatol. 2017 May;76(5):932-940.e3.

- 60. Hashida Y, Higuchi T, Nakajima K, Ujihara T, Murakami I, Fujieda M, et al. Human Polyomavirus 6 with the Asian/Japanese Genotype in Cases of Kimura Disease and Angiolymphoid Hyperplasia with Eosinophilia. Journal of Investigative Dermatology [Internet]. 2020 Jan 23 [cited 2020 Jan 27]; Available from: http://www.sciencedirect.com/science/ article/pii/S0022202X20300506
- Gossai A, Waterboer T, Nelson HH, Michel A, Willhauck-Fleckenstein M, Farzan SF, et al. Seroepidemiology of Human Polyomaviruses in a US Population. Am J Epidemiol. 2016 Jan 1;183(1):61-9.
- Kean JM, Rao S, Wang M, Garcea RL. Seroepidemiology of human polyomaviruses. PLoS Pathog. 2009 Mar;5(3):e1000363.
- 63. Egli A, Infanti L, Dumoulin A, Buser A, Samaridis J, Stebler C, et al. Prevalence of Polyomavirus BK and JC Infection and Replication in 400 Healthy Blood Donors. J Infect Dis. 2009 Mar 15;199(6):837-46.
- Nguyen NL, Le B-M, Wang D. Serologic Evidence of Frequent Human Infection with WU and KI Polyomaviruses. Emerg Infect Dis. 2009 Aug;15(8):1199-205.
- 65. van der Meijden E, Bialasiewicz S, Rockett RJ, Tozer SJ, Sloots TP, Feltkamp MCW. Different Serologic Behavior of MCPyV, TSPyV, HPyV6, HPyV7 and HPyV9 Polyomaviruses Found on the Skin. PLoS One [Internet]. 2013 Nov 21 [cited 2015 Oct 5];8(11). Available from: <u>http://www.ncbi.</u> nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC3836759/
- 66. van der Meijden E, Kazem S, Burgers MM, Janssens R, Bavinck JNB, de Melker H, et al. Seroprevalence of Trichodysplasia Spinulosa-associated Polyomavirus. Emerg Infect Dis. 2011 Aug;17(8):1355-63.

- 67. Šroller V, Hamšíková E, Ludvíková V, Musil J, Němečková Š, Saláková M. Seroprevalence rates of HPyV6, HPyV7, TSPyV, HPyV9, MWPyV and KIPyV polyomaviruses among the healthy blood donors. J Med Virol. 2016 Jul 1;88(7):1254-61.
- 68. Šroller V, Hamšíková E, Ludvíková V, Vochozková P, Kojzarová M, Fraiberk M, et al. Seroprevalence rates of BKV, JCV, and MCPyV polyomaviruses in the general Czech Republic population. J Med Virol. 2014 Sep 1;86(9):1560-8.
- 69. Cesaro S, Dalianis T, Hanssen Rinaldo C, Koskenvuo M, Pegoraro A, Einsele H, et al. ECIL guidelines for the prevention, diagnosis and treatment of BK polyomavirus-associated haemorrhagic cystitis in haematopoietic stem cell transplant recipients. J Antimicrob Chemother. 2018 Jan 1;73(1):12-21.
- Hirsch HH, Steiger J. Polyomavirus BK. The Lancet Infectious Diseases. 2003 Oct 1;3(10):611-23.
- Hirsch HH, Kardas P, Kranz D, Leboeuf C. The human JC polyomavirus (JCPyV): virological background and clinical implications. APMIS. 2013;121(8):685-727.
- Tan CS, Koralnik IJ. Progressive multifocal leukoencephalopathy and other disorders caused by JC virus: clinical features and pathogenesis. The Lancet Neurology. 2010 Apr 1;9(4):425-37.
- 73. Dehority WN, Eickman MM, Schwalm KC, Gross SM, Schroth GP, Young SA, et al. Complete genome sequence of a KI polyomavirus isolated from an otherwise healthy child with severe lower respiratory tract infection. J Med Virol. 2017 May 1;89(5):926-30.

- 74. Toptan T, Yousem SA, Ho J, Matsushima Y, Stabile LP, Fernández-Figueras M-T, et al. Survey for human polyomaviruses in cancer. JCl Insight [Internet]. 2016 Feb 25 [cited 2017 Jan 10];1(2). Available from: https://insight.jci.org/articles/view/85562
- 75. Rascovan N, Monteil Bouchard S, Grob J-J, Collet-Villette A-M, Gaudy-Marqueste C, Penicaud M, et al. Human Polyomavirus-6 Infecting Lymph Nodes of a Patient With an Angiolymphoid Hyperplasia With Eosinophilia or Kimura Disease. Clin Infect Dis. 2016 Jun 1;62(11):1419-21.
- Beckervordersandforth J, Pujari S, Rennspiess D, Speel EJM, Winnepenninckx V, Diaz C, et al. Frequent detection of human polyomavirus 6 in keratoacanthomas. Diagnostic Pathology. 2016 Jul 7;11(1):58.
- 77. van der Meijden E, Horváth B, Nijland M, Vries K de, Rácz E, Diercks GF, et al. Primary Polyomavirus Infection, Not Reactivation, as the Cause of Trichodysplasia Spinulosa in Immunocompromised Patients. J Infect Dis. 2016 Aug 30;jiw403.
- Sauvage V. Human Polyomavirus Related to African Green Monkey Lymphotropic Polyomavirus. Emerging Infectious Diseases [Internet]. 2011 Aug [cited 2015 May 26]; Available from: <u>http://wwwnc.cdc.</u> gov/eid/article/17/8/11-0278_article.htm
- 79. Scuda N, Hofmann J, Calvignac-Spencer S, Ruprecht K, Liman P, Kühn J, et al. A Novel Human Polyomavirus Closely Related to the African Green Monkey-Derived Lymphotropic Polyomavirus. J Virol. 2011 May 1;85(9):4586-90.
- Ramahi E, Choi J, Fuller CD, Eng TY. Merkel Cell Carcinoma. Am J Clin Oncol. 2013 Jun;36(3):299-309.

- Gomez-Arias PJ, Salido-Vallejo R. Merkel-Cell Carcinoma. New England Journal of Medicine. 2019 Dec 5;381(23):e40.
- Ling PD, Lednicky JA, Keitel WA, Poston DG, White ZS, Peng R, et al. The Dynamics of Herpesvirus and Polyomavirus Reactivation and Shedding in Healthy Adults: A 14-Month Longitudinal Study. J Infect Dis. 2003 May 15;187(10):1571-80.
- Rockett RJ, Bialasiewicz S, Mhango L, Gaydon J, Holding R, Whiley DM, et al. Acquisition of Human Polyomaviruses in the First 18 Months of Life. Emerg Infect Dis. 2015 Feb;21(2):365-7.
- 84. Sadeghi M, Wang Y, Ramqvist T, Aaltonen L-M, Pyöriä L, Toppinen M, et al. Multiplex detection in tonsillar tissue of all known human polyomaviruses. BMC Infect Dis [Internet]. 2017 Jun 8;17. Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/ PMC5465560/
- Waterboer T, Sehr P, Michael KM, Franceschi S, Nieland JD, Joos TO, et al. Multiplex Human Papillomavirus Serology Based on In Situ-Purified Glutathione S-Transferase Fusion Proteins. Clinical Chemistry. 2005 Oct 1;51(10):1845-53.
- 86. Nicol JTJ, Robinot R, Carpentier A, Carandina G, Mazzoni E, Tognon M, et al. Age-Specific Seroprevalences of Merkel Cell Polyomavirus, Human Polyomaviruses 6, 7, and 9, and Trichodysplasia Spinulosa-Associated Polyomavirus. Clin Vaccine Immunol. 2013 Mar;20(3):363-8.
- Kamminga S, Meijden E van der, Wunderink HF, Touzé A, Zaaijer HL, Feltkamp MCW. Development and Evaluation of a Broad Bead-Based Multiplex Immunoassay To Measure IgG Seroreactivity against Human Polyomaviruses. J Clin Microbiol. 2018 Apr 1;56(4):e01566-17.

- 88. Wunderink HF, van der Meijden E, van der Blij-de Brouwer CS, Mallat MJK, Haasnoot GW, van Zwet EW, et al. Pretransplantation Donor-Recipient Pair Seroreactivity Against BK Polyomavirus Predicts Viremia and Nephropathy After Kidney Transplantation. Am J Transplant. 2017;17(1):161-72.
- Solis M, Velay A, Porcher R, Domingo-Calap P, Soulier E, Joly M, et al. Neutralizing Antibody-Mediated Response and Risk of BK Virus-Associated Nephropathy. J Am Soc Nephrol. 2018;29(1):326–34.
- Schmitt C, Raggub L, Linnenweber-Held S, Adams O, Schwarz A, Heim A. Donor origin of BKV replication after kidney transplantation. J Clin Virol. 2014 Feb;59(2):120-5.
- 91. Wunderink HF, van der Meijden E, van der Blij-de Brouwer CS, Zaaijer HL, Kroes ACM, van Zwet EW, et al. Stability of BK polyomavirus IgG seroreactivity and its correlation with preceding viremia. J Clin Virol. 2017 May;90:46-51.
- 92. Calvignac-Spencer S, Feltkamp MCW, Daugherty MD, Moens U, Ramqvist T, Johne R, et al. A taxonomy update for the family Polyomaviridae. Arch Virol. 2016 Jun 1;161(6):1739-50.
- Astrom KE, Mancall EL, Richardson EP. Progressive multifocal leukoencephalopathy; a hitherto unrecognized complication of chronic lymphatic leukaemia and Hodgkin's disease. Brain. 1958 Mar;81(1):93-111.
- 94. Meijden E van der, Janssens RWA, Lauber C, Bouwes Bavinck JN, Gorbalenya AE, Feltkamp MCW. Discovery of a New Human Polyomavirus Associated with Trichodysplasia Spinulosa in an Immunocompromized Patient. PLoS Pathog. 2010 Jul 29;6(7):e1001024.

- 95. Nguyen KD, Lee EE, Yue Y, Stork J, Pock L, North JP, et al. Human polyomavirus 6 and 7 are associated with pruritic and dyskeratotic dermatoses. Journal of the American Academy of Dermatology [Internet]. [cited 2017 Jan 10]; Available from: <u>http://www.sciencedirect.com/</u> science/article/pii/S0190962216311501
- 96. Rennspiess D, Pujari S, Keijzers M, Abdul-Hamid MA, Hochstenbag M, Dingemans A-M, et al. Detection of Human Polyomavirus 7 in human thymic epithelial tumors. J Thorac Oncol. 2015 Feb;10(2):360-6.
- Keijzers M, Rensspiess D, Pujari S, Abdul-Hamid MA, Hochstenbag M, Dingemans A-M, et al. Expression of pRb and p16INK4 in human thymic epithelial tumors in relation to the presence of human polyomavirus 7. Diagn Pathol [Internet].
 2015 Nov 4 [cited 2017 Apr 14];10. Available from: <u>http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC4634587/</u>
- 98. Carter JJ, Paulson KG, Wipf GC, Miranda D, Madeleine MM, Johnson LG, et al. Association of Merkel Cell Polyomavirus-Specific Antibodies With Merkel Cell Carcinoma. J Natl Cancer Inst. 2009 Nov 4;101(21):1510-22.
- 99. Waterboer T, Sehr P, Pawlita M. Suppression of non-specific binding in serological Luminex assays. Journal of Immunological Methods. 2006 Feb 20;309(1-2):200-4.
- 100. Wunderink HF, van der Meijden E, van der Blij-de Brouwer CS, Mallat MJK, Haasnoot GW, van Zwet EW, et al. Pretransplantation donor-recipient pair seroreactivity against BK polyomavirus predicts viremia and nephropathy after kidney transplantation. Am J Transplant. 2016 Jun 1;n/a-n/a.

- van der Meijden E, Wunderink HF, van der Blij-de Brouwer CS, Zaaijer HL, Rotmans JI, Bavinck JNB, et al. Human polyomavirus 9 infection in kidney transplant patients. Emerging Infect Dis. 2014 Jun;20(6):991-9.
- 102. Bloomgren G, Richman S, Hotermans C, Subramanyam M, Goelz S, Natarajan A, et al. Risk of Natalizumab-Associated Progressive Multifocal Leukoencephalopathy. New England Journal of Medicine. 2012 May 17;366(20):1870-80.
- 103. Viscidi RP, Clayman B. Serological Cross Reactivity between Polyomavirus Capsids. In: FACP NAMD, editor. Polyomaviruses and Human Diseases [Internet]. Springer New York; 2006 [cited 2017 Feb 28]. p. 73–84. (Advances in Experimental Medicine and Biology). Available from: http://link.springer.com/ chapter/10.1007/0-387-32957-9_5
- 104. Fukumoto H, Li T-C, Kataoka M, Hasegawa H, Wakita T, Saeki H, et al. Seroprevalence of trichodysplasia spinulosa-associated polyomavirus in Japan. Journal of Clinical Virology. 2015 Apr;65:76-82.
- 105. Chen T, Mattila PS, Jartti T, Ruuskanen O, Söderlund-Venermo M, Hedman K. Seroepidemiology of the newly found trichodysplasia spinulosa-associated polyomavirus. J Infect Dis. 2011 Nov 15;204(10):1523-6.
- 106. Antonsson A, Pawlita M, Feltkamp MCW, Bouwes Bavinck JN, Euvrard S, Harwood CA, et al. Longitudinal study of seroprevalence and serostability of the human polyomaviruses JCV and BKV in organ transplant recipients. J Med Virol. 2013 Feb 1;85(2):327-35.

- 107. Norkiene M, Stonyte J, Ziogiene D, Mazeike E, Sasnauskas K, Gedvilaite A. Production of recombinant VP1-derived virus-like particles from novel human polyomaviruses in yeast. BMC Biotechnol [Internet]. 2015 Aug 4;15. Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/ PMC4523907/
- Hirsch HH, Brennan DC, Drachenberg CB, Ginevri F, Gordon J, Limaye AP, et al. Polyomavirus-associated nephropathy in renal transplantation: interdisciplinary analyses and recommendations. Transplantation.
 2005 May 27;79(10):1277-86.
- 109. Foster JH, Cheng WS, Nguyen N-Y, Krance R, Martinez C. Intravesicular cidofovir for BK hemorrhagic cystitis in pediatric patients after hematopoietic stem cell transplant. Pediatr Transplant. 2018 Feb 1;
- 110. Vennegoor A, van Rossum JA, Polman CH, Wattjes MP, Killestein J. Longitudinal JCV serology in multiple sclerosis patients preceding natalizumabassociated progressive multifocal leukoencephalopathy. Mult Scler. 2015 Oct 1;21(12):1600-3.
- 111. Schwab N, Schneider-Hohendorf T, Melzer N, Cutter G, Wiendl H. Natalizumabassociated PML: Challenges with incidence, resulting risk, and risk stratification. Neurology. 2017 Mar 21;88(12):1197-205.
- 112. Fondain M, Dereure O, Uhry Z, Guizard AV, Woronoff AS, Colonna M, et al. Merkel cell carcinoma in France: A registries-based, comprehensive epidemiological survey. J Eur Acad Dermatol Venereol. 2018 Jan 16;
- DeCaprio JA, Garcea RL. A cornucopia of human polyomaviruses. Nat Rev Microbiol. 2013 Apr;11(4):264–76.

- 114. Teramoto S, Koseki N, Yoshioka M, Matsunami Y, Yanazume N, Nawate M, et al. WU Polyomavirus Infection Confirmed by Genetic and Serologic Tests in an Infant With Bronchitis. The Pediatric Infectious Disease Journal. 2011 Oct;30(10):918.
- 115. Siebrasse EA, Nguyen NL, Willby MJ, Erdman DD, Menegus MA, Wang D. Multiorgan WU Polyomavirus Infection in Bone Marrow Transplant Recipient. Emerging Infect Dis. 2016 Jan;22(1):24-31.
- 116. Ho J, Jedrych JJ, Feng H, Natalie AA, Grandinetti L, Mirvish E, et al. Human Polyomavirus 7-Associated Pruritic Rash and Viremia in Transplant Recipients. J Infect Dis. 2015 May 15;211(10):1560-5.
- 117. Kamminga S, van der Meijden E, Wunderink HF, Touzé A, Zaaijer HL, Feltkamp MCW. Development and evaluation of a broad bead-based multiplex immunoassay to measure IgG seroreactivity against human polyomaviruses. J Clin Microbiol. 2018 Jan 5;
- 118. Antonsson A, Neale RE, O'Rourke P, Wockner L, Michel A, Pawlita M, et al. Prevalence and stability of antibodies to thirteen polyomaviruses and association with cutaneous squamous cell carcinoma: A population-based study. Journal of Clinical Virology. 2018 Apr;101:34-7.
- Lim ES, Meinerz NM, Primi B, Wang D, Garcea RL. Common Exposure to STL Polyomavirus During Childhood. Emerg Infect Dis. 2014 Sep;20(9):1559-61.
- 120. Cason C, Monasta L, Zanotta N, Campisciano G, Maestri I, Tommasino M, et al. Antibody response to polyomavirus primary infection: high seroprevalence of Merkel cell polyomavirus and lymphoid tissue involvement. J Neurovirol. 2018 Jan 12;1-9.

- 121. Khan ZM, Liu Y, Neu U, Gilbert M, Ehlers B, Feizi T, et al. Crystallographic and glycan microarray analysis of human polyomavirus 9 VP1 identifies N-glycolyl neuraminic acid as a receptor candidate. J Virol. 2014 Jun;88(11):6100-11.
- 122. Gaboriaud P, Ferté M, Arnold F, Leblond V, Nicol J, Debare H, et al. Age-specific seroprevalence of human polyomavirus 12 and Saint Louis and New Jersey polyomaviruses. Emerging Microbes & Infections. 2018 Mar 7;7(1):22.
- 123. Wunderink HF, van der Meijden E, van der Blij-de Brouwer CS, Touzé A, Mallat MJ, Haasnoot GW, et al. BK-polyomavirus seroreactivity measured in kidney donors is strongly associated with incidence of viremia and nephropathy in their recipients. Journal of Clinical Virology. 2015 Sep 1;70:S19-20.
- 124. Bohl DL, Storch GA, Ryschkewitsch C, Gaudreault-Keener M, Schnitzler MA, Major EO, et al. Donor Origin of BK Virus in Renal Transplantation and Role of HLA C7 in Susceptibility to Sustained BK Viremia. American Journal of Transplantation. 2005;5(9):2213-21.
- 125. Ferretti F, Bestetti A, Yiannoutsos CT, Musick BS, Gerevini S, Passeri L, et al. Diagnostic and Prognostic Value of JC Virus DNA in Plasma in Progressive Multifocal Leukoencephalopathy. Clin Infect Dis. 2018 Jun 18;67(1):65–72.
- 126. Major EO. Progressive Multifocal Leukoencephalopathy in Patients on Immunomodulatory Therapies. Annual Review of Medicine. 2010;61(1):35-47.
- 127. Dolei A, Pietropaolo V, Gomes E, Di Taranto C, Ziccheddu M, Spanu MA, et al. Polyomavirus persistence in lymphocytes: prevalence in lymphocytes from blood donors and healthy personnel of a blood transfusion centre. Journal of General Virology. 2000;81(8):1967-73.

- 128. Delbue S, Tremolada S, Elia F, Carloni C, Amico S, Tavazzi E, et al. Lymphotropic polyomavirus is detected in peripheral blood from immunocompromised and healthy subjects. J Clin Virol. 2010 Feb;47(2):156.
- 129. Frohman EM, Monaco MC, Remington G, Ryschkewitsch C, Jensen PN, Johnson K, et al. JC Virus in CD34+ and CD19+ Cells in Patients With Multiple Sclerosis Treated With Natalizumab. JAMA Neurol. 2014 May 1;71(5):596-602.
- Niesters HGM. Quantitation of Viral Load Using Real-Time Amplification Techniques. Methods. 2001 Dec;25(4):419-29.
- 131. Purdie KJ, Proby CM, Rizvi H, Griffin H, Doorbar J, Sommerlad M, et al. The Role of Human Papillomaviruses and Polyomaviruses in BRAF-Inhibitor Induced Cutaneous Squamous Cell Carcinoma and Benign Squamoproliferative Lesions. Front Microbiol [Internet].
 2018 [cited 2019 Apr 4];9. Available from: https://www.frontiersin.org/ articles/10.3389/fmicb.2018.01806/full
- 132. Pal A, Sirota L, Maudru T, Peden K, Lewis Jr. AM. Real-time, quantitative PCR assays for the detection of virus-specific DNA in samples with mixed populations of polyomaviruses. Journal of Virological Methods. 2006 Jul;135(1):32-42.
- 133. Goh S, Lindau C, Tiveljung-Lindell A, Allander T. Merkel Cell Polyomavirus in Respiratory Tract Secretions. Emerg Infect Dis. 2009 Mar;15(3):489-91.
- 134. Rao S, Garcea RL, Robinson CC, Simões EAF. WU and KI polyomavirus infections in pediatric hematology/oncology patients with acute respiratory tract illness. Journal of Clinical Virology. 2011 Sep;52(1):28–32.

- 135. Bialasiewicz S, Whiley DM, Lambert SB, Nissen MD, Sloots TP. Detection of BK, JC, WU, or KI polyomaviruses in faecal, urine, blood, cerebrospinal fluid and respiratory samples. Journal of Clinical Virology. 2009 Jul 1;45(3):249-54.
- Mazzoni E, Rotondo JC, Marracino L, Selvatici R, Bononi I, Torreggiani E, et al. Detection of Merkel Cell Polyomavirus DNA in Serum Samples of Healthy Blood Donors. Front Oncol [Internet]. 2017 Nov 29 [cited 2017 Dec 19];7. Available from: https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/ PMC5712532/
- 137. Sadeghi M, Aronen M, Chen T, Jartti L, Jartti T, Ruuskanen O, et al. Merkel cell polyomavirus and trichodysplasia spinulosa-associated polyomavirus DNAs and antibodies in blood among the elderly. BMC Infect Dis. 2012 Dec 28;12:383.
- 138. Pancaldi C, Corazzari V, Maniero S, Mazzoni E, Comar M, Martini F, et al. Merkel cell polyomavirus DNA sequences in the buffy coats of healthy blood donors. Blood. 2011 Jun 30;117(26):7099-101.
- 139. Moustafa A, Xie C, Kirkness E, Biggs W, Wong E, Turpaz Y, et al. The blood DNA virome in 8,000 humans. PLoS Pathog [Internet]. 2017 Mar 22;13(3). Available from: <u>http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/</u> articles/PMC5378407/
- 140. Lau P, Cordey S, Brito F, Tirefort D, Petty TJ, Turin L, et al. Metagenomics analysis of red blood cell and fresh-frozen plasma units. Transfusion. 2017;57(7):1787-800.
- 141. Brito F, Cordey S, Delwart E, Deng X, Tirefort D, Lemoine-Chaduc C, et al. Metagenomics analysis of the virome of 300 concentrates from a Swiss platelet bank. Vox Sanguinis. 2018;113(6):601-4.

- 142. Babakir-Mina M, Ciccozzi M, Farchi F, Bergallo M, Cavallo R, Adorno G, et al. KI and WU Polyomaviruses and CD4+ Cell Counts in HIV-1-infected Patients, Italy. Emerg Infect Dis. 2010 Sep;16(9):1482-5.
- 143. Touinssi M, Galicher V, Micco P de, Biagini P. Molecular epidemiology of KI and WU polyomaviruses in healthy blood donors, south-eastern France. Journal of Medical Virology. 2013;85(8):1444-6.
- 144. Hampras SS, Giuliano AR, Lin H-Y, Fisher KJ, Abrahamsen ME, McKay-Chopin S, et al. Natural History of Polyomaviruses in Men: The HPV Infection in Men (HIM) Study. J Infect Dis. 2015 May 1;211(9):1437-46.
- 145. Wieland U, Mauch C, Kreuter A, Krieg T, Pfister H. Merkel Cell Polyomavirus DNA in Persons without Merkel Cell Carcinoma. Emerg Infect Dis. 2009 Sep;15(9):1496-8.
- 146. Hashida Y, Nakajima K, Nakajima H, Shiga T, Tanaka M, Murakami M, et al. High load of Merkel cell polyomavirus DNA detected in the normal skin of Japanese patients with Merkel cell carcinoma. Journal of Clinical Virology. 2016 Sep;82:101-7.
- 147. Berger JR, Miller CS, Danaher RJ, Doyle K, Simon KJ, Norton E, et al. Distribution and Quantity of Sites of John Cunningham Virus Persistence in Immunologically Healthy Patients: Correlation With John Cunningham Virus Antibody and Urine John Cunningham Virus DNA. JAMA Neurol. 2017 Apr 1;74(4):437-44.
- 148. White MK, Sariyer IK, Gordon J, Delbue S, Pietropaolo V, Berger JR, et al. Diagnostic Assays for Polyomavirus JC and Progressive Multifocal Leukoencephalopathy. Rev Med Virol. 2016 Mar;26(2):102-14.
- Dalianis T, Hirsch HH. Human polyomaviruses in disease and cancer. Virology. 2013 Mar 15;437(2):63-72.

- 150. Rao S, Lucero MG, Nohynek H, Tallo V, Lupisan SP, Garcea RL, et al. WU and KI polyomavirus infections in Filipino children with lower respiratory tract disease. Journal of Clinical Virology. 2016 Sep;82:112-8.
- 151. Kamminga S, van der Meijden E, de Brouwer C, Feltkamp M, Zaaijer H. Prevalence of DNA of fourteen human polyomaviruses determined in blood donors. Transfusion. 2019 Oct 21;
- 152. Nijhuis RHT, Sidorov IA, Chung PK, Wessels E, Gulyaeva AA, de Vries JJ, et al. PCR assays for detection of human astroviruses: In silico evaluation and design, and in vitro application to samples collected from patients in the Netherlands. Journal of Clinical Virology. 2018 Nov 1;108:83-9.
- 153. Cock PJA, Antao T, Chang JT, Chapman BA, Cox CJ, Dalke A, et al. Biopython: freely available Python tools for computational molecular biology and bioinformatics. Bioinformatics. 2009 Jun 1;25(11):1422-3.
- 154. R Core Team. R: A Language and Environment for Statistical Computing [Internet]. R Foundation for Statistical Computing; 2019. Available from: https://www.R-project.org/
- 155. Wickham H, Averick M, Bryan J, Chang W, McGowan L, François R, et al. Welcome to the Tidyverse. Journal of Open Source Software. 2019 Nov 21;4(43):1686.
- 156. Wickham H, Hester J, Francois R. readr: Read Rectangular Text Data. 2018; Available from: <u>https://CRAN.R-project.org/</u> package=readr
- 157. Wickham H, Bryan J. readxl: Read Excel Files. 2019; Available from: https://CRAN.R-project.org/ package=readxl

- 158. Gorbalenya AE, Lieutaud P, Harris MR, Coutard B, Canard B, Kleywegt GJ, et al. Practical application of bioinformatics by the multidisciplinary VIZIER consortium. Antiviral Research. 2010 Aug 1;87(2):95–110.
- 159. Lauber C, Kazem S, Kravchenko AA, Feltkamp MCW, Gorbalenya AE. Interspecific adaptation by binary choice at de novo polyomavirus T antigen site through accelerated codon-constrained Val-Ala toggling within an intrinsically disordered region. Nucleic Acids Res. 2015 May 26;43(10):4800-13.
- SantaLucia J. A unified view of polymer, dumbbell, and oligonucleotide DNA nearest-neighbor thermodynamics. PNAS. 1998 Feb 17;95(4):1460-5.
- McTigue PM, Peterson RJ, Kahn JD. Sequence-dependent thermodynamic parameters for locked nucleic acid (LNA)-DNA duplex formation. Biochemistry. 2004 May 11;43(18):5388-405.
- 162. Kutyavin IV, Afonina IA, Mills A, Gorn VV, Lukhtanov EA, Belousov ES, et al. 3'-Minor groove binder-DNA probes increase sequence specificity at PCR extension temperatures. Nucleic Acids Res. 2000 Jan 15;28(2):655-61.
- 163. Afonina I, Zivarts M, Kutyavin I, Lukhtanov E, Gamper H, Meyer RB. Efficient priming of PCR with short oligonucleotides conjugated to a minor groove binder. Nucleic Acids Res. 1997 Jul 1;25(13):2657-60.
- 164. Plotly Technologies Inc. Collaborative data science [Internet]. Plotly Technologies Inc; 2015. Available from: https://plot.ly
- 165. Marinelli K, Bagnarelli P, Gaffi G, Trappolini S, Leoni P, Paggi AM, et al. PCR real time assays for the early detection of BKV-DNA in immunocompromised patients. New Microbiol. 2007 Jul;30(3):275-8.

- 166. Hoffman NG, Cook L, Atienza EE, Limaye AP, Jerome KR. Marked variability of BK virus load measurement using quantitative real-time PCR among commonly used assays. J Clin Microbiol. 2008 Aug;46(8):2671-80.
- 167. Hasan MR, Tan R, Al-Rawahi G, Thomas E, Tilley P. Comparative evaluation of laboratory developed real-time PCR assays and RealStar[®] BKV PCR Kit for quantitative detection of BK polyomavirus. Journal of Virological Methods. 2016 Aug 1;234:80-6.
- 168. Pietilä T, Nummi M, Auvinen P, Mannonen L, Auvinen E. Expression of BKV and JCV encoded microRNA in human cerebrospinal fluid, plasma and urine. J Clin Virol. 2015 Apr;65:1-5.
- 169. Dadhania D, Snopkowski C, Ding R, Muthukumar T, Chang C, Aull M, et al. Epidemiology of BK virus in renal allograft recipients: independent risk factors for BK virus replication. Transplantation. 2008 Aug 27;86(4):521-8.
- 170. Bergallo M, Daprà V, Fava P, Ponti R, Calvi C, Montanari P, et al. DNA from Human Polyomaviruses, MWPyV, HPyV6, HPyV7, HPyV9 and HPyV12 in Cutaneous T-cell Lymphomas. Anticancer Res. 2018 Jul;38(7):4111-4.
- 171. Bárcena-Panero A, Echevarría JE, Romero-Gómez MP, Royuela E, Castellanos A, González I, et al. Development and validation with clinical samples of internally controlled multiplex real-time PCR for diagnosis of BKV and JCV infection in associated pathologies. Comp Immunol Microbiol Infect Dis. 2012 Mar;35(2):173-9.
- 172. Dumoulin A, Hirsch HH. Reevaluating and Optimizing Polyomavirus BK and JC Real-Time PCR Assays To Detect Rare Sequence Polymorphisms ⊽. J Clin Microbiol. 2011 Apr;49(4):1382-8.

- 173. Priftakis P, Bogdanovic G, Kokhaei P, Mellstedt H, Dalianis T. BK virus (BKV) quantification in urine samples of bone marrow transplanted patients is helpful for diagnosis of hemorrhagic cystitis, although wide individual variations exist. J Clin Virol. 2003 Jan;26(1):71-7.
- 174. Muldrew KL, Lovett JL. An in-house assay for BK polyomavirus quantification using the Abbott m2000 RealTime system. J Med Microbiol. 2013 Nov;62(Pt 11):1714-20.
- 175. Hammarin A-L, Öqvist B, Wahlgren J, Falk KI. Systematic screening of BK virus by real-time PCR prevents BK virus associated nephropathy in renal transplant recipients. J Med Virol. 2011 Nov;83(11):1959-65.
- 176. Greer AE, Forman MS, Valsamakis A. Comparison of BKV quantification using a single automated nucleic acid extraction platform and 3 real-time PCR assays. Diagn Microbiol Infect Dis. 2015 Aug;82(4):297-302.
- 177. Gustafsson B, Priftakis P, Rubin J, Giraud G, Ramqvist T, Dalianis T. Human polyomaviruses were not detected in cerebrospinal fluid of patients with neurological complications after hematopoietic stem cell transplantation. Future Virology. 2013 Aug 1;8(8):809–14.
- 178. Funahashi Y, Iwata S, Ito Y, Kojima S, Yoshikawa T, Hattori R, et al. Multiplex real-time PCR assay for simultaneous quantification of BK polyomavirus, JC polyomavirus, and adenovirus DNA. J Clin Microbiol. 2010 Mar;48(3):825-30.
- 179. Sarmento DJ de S, Palmieri M, Galvão GS, Tozetto-Mendoza TR, Canto CM do, Pierrotti LC, et al. BK virus salivary shedding and viremia in renal transplant recipients. J Appl Oral Sci. 2019 Jan 14;27:e20180435.

- 180. Mitui M, Leos NK, Lacey D, Doern C, Rogers BB, Park JY. Development and validation of a quantitative real time PCR assay for BK virus. Mol Cell Probes. 2013 Dec;27(5–6):230–6.
- 181. Ryschkewitsch C, Jensen P, Hou J, Fahle G, Fischer S, Major EO. Comparison of PCR-southern hybridization and quantitative real-time PCR for the detection of JC and BK viral nucleotide sequences in urine and cerebrospinal fluid. J Virol Methods. 2004 Nov;121(2):217-21.
- 182. Thomas LD, Vilchez RA, White ZS, Zanwar P, Milstone AP, Butel JS, et al. A prospective longitudinal study of polyomavirus shedding in lung-transplant recipients. J Infect Dis. 2007 Feb 1;195(3):442-9.
- 183. Si-Mohamed A, Goff JL, Désiré N, Maylin S, Glotz D, Bélec L. Detection and quantitation of BK virus DNA by real-time polymerase chain reaction in the LT-ag gene in adult renal transplant recipients. J Virol Methods. 2006 Jan;131(1):21-7.
- 184. Bressollette-Bodin C, Coste-Burel M, Hourmant M, Sebille V, Andre-Garnier E, Imbert-Marcille BM. A prospective longitudinal study of BK virus infection in 104 renal transplant recipients. Am J Transplant. 2005 Aug;5(8):1926-33.
- 185. Marchetti S, Graffeo R, Siddu A, Santangelo R, Ciotti M, Picardi A, et al. BK virus DNA detection by real-time polymerase chain reaction in clinical specimens. New Microbiol. 2007 Apr;30(2):119-26.
- 186. Ledesma J, Muñoz P, Garcia de Viedma D, Cabrero I, Loeches B, Montilla P, et al. BK virus infection in human immunodeficiency virus-infected patients. Eur J Clin Microbiol Infect Dis. 2012 Jul;31(7):1531-5.

- 187. Stolt A, Kjellin M, Sasnauskas K, Luostarinen T, Koskela P, Lehtinen M, et al. Maternal human polyomavirus infection and risk of neuroblastoma in the child. Int J Cancer. 2005 Jan 20;113(3):393-6.
- 188. Şahiner F, Gümral R, Yildizoğlu Ü, Babayiğit MA, Durmaz A, Yiğit N, et al. Coexistence of Epstein-Barr virus and Parvovirus B19 in tonsillar tissue samples: Quantitative measurement by real-time PCR. International Journal of Pediatric Otorhinolaryngology. 2014 Aug 1;78(8):1288–93.
- 189. Gard L, Niesters HGM, Riezebos-Brilman A. A real time genotyping PCR assay for polyomavirus BK. J Virol Methods. 2015 Sep 1;221:51-6.
- 190. Keith KA, Hartline CB, Bowlin TL, Prichard MN. A standardized approach to the evaluation of antivirals against DNA viruses: Polyomaviruses and lymphotropic herpesviruses. Antiviral Research. 2018 Nov 1;159:122-9.
- 191. Signorini L, Belingheri M, Ambrogi F, Pagani E, Binda S, Ticozzi R, et al. High frequency of Merkel cell polyomavirus DNA in the urine of kidney transplant recipients and healthy controls. Journal of Clinical Virology. 2014 Dec 1;61(4):565-70.
- 192. Pang XL, Doucette K, LeBlanc B, Cockfield SM, Preiksaitis JK. Monitoring of polyomavirus BK virus viruria and viremia in renal allograft recipients by use of a quantitative real-time PCR assay: one-year prospective study. J Clin Microbiol. 2007 Nov;45(11):3568-73.
- 193. Yamamoto Y, Morooka M, Ihira M, Yoshikawa T. The kinetics of urinary shedding of BK virus in children with renal disease. Microbiology and Immunology. 2015;59(1):37-42.

- 194. Delbue S, Elia F, Carloni C, Pecchenini V, Franciotta D, Gastaldi M, et al. JC virus urinary excretion and seroprevalence in natalizumab-treated multiple sclerosis patients. J Neurovirol. 2015 Dec;21(6):645-52.
- 195. Watzinger F, Suda M, Preuner S, Baumgartinger R, Ebner K, Baskova L, et al. Real-Time Quantitative PCR Assays for Detection and Monitoring of Pathogenic Human Viruses in Immunosuppressed Pediatric Patients. J Clin Microbiol. 2004 Nov;42(11):5189-98.
- 196. Tremolada S, Delbue S, Castagnoli L, Allegrini S, Miglio U, Boldorini R, et al. Mutations in the external loops of BK virus VP1 and urine viral load in renal transplant recipients. Journal of Cellular Physiology. 2010;222(1):195-9.
- 197. Solis M, Meddeb M, Sueur C, Domingo-Calap P, Soulier E, Chabaud A, et al. Sequence Variation in Amplification Target Genes and Standards Influences Interlaboratory Comparison of BK Virus DNA Load Measurement. J Clin Microbiol. 2015 Dec;53(12):3842-52.
- 198. Blackard JT, Davies SM, Laskin BL. BK polyomavirus diversity–Why viral variation matters. Reviews in Medical Virology. n/a(n/a):e2102.
- 199. Kamminga S, Meijden E van der, Feltkamp MCW, Zaaijer HL. Seroprevalence of fourteen human polyomaviruses determined in blood donors. PLOS ONE. 2018 okt;13(10):e0206273.
- 200. Fishman JA. Infection in Organ Transplantation. American Journal of Transplantation. 2017;17(4):856-79.

- 201. Polyomaviridae Polyomaviridae dsDNA Viruses [Internet]. International Committee on Taxonomy of Viruses (ICTV). [cited 2020 Sep 7]. Available from: https://talk.ictvonline.org/ictv-reports/ ictv_online_report/dsdna-viruses/w/ polyomaviridae
- 202. Delbue S, Ferraresso M, Ghio L, Carloni C, Carluccio S, Belingheri M, et al. A Review on JC Virus Infection in Kidney Transplant Recipients. Clin Dev Immunol [Internet]. 2013 [cited 2020 Mar 25];2013. Available from: <u>https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/</u> articles/PMC3569895/
- 203. Drachenberg CB, Hirsch HH, Papadimitriou JC, Gosert R, Wali RK, Munivenkatappa R, et al. Polyomavirus BK versus JC replication and nephropathy in renal transplant recipients: a prospective evaluation. Transplantation. 2007 Aug 15;84(3):323-30.
- 204. Keeling E, Murray S I., Williams Y, Sexton D j., O'Kelly P, Deady S, et al. Merkel cell carcinoma in kidney transplant recipients in Ireland 1964-2018. British Journal of Dermatology. 2019 Dec 1;181(6):1314-5.
- 205. Oram CW, Bartus CL, Purcell SM. Merkel cell carcinoma: a review. Cutis. 2016 Apr;97(4):290-5.
- 206. Kamminga S, van der Meijden E, de Brouwer C, Feltkamp M, Zaaijer H. Prevalence of DNA of fourteen human polyomaviruses determined in blood donors. Transfusion. 2019 Oct 21;
- 207. dos Santos Bezerra R, Bitencourt HT, Covas DT, Kashima S, Slavov SN. Molecular evolution pattern of Merkel cell polyomavirus identified by viral metagenomics in plasma of high-risk blood donors from the Brazilian Amazon. Infection, Genetics and Evolution. 2020 Nov 1;85:104563.

- Kazem S, van der Meijden E, Feltkamp MCW. The trichodysplasia spinulosaassociated polyomavirus: virological background and clinical implications. APMIS. 2013 Aug 1;121(8):770-82.
- 209. Rijn AL van, Wunderink HF, Brouwer CS de, Meijden E van der, Rotmans JI, Feltkamp MCW. Impact of HPyV9 and TSPyV coinfection on the development of BK polyomavirus viremia and associated nephropathy after kidney transplantation. Journal of Medical Virology [Internet]. [cited 2019 Apr 4];0(0). Available from: https://onlinelibrary.wiley.com/doi/ abs/10.1002/jmv.25397
- 210. Mishra N, Pereira M, Rhodes RH, An P, Pipas JM, Jain K, et al. Identification of a novel polyomavirus in a pancreatic transplant recipient with retinal blindness and vasculitic myopathy. J Infect Dis. 2014 Nov 15;210(10):1595-9.
- 211. Kourieh A, Combes J-D, Tommasino M, Dalstein V, Clifford GM, Lacau St Guily J, et al. Prevalence and risk factors of human polyomavirus infections in non-malignant tonsils and gargles: the SPLIT study. Journal of General Virology [Internet]. 2018 [cited 2018 Nov 12]; Available from: http://jgv.microbiologyresearch.org/ content/journal/jgv/10.1099/jgv.0.001156.v1
- 212. van der Meijden E, Bialasiewicz S, Rockett RJ, Tozer SJ, Sloots TP, Feltkamp MCW. Different Serologic Behavior of MCPyV, TSPyV, HPyV6, HPyV7 and HPyV9 Polyomaviruses Found on the Skin. PLoS One [Internet]. 2013 Nov 21 [cited 2015 Oct 5];8(11). Available from: <u>http://www.ncbi.</u> nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC3836759/
- 213. Schreiber PW, Kufner V, Hübel K, Schmutz S, Zagordi O, Kaur A, et al. Metagenomic Virome Sequencing in Living Donor and Recipient Kidney Transplant Pairs Revealed JC Polyomavirus Transmission. Clin Infect Dis. 2019 Aug 30;69(6):987-94.

- 214. Ylinen E, Miettinen J, Jalanko H, Weissbach FH, Tainio J, Wernli M, et al. JC polyomavirus-specific antibody responses in pediatric kidney transplant recipients. Pediatric Transplantation. 2019;23(8):e13586.
- 215. Molloy ES, Calabrese LH. Progressive multifocal leukoencephalopathy: A national estimate of frequency in systemic lupus erythematosus and other rheumatic diseases. Arthritis & Rheumatism. 2009;60(12):3761-5.
- 216. RStudio Team. RStudio: Integrated Development Environment for R [Internet]. Boston, MA: RStudio, Inc.; 2015. Available from: http://www.rstudio.com/
- 217. Wickham H, Averick M, Bryan J, Chang W, McGowan L, François R, et al. Welcome to the Tidyverse. Journal of Open Source Software. 2019 Nov 21;4(43):1686.
- Bates D, Mächler M, Bolker B, Walker S. Fitting Linear Mixed-Effects Models Using Ime4. Journal of Statistical Software. 2015 Oct 7;67(1):1-48.
- Sarkar D. Lattice: Multivariate Data Visualization with R [Internet]. New York: Springer-Verlag; 2008 [cited 2020 Apr 7]. (Use R!). Available from: <u>https://www.</u> springer.com/gp/book/9780387759685
- 220. Ritchie ME, Phipson B, Wu D, Hu Y, Law CW, Shi W, et al. limma powers differential expression analyses for RNA-sequencing and microarray studies. Nucleic Acids Research. 2015 Apr 20;43(7):e47-e47.
- 221. Wickham H. ggplot2: Elegant Graphics for Data Analysis [Internet]. 2nd ed. Springer International Publishing; 2016 [cited 2020 Apr 7]. (Use R!). Available from: <u>https://www.springer.com/gp/</u> book/9783319242750

- 222. Nguyen KD, Chamseddin BH, Cockerell CJ, Wang RC. The Biology and Clinical Features of Cutaneous Polyomaviruses. Journal of Investigative Dermatology. 2019 Feb 1;139(2):285-92.
- 223. Moustafa A, Xie C, Kirkness E, Biggs W, Wong E, Turpaz Y, et al. The blood DNA virome in 8,000 humans. PLoS Pathog [Internet]. 2017 Mar 22;13(3). Available from: <u>http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/</u> articles/PMC5378407/
- 224. Kazem S, van der Meijden E, Kooijman S, Rosenberg AS, Hughey LC, Browning JC, et al. Trichodysplasia spinulosa is characterized by active polyomavirus infection. Journal of Clinical Virology. 2012 Mar;53(3):225-30.
- 225. Wunderink HF, van der Meijden E, van der Blij-de Brouwer CS, Mallat MJK, Haasnoot GW, van Zwet EW, et al. Pretransplantation Donor-Recipient Pair Seroreactivity Against BK Polyomavirus Predicts Viremia and Nephropathy After Kidney Transplantation. Am J Transplant. 2017;17(1):161-72.
- 226. Gossai A, Waterboer T, Nelson HH, Michel A, Willhauck-Fleckenstein M, Farzan SF, et al. Seroepidemiology of Human Polyomaviruses in a US Population. Am J Epidemiol. 2016 Jan 1;183(1):61-9.
- 227. Cheng XS, Bohl DL, Storch GA, Ryschkewitsch C, Gaudreault-Keener M, Major EO, et al. Inhibitory Interactions between BK and JC Virus among Kidney Transplant Recipients. JASN. 2011 May 1;22(5):825-31.
- 228. WHO | GKT1 Activity and Practices [Internet]. WHO. [cited 2020 Apr 28]. Available from: <u>https://www.who.int/</u> transplantation/gkt/statistics/en/

- 229. Magyari M, Sorensen PS. The changing course of multiple sclerosis: rising incidence, change in geographic distribution, disease course, and prognosis. Current Opinion in Neurology. 2019 Jun;32(3):320-326.
- 230. Molenaar-de Backer MWA, Russcher A, Kroes ACM, Koppelman MHGM, Lanfermeijer M, Zaaijer HL. Detection of parvovirus B19 DNA in blood: Viruses or DNA remnants? Journal of Clinical Virology. 2016 Nov 1;84:19-23.
- 231. Faust H, Pastrana DV, Buck CB, Dillner J, Ekström J. Antibodies to Merkel Cell Polyomavirus Correlate to Presence of Viral DNA in the Skin. The Journal of Infectious Diseases. 2011 Apr 15;203(8):1096-100.
- 232. Hogema BM, Molier M, Sjerps M, de Waal M, van Swieten P, van de Laar T, et al. Incidence and duration of hepatitis E virus infection in Dutch blood donors. Transfusion. 2016 Mar 1;56(3):722-8.
- Pérez-Gracia MT, García M, Suay B, Mateos-Lindemann ML. Current Knowledge on Hepatitis E. J Clin Transl Hepatol. 2015 Jun 28;3(2):117-26.
- 234. Yang D, Keys B, Conti DJ, Foulke L, Stellrecht K, Cook L, et al. JC polyomavirus nephropathy, a rare cause of transplant dysfunction: Case report and review of literature. Transplant Infectious Disease. 2017;19(2):e12654.
- 235. Mateen FJ, Muralidharan R, Carone M, Beek D van de, Harrison DM, Aksamit AJ, et al. Progressive multifocal leukoencephalopathy in transplant recipients. Annals of Neurology. 2011;70(2):305-22.

- Anthony SJ, Epstein JH, Murray KA, Navarrete-Macias I, Zambrana-Torrelio CM, Solovyov A, et al. A Strategy To Estimate Unknown Viral Diversity in Mammals. mBio [Internet]. 2013 Nov 1 [cited 2020 May 19];4(5). Available from: <u>https://mbio.asm.</u> org/content/4/5/e00598-13
- 237. Tisza MJ, Pastrana DV, Welch NL, Stewart B, Peretti A, Starrett GJ, et al. Discovery of several thousand highly diverse circular DNA viruses. Kirkegaard K, Pride D, editors. eLife. 2020 Feb 4;9:e51971.

List of co-authors / Author affiliations

| CS de Brouwer | Department of Medical Microbiology, Leiden University Medical Center, Leiden, The Netherlands |
|--------------------|---|
| MCW Feltkamp | Department of Medical Microbiology, Leiden University Medical Center, Leiden, The Netherlands |
| AE Gorbalenya | Departments of Biomedical Data Sciences and Medical Microbiology, Leiden University Medical Center, Leiden, The Netherlands |
| PZ van der Meijden | Department of Medical Microbiology, Leiden University Medical Center, Leiden, The Netherlands |
| AL van Rijn | Department of Medical Microbiology, Leiden University Medical Center, Leiden, The Netherlands |
| JI Rotmans | Department of Internal Medicine, Leiden University Medical Center, Leiden, The Netherlands |
| IA Sidorov | Department of Medical Microbiology, Leiden University Medical Center, Leiden, The Netherlands |
| A Touzé | UMR 1282, Université François Rabelais/INRA, Tours, France |
| HF Wunderink | Department of Medical Microbiology, Leiden University Medical Center, Leiden, The Netherlands |
| HL Zaaijer | Department of Blood-borne Infections, Sanquin Research, Amsterdam, The Netherlands |

Summary

Polyomaviruses are a family of viruses with a small genome, wrapped in a viral particle with a diameter of 40-45 nanometres. In 1971, the first two human polyomaviruses were discovered, called BK polyomavirus (BKPyV) and JC polyomavirus (JCPyV), named after the initials of the first patients. Since then, many new polyomaviruses were discovered, both in humans and all kinds of animals, adding up to about a hundred different *species* now. The focus of this thesis is on the human polyomaviruses.

Polyomaviruses are able to persist in the human body. This means that a person, once infected, does not lose the virus despite an immune response. Infection with polyomaviruses starts very early in life, but does not cause any symptoms. Afterwards, polyomaviruses are secreted from time to time in healthy humans, for example through the skin or in urine, without occurrence of any symptoms.

Polyomaviruses however are capable of causing disease, but this is mostly limited to persons with a compromised immune system. For example, BKPyV can cause an infection in kidney transplant patients, called polyomavirus-associated nephropathy (PVAN). Some of these patients will lose the transplanted kidney due to BKPyV. Another disease caused by BKPyV is hemorrhagic cystitis, a severe cystitis occurring primarily in stem cell transplant recipients. JCPyV can cause a severe brain disease, called progressive multifocal leukoencephalopathy (PML). PML used to occur primarily in HIV patients, but the disease burden has shifted to patients on certain immunomodulatory drugs, e.g. multiple sclerosis patients taking natalizumab. These patients are screened using serology, in other words, by detecting the presence of JCPyV antibodies in the blood. Merkel cell polyomavirus is the primary cause of Merkel cell carcinoma, a rare but difficult to treat skin tumour. These tumours are more prevalent in the immune compromised population compared to the healthy population, but also occur in elderly without immune disorders. Trichodysplasia spinulosa polyomavirus (TSPyV) causes the eponymous disease, which has a characteristic skin phenotype of 'spicules' in primarily the face. Next to these, some other diseases have been associated with human polyomaviruses.

Because human polyomaviruses persist and are shedded by healthy humans, there is a possibility that these viruses are also present in blood donations. A large part of blood donations are transfused to the immunocompromised population, who can get polyomaviruses-related diseases. It is currently unknown whether human polyomaviruses are present in Dutch blood donations and thus contribute to exposure of these patients to polyomaviruses. In this thesis, the presence of polyomaviruses in Dutch blood donors has been determined in two ways, namely by detecting antibodies directed against polyomaviruses (serology) and by detecting DNA of polyomaviruses using quantitative polymerase chain reaction (PCR).

The presence of antibodies against polyomaviruses proves that these donors have been infected with the specific virus. Because polyomaviruses persist, that also means that seropositive donors are capable of shedding these viruses. To measure the antibody status, we have developed an immunoassay that uses the Viral Protein 1 (VP1), which forms the exterior of the polyomavirus particle and is targeted by the immune response. This immunoassay is described in **Chapter 2**, and uses the fourteen different VP1 proteins from the fourteen tested polyomaviruses. Because these VP1 proteins are quite similar to each other, the cross-reactivity was determined. There was some cross-reactivity between human polyomavirus 6 (HPyV6) and HPyV7 and sporadically between BKPyV and JCPyV. This test has then been applied to over one thousand blood donors in **Chapter 3**. In that chapter, it is described that, on average, a blood donor is seropositive for nine different human polyomaviruses and hence a donor carries and can also shed these viruses. In other words, polyomaviruses are highly prevalent in the Dutch blood donor population and it is necessary to determine what this means for the recipients of blood products.

Furthermore, for three polyomaviruses antibodies were almost absent, namely for HPyV12, New Jersey polyomavirus (NJPyV) and Lyon IARC polyomavirus (LIPyV). The absence of antibodies against these polyomaviruses can be explained if humans are not the true hosts of these viruses. Indeed, HPyV12 appears to be a shrew polyomavirus and LIPyV is likely a cat polyomavirus.

In **Chapters 2** and **3**, it is demonstrated that an immune response against polyomaviruses has occurred in blood donors. In **Chapter 4** however, the presence of polyomavirus DNA is determined. DNA detection was performed with quantitative PCR. These tests use small pieces of DNA, called oligos, which match the DNA of the targeted viral genome like pieces of a puzzle. If there is a good match between oligos and the genome, an amplification reaction occurs and is detected by fluorescence. In total, we have found evidence of small quantities of polyomavirus DNA in 5% of the blood donors. In addition, an association was found between the presence of JCPyV DNA and JCPyV antibodies, namely that donors with JCPyV also have an increased JCPyV seroresponse. In **Chapter 5** the quality of the quantitative PCRs is evaluated, both of our qPCRs and qPCRs acquired from literature. As described earlier, the viral DNA is detected by oligos which match the viral genome like pieces of a puzzle. In this chapter, algorithms were applied to determine the fit of the oligos on the viral DNA and whether these oligos do not accidentally detect other viral genomes, for example animal polyoma-viruses. From these calculations, the sensitivity and specificity were calculated. Of special interest were possible adjustments to increase the sensitivity of the qPCR, which was done for the TSPyV qPCR. In conclusion, the digital evaluation of qPCRs provides insight into strong and weak points of qPCRs and is helpful to keep these tests up to par with current knowledge of viral genomes.

Furthermore, in **Chapter 6** we have examined another possible source of exposure to polyomaviruses for kidney transplant patients, namely the kidney allograft. From previous research, we knew that BKPyV is transplanted along with the kidney allograft. In addition, we've determined the serostatus of these patients by applying the immunoassay from **Chapter 2** before and after transplantation, next to the kidney donor. Next to BKPyV, there were a relatively large number of seroconversions and increased seroresponses to JCPyV. Furthermore, kidney donor JCPyV IgG level influenced recipients IgG level after transplantation, which means JCPyV may be transplanted along with the kidney as well.

In conclusion, in this thesis it is shown that the serum of about 5% of blood donors is positive for polyomavirus DNA and on average blood donors are seropositive for nine different polyomaviruses. Blood transfusions are not the only source of exposure, as was demonstrated for BKPyV and JCPyV in kidney transplant patients. Knowledge of all possible sources of exposure can contribute to the prevention of infection. For follow-up, it is necessary to validate these results in blood components, such as red blood cells, plasma and platelets, rather than serum tubes used for diagnostics. Furthermore, it should be determined whether the viruses detected here are infectious viral particles or remnants of viral DNA. The combination of infectious disease occurrence data from immunocompromised patients in combination with blood transfusion data can be of key importance to determine the infectious risk for this group. The availability of new immunomodulatory drugs will increase in the coming years, as will the number of opportunistic infections in patients that are prescribed these drugs. Solid knowledge of polyomavirus prevalence will contribute to prevention of polyomavirus-related diseases in this group.
Samenvatting

Polyomavirussen zijn een familie virussen met een klein genoom, verpakt in een viruspartikel met een doorsnede van 40-45 nanometer. In 1971 werden de eerste twee humane polyomavirussen ontdekt, genaamd BK polyomavirus (BKPyV) en JC polyomavirus (JCPyV), genoemd naar de patiënten waar zij uitkomen. Sindsdien zijn er echter veel nieuwe polyomavirussen ontdekt, zowel in mensen als in allerlei dieren, in totaal zijn er nu ongeveer honderd verschillende *species* bekend. De focus van dit proefschrift ligt bij de humane polyomavirussen.

Eén van de bijzonderheden van polyomavirussen is dat ze in staat zijn om te persisteren in het menselijk lichaam. Dit betekent dat zodra iemand is geïnfecteerd, deze het virus vervolgens niet meer kwijtraakt. Dit begint al op zeer jonge leeftijd, maar gelukkig verloopt deze infectie asymptomatisch. Daarna worden polyomavirussen van tijd tot tijd uitgescheiden door gezonde mensen in bijvoorbeeld de huid of urine. Desalniettemin leidt dit niet tot symptomen en is men zich hier niet van bewust.

Polyomavirussen zijn wel in staat ziektes te veroorzaken, maar dit komt met name voor bij mensen met een stoornis in het immuunsysteem. BKPyV kan bijvoorbeeld een infectie veroorzaken bij niertransplantatiepatiënten, genaamd polyomavirus-associated nephropathy (PVAN). Bij een deel van deze patiënten zal dit leiden tot het verlies van de getransplanteerde nier. Ook kan BKPyV hemorragische cystitis veroorzaken, een ernstige blaasontsteking die met name bij stamceltransplantatiepatiënten voorkomt. JCPyV kan leiden tot een ernstige hersenziekte, progressieve multifocale leukoencefalopathie (PML). PML kwam vroeger met name voor bij HIV patiënten, maar wordt tegenwoordig voornamelijk gezien bij patiënten die gebruik maken van bepaalde immuunsysteem modulerende medicijnen, met name multiple sclerose patiënten die gebruik maken van natalizumab. Deze patiënten worden gescreend op middels serologie, oftewel de aanwezigheid van antilichamen tegen JCPyV in het bloed. Merkel cell polyomavirus (MCPyV) is de voornaamste oorzaak van het Merkelcelcarcinoom, een zeldzame maar moeilijk te behandelen huidtumor. Deze tumoren komen in hogere mate voor bij mensen met een immuunstoornis, maar ook bij ouderen zonder immuunstoornis. Trichodysplasia spinulosa polyomavirus (TSPyV), veroorzaakt het gelijknamige ziektebeeld, wat een karakteristiek huidbeeld geeft van 'spicules' in met name het gelaat. Daarnaast zijn nog enkele andere ziekten in verband gebracht met humane polyomavirussen.

Aangezien humane polyomavirussen persisteren en uitgescheiden worden door gezonde mensen, is er een mogelijkheid dat deze virussen zich ook in bloeddonaties bevinden. Een steeds groter deel van de bloeddonaties komt bij patiënten terecht met een gecompromitteerd immuunsysteem. Dit zijn bij uitstek de mensen die ziek kunnen worden van polyomavirussen. Het is onbekend of polyomavirussen in bloeddonaties voorkomen en dus kunnen bijdragen aan blootstelling van deze kwetsbare patiëntengroep. Op twee manieren is dit in kaart gebracht, namelijk door het meten van antistoffen tegen deze virussen (serologie) en door DNA te detecteren in het serum van bloeddonoren middels kwantitatieve polymerase chain reaction (PCR).

De aanwezigheid van antistoffen tegen polyomavirussen duidt erop dat bloeddonoren geïnfecteerd zijn geweest met het desbetreffende polyomavirus. Aangezien deze virussen persisteren, betekent dit ook dat de seropositieve bloeddonoren dit virus kunnen uitscheiden. Om dit te meten, hebben we een immuniteitstest ontwikkeld die gebruik maakt van het Viral Protein 1 (VP1), wat de buitenkant van het viruspartikel vormt en waar de afweer zich tegen richt. In **Hoofdstuk 2** is deze immuniteitstest beschreven, die gebruik maakt van de veertien verschillende VP1 eiwitten van de veertien geteste polyomavirussen. Aangezien deze VP1 eiwitten op elkaar kunnen lijken, is uitgebreid getest op kruisreactiviteit, waar bij humaan polyomavirus 6 (HPyV6) en HPyV7 en sporadisch bij BKPyV en JCPyV enige sprake van was. Deze test is vervolgens toegepast op ruim duizend bloeddonoren in **Hoofdstuk 3**. Daaruit bleek dat een bloeddonor gemiddeld seropositief is voor negen verschillende polyomavirussen, en deze dus ook kan uitscheiden. Met andere woorden, polyomavirussen zijn veelvoorkomend onder bloeddonoren en het is dus noodzakelijk om uit te zoeken wat dit uiteindelijk betekent voor de ontvangers van bloedproducten.

Daarnaast bleek dat voor drie polyomavirussen zeer weinig antistoffen aanwezig zijn, namelijk voor HPyV12, New Jersey polyomavirus (NJPyV) en Lyon IARC polyomavirus (LIPyV). Later bleek één van deze polyomavirussen spitsmuizen te infecteren in plaats van mensen. Zelf hebben we serum monsters van katten onderzocht en antistoffen tegen LIPyV gedetecteerd, waaruit blijkt dat dit een kattenvirus is.

Waar in **Hoofdstukken 2** en **3** vooral gezocht werd naar bewijs dat het immuunsysteem in contact is geweest met polyomavirussen, wordt in **Hoofdstuk 4** gezocht naar het DNA van het virus zelf. Dit werd gedaan met behulp van kwantitatieve PCR testen. Deze testen maken gebruik van kleine stukjes DNA, ook wel oligo's genoemd, die als puzzelstukjes op het genoom van het virus passen. Indien er een goede match is, wordt het DNA vermenigvuldigd en kan dit met fluorescentie gedetecteerd worden. In totaal vonden we bij ongeveer 5% van de donoren bewijs van de aanwezigheid van kleine hoeveelheden van polyomavirus DNA. Daarnaast vonden wij een verband tussen de aanwezigheid van JCPyV DNA en JCPyV serologie, namelijk dat donoren positief voor JCPyV DNA, tevens een hogere serologische uitslag hebben.

In **Hoofdstuk 5** is de kwaliteit van de gebruikte PCR testen geëvalueerd, zowel van onszelf als van PCR testen uit de literatuur. Zoals eerder beschreven, wordt het DNA gedetecteerd met oligo's die als puzzelstukjes op het genoom passen. Hier is met algoritmes berekend hoe goed deze puzzelstukjes passen op de gewenste genomen en of deze niet per abuis ook andere polyomavirus genomen kunnen detecteren, bijvoorbeeld van dieren afkomstig. Hieruit werden de sensitiviteit en specificiteit berekend. Van bijzonder belang, waren mogelijke aanpassingen aan de PCR om de sensitiviteit te verbeteren, zoals gedaan werd voor de TSPyV PCR. Concluderend, digitale evaluatie van PCR maakt sterke en zwakke punten inzichtelijk en is behulpzaam bij het up-to-date houden van deze testen.

Verder hebben we in **Hoofdstuk 6** gekeken naar een andere mogelijke bron van blootstelling voor polyomavirussen aan niertransplantatiepatiënten, namelijk de gedoneerde nier. We wisten van eerder onderzoek al dat BKPyV waarschijnlijk overgedragen worden met de gedoneerde nier. Daarnaast hebben we nu ook naar de polyomavirussen JCPyV, MCPyV, TSPyV en HPyV9 gekeken, middels de serologische test uit **Hoofdstuk 2** voor en na transplantatie. Naast BKPyV, waren er een relatief groot aantal seroconversies en stijging van serologische waarden voor JCPyV, wat erop duidt dat JCPyV in de getransplanteerde nier zit.

Concluderend, in dit proefschrift wordt aangetoond dat in het serum van ongeveer 5% van de bloeddonoren het DNA van polyomavirussen gedetecteerd wordt en dat bloeddonoren gemiddeld positief zijn voor negen verschillende polyomavirussen. Bloedtransfusies zijn natuurlijk niet de enige potentiële bron van besmetting, ook bijvoorbeeld een niertransplantaat voor zowel BKPyV als JCPyV. Kennis over alle mogelijke besmettingsbronnen kan bijdragen aan het voorkomen van infecties. In de toekomst is het belangrijk om deze resultaten te valideren in de bloedcomponenten zelf, zoals rode bloedcellen, plasma en bloedplaatjes, in plaats van in de serumbuizen voor de diagnostiek. Verder moet vastgesteld worden of het daadwerkelijk om infectieuze viruspartikels gaat of om 'restanten' DNA. Ook het betrekken van gegevens over infectieziekten bij immuungecompromitteerde patiënten in combinatie met bloedtransfusie data kan een sleutelrol spelen in het verhelderen van infectierisico voor deze groep. Met het beschikbaar komen van nieuwe immuunsysteem modulerende middelen de komende jaren, zal deze groep groter worden en zal dus het risico op opportunistische infecties ook toenemen. Gedegen kennis over het voorkomen van deze polyomavirussen zal een positieve bijdrage leveren aan het voorkomen van infecties in deze groep.

Portfolio

| PhD student: | Sergio Kamminga |
|------------------|----------------------------------|
| PhD period: | June 2016 - July 2020 |
| PhD supervisors: | Hans Zaaijer and Mariet Feltkamp |

| 1. PhD training | Year | Workload (Hours) |
|---|-----------|---------------------|
| General courses | | |
| AMC World of Science | 2016 | 19.6 |
| eBROK | 2017 | 28 |
| Crash course for MDs | 2017 | 5.6 |
| Sanquin Science Course | 2017 | 17 |
| Practical Biostatistics | 2017 | 40 |
| Communication in Science | 2018 | 38 |
| Sanquin Personal Development | 2019-2020 | 30 |
| Specific courses | | |
| Virology (Erasmus MC) | 2016 | 50.4 |
| NGS Introduction Course (LUMC) | 2017 | 2.8 |
| Bioinformatics | 2019 | 30 |
| Bioinformatics Sequence Analysis | 2019 | 30 |
| Practical Linux | 2018 | 5 |
| Infectious Diseases | 2019 | 36 |
| Seminars, workshops and master classes | | |
| Dutch annual virology symposium (DAVS) | 2018 | 7 |
| Symposium 'Why we study viruses" | 2018 | 7 |
| CMAT Symposium | 2018 | 4 |
| Presentations | | |
| Poster presentation at NVMM spring meeting | 2017 | 2 |
| Oral presentation at ESCV, Stresa, Italy | 2017 | 2 |
| Poster presentation at xMAP connect, Amsterdam | 2017 | 2 |
| Poster presentation Sanquin Science Day | 2017 | 2 |
| Poster presentation at NVMM spring meeting | 2018 | 2 |
| Poster presentation Sanquin Science Day | 2018 | 2 |
| Poster presentation at NVMM spring meeting | 2019 | 2 |
| Oral Presentation at American Society for Virology, Minneapolis, Minnesota | 2019 | 2 |
| Oral Presentation at ESCV, Copenhagen, Denmark | 2019 | 2 |

| 1. PhD training (continued) | Year | Workload (Hours) |
|---|------|---------------------|
| (Inter)national conferences | | |
| International congress HPV & Polyomavirus in skin cancer, 16-18 november, MECC Maastricht | 2016 | 21 |
| NVMM Spring Meeting, 11-12 April, Papendal | 2017 | 14 |
| European Society for Clinical Virology, 13-16 September, Stresa, Italy | 2017 | 28 |
| NVMM Spring Meeting, 27-28 March, Papendal | 2018 | 14 |
| NVMM Spring Meeting 26-27 March, Papendal | 2019 | 14 |
| American Society for Virology meeting, 20-24 July, Minneapolis, Minnesota | 2019 | 50 |
| European Society for Clinical Virology, 10-14 September, Copenhagen, Denmark | 2019 | 35 |

| 2. Teaching | Year | Workload (Hours) |
|-----------------------------------|------|---------------------|
| Lecturing | | |
| Sanguin monday afternoon lecture | 2018 | 1 |
| Center Infectious Disease lecture | 2019 | 1 |
| Supervising | | |
| Michael Tadesse | 2019 | 84 |

| 3. Parameters of Esteem | Year |
|---------------------------|------|
| Grants | |
| ESCV Travel grant | 2017 |
| ASV Travel grant | 2019 |
| NWKV Travel Grant | 2019 |
| Awards and Prizes | |
| Poster prize xMAP connect | 2017 |

4. Publications

Peer reviewed

Kamminga, S., Meijden, E. van der, Wunderink, H.F., Touzé, A., Zaaijer, H.L., Feltkamp, M.C.W., 2018. Development and Evaluation of a Broad Bead-Based Multiplex Immunoassay To Measure IgG Seroreactivity against Human Polyomaviruses. J. Clin. Microbiol. 56, e01566-17 *Recommended article on F1000Prime*

Kamminga, S., Meijden, E. van der, Feltkamp, M.C.W., Zaaijer, H.L., 2018. Seroprevalence of fourteen human polyomaviruses determined in blood donors. PLOS ONE 13, e0206273.

Kamminga, S., van der Meijden, E., de Brouwer, C., Feltkamp, M., Zaaijer, H., 2019. Prevalence of DNA of fourteen human polyomaviruses determined in blood donors. Transfusion 59, 3689-3697.

López-Labrador FX, et al. ESCV Network on Next-Generation Sequencing. Recommendations for the introduction of metagenomic high-throughput sequencing in clinical virology, part I: Wet lab procedure. J Clin Virol. 2021 Jan;134:104691. doi: 10.1016/j.jcv.2020.104691. Epub 2020 Nov 18. PMID: 33278791.

Kamminga, S., Sidorov, I.A., Tadesse, M., van der Meijden, E., de Brouwer, C., Zaaijer, H.L., Feltkamp, M.C.W., Gorbalenya, A.E., 2022. Translating genomic exploration of the family Polyomaviridae into confident human polyomavirus detection. iScience 25, 103613.

Kamminga, S., van Rijn, A.L., de Brouwer, C.S., Rotmans, J.I., Zaaijer, H.L., Feltkamp, M.C.W., 2021. JC and Human polyomavirus 9 after kidney transplantation: An exploratory serological cohort study. Journal of Clinical Virology 143, 104944.

Other

Polyomavirussen en hun rol bij cutane infecties en kanker. VAPvisie Analyse - 03/2019

Curriculum vitae

Sergio Kamminga was born on the 11th of January 1991 in Zoetermeer. After finishing the Gymnasium at the Oranje Nassau College in Zoetermeer, in the directions Nature & Technology and Nature & Health, he proceeded to study Medicine at the Leiden University Medical Centre in Leiden. Fascinated by infectious diseases, he performed a scientific internship with a focus on molecular diagnostics and polyomaviruses at the Department of Medical Microbiology. After obtaining his medical degree in 2016, he started his PhD studies, under supervision of prof. dr. H.L. Zaaijer and dr. M.C.W. Feltkamp, in a collaboration between the Department of Blood-borne Infections of Sanquin and the Department of Medical Microbiology of the LUMC, focused on the prevalence polyomaviruses in blood donors. After his PhD studies, Sergio will continue to work in infectious diseases and medicine as a resident in Medical Microbiology in the LUMC.

